NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL MEETING oF STOCKHOLDERS

Please take notice (hqt the Annual Meeting of Stockholders ul‘ALFHALAND CURPURATIUN
will th3 held on Tuesday. May 7, 2019 a1 4 0'clock in the afiernoon at The City Club g Alphaland
Makati Place, 7232 Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Streer, Makati City to discuss the following:

AGENDA

I." Call to order

2. Certification of service of notice and quorum

3. Review and approval of the minutes of the previous meeting held on June 20,2018

4. Annual report of managemen; and approval of (he audited finangial statements for the
liscal year ended December 31 2018 comained in the Company s Annual Report

3. Ratification and approval of gl acts of the Board of Directors and s Committees and
Management since the last Annual Meeting of Stockholders

6. Election of members of the Board of Directors (including Independent Directors)

7. Appointment of External Auditor

8, Other Marters

9. Adjournment

For purposes of the meeting, only stockholders of recarg as o April 17, 2019 are entitled 1o notice of.
and 1o vote at, the Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Registration starts ar 3:30 o'clock in the afternoon, For your convenience ip registering your
atiendance, please have available some form of' identification, such as driver's license, passport or
other form of identification with photograph issued by any agency of the government of the
Philippines. For representatives of corporate stockholders, Kindly bring 4 copy of the Board
Resolution authorizing you (o attend the meeting and to vote the shares of the company you represent.

Should you be unable 1o attend the meeting in person, You may want to execute a Proxy in favar of a
representative, The giving of such Proxy will not affect Your right to vote in person. should youy later
on decide 10 attend the Annual Meeting in person,

Copies of the following documents will be distributed 10 shareholders entitled 1o vote: (i) Mirmtes_uf'
the Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on lune 20, 2018: (ii) Information Statement: (iii)
Management Report; (jv) Consolidated Audited Financial Statements [or the year ended December
31,2018,
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specified in its charter g A\goa) nme T 7L

_ALPHALAND CORPORATION

Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or

organization Philippines

SEC Identification

Number 183835 g 24 | Il

BIR Tax Identification

Number 001-746-612 L.

Address of

Principal Alphaland Makati Place, 7232 Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street,

Office 1209 Makati City , Philippines

Registrant’s telephone number. including
area code +63 2 3372031

Date, time and place of meeting of security holders

Date  May 7, 2019, Tuesday

Time  4:00 p.m,

Place  The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, 7232 Avala Avenue corner Malugay
Street, Makati City

Approximate date on which the Information Statement is first to be sent or given to

seeurity holders April 11,2019

Securities registered pursuant to Section 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA
(information of the number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to corporate

registrants)
Number of Common Stock Amount of Debt Outstanding
Outstanding As Of December 31, 2018
28,407,499.410 B6,198,930,197

Are any or all of the registrant’s securities listed on & Stock Exchange?
Yes No v
If yes, disclose the name of such Stock Exchange and the class of securities listed therein: n/a

We are not asking you for a proxy and you are requested not to send us a proxy.




L PART 1, n

INFORMATION REQUIRED IN INF, ORMATION STATEMENT

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Date, Time and Place of Meeting of Stockholders

Date May 7, 2019, Tuesday
Time 4:00 p.m,
Place The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place. 7232 Ayala Avenue comer Malugay

Street, Makati City

Mailing Address of the Company

The complete mailing address of Alphaland Corporation (hereinafter, “ALPHA™, the “Company™
or the “Corporation™) is;

ALPHALAND CORPORATION
Alphaland Makati Place

7232 Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street
1209 Makati City

Philippines

Record Date

The record date for the purpose of determining the stockholders entitled 1o notice of, and 10 vote
at, the Annual Meeting of the Stockholders is April 17, 2019 (the “Record Date™).

Approximate Date of First Release of Information Statement

The approximate date on which this Information Statement will be first sent out 1o the stockholders
of the Company is on April 11,2019,

Item 2. Dissenter’s Right of Appraisal

There are no matters or proposed actions as specified in the attached Notice of Annual Meeting
that may give rise 10 a possible exercise by sharcholders of their appraisal rights or similar rights
as provided in Title X of the Corporation Code of the Philippines.

Pursuant to Sections 42 and 81 of the Corporation Code, shareholders of the Company may
exercise their right of appraisal in the following instances:

(i) any amendment of the articles of incorporation which has the effect of changing or
restricting the rights of any stockholder or class of share, or of authorizing preferences in
respect superior to those of outstanding shares of any class, or of extending or shortening
the term of corporate existence:

(i) sale, lease, exchange. mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or substantially all of the
property or assets of the corporation:

(i) incurring, creating or increasing bonded indebtedness:

{iv) increase or decrease of capital stock:

(v) merger or consolidation of the corporation with another corporation or other corporations:
(vi)  dissolution of the corporation:
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{vii)  declaration of stock dividends:

(viii)  removal of directars:

(ix)  extension or limitation of corporate term;

(x) investment of corporate funds in another corporation or business or for any purpose other
than the primary purpose for which the corporation was organized;

(xi)  delegation to the BOD of the power to amend or repeal by-laws or adopt new by-laws,

Each share of stock is entitled to one vote during stockholders’ meetings. However, at all ¢lections
of directors, every stockholder entitled 10 vote may vote such number of stacks for as man y
persons as there are directors to be elected. or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate
a5 many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number of his shares shall

equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as many candidates as he shall see
fit.

The election of directors may only be held at a meeting convened for that purpose at which
stockholders representing a majority of the outstanding capital stock are present in persan or by
proxy. However, any vacancy in the board, other than by removal or expiration of term. may be
filled by the majority of the remaining directors if still constituting a quorum.

A shareholder who shall have voted against any proposed action may exercise his appraisal right
by making a written demand on the Company within thirty (30) days after the date of the
shareholders™ meeting, Failure to make the demand within the prescribed period shall be deemed a
waiver of the appraisal right. If the proposed corporate action is implemented, the Company shall
pay the dissenting stockholder upon surrender of the stock certificatels representing  his
shareholdings in the Company based on the fair value thereof as of the day prior to the date of the
shareholders’ meeting, excluding any appreciation or depreciation in anticipation of such corporate
actions, provided that no payment shall be made 1o the dissenting sharcholder unless the Company
has unrestricted retained earnings to cause such payment.

IT within a period of sixty (60) days from the date the corporate action was approved by the
stockholders, the withdrawing stockholder and the Company cannot agree on the fair value of
shares, it shall be determined and appraised by three (3) disinterested persons. one of whom shall
be named by the shareholder, another by the Corporation and the third by the two thus chosen. The
findings of the majority of the appraiser shall be final and their award shall be paid by the
Company within thirty (30) days after such award is made.

Item 3, Interest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon

There is no matter to be acted upon in which any director or executive officer is involved or had a
direct, indirect or substantial interest (except the election of directors),

No director has informed the registrant. in wriling or otherwise, that he intends 1o Oppose any
action to be taken by the registrant at the Meeting.

Alphaland Curporation 2000 SEC Form 20-15
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B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Item 4. Voting Securities and Principal Holders Thereof

(a) Total Number of Shares Outstanding as of February 28, 2019 28,407.499,410 common
shares (exclusive of 4,239,000 common shares in treasury)’'

Number of Votes per Share: One (1) vote per share,

(b) Record Date: All stockholders of record as of the close of business on April 17, 2019 are
entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting,

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners — as of February 28, 2019

There are no delinquent stocks and following is the direct and indirect record of beneficial owners
of more than five percent (5%) of common shares of the Company:

Alphaland Filipino 48.55%
Southgate Tower,
Ine.

(formerly
Alphaland
Development, Inc.)

The Penthouse,
Alphaland
Southgate Tower,
2258 Chino Roces
Avenue Extension
corner EDSA,
Makati City

Wholly-owned
subsidiary

Common | RVO Capital Roberto V. Ongpin | Filipino 8.426,567.460 | 29 66%,
Ventures ~Beneficial Owner
Corporation

| 7/F Tower 1,
Enterprise Center,
6766 Avala
Avenue, Makati
City

Stockholder =

' On December 10, 2018, the Securities and Exchange Commission approved the Amended Articles of
Incorporation of the Company, amending Article VII thereof by reducing the par value from PhP| per share
1o PhPO.10 per share.
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Common | Boerstar Roberto V. Ongpin | Filipino 1.677.884,300 [ 5.91%
Corporation - Beneficial Owner

Alphaland
Southgate Tower,
don Chino Roces

Avenue corner
EDSA. Makati City

Except as stated above, the BOD and Management of the Company have no knowledge of any
person who, as at February 28, 2019, was ind irectly or directly the beneficial owner of more than
five percent (5%) of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock or who has voting power
or investment power with respect to shares comprising more than five percent of the outstanding
shares of common stock. There are no persons holding more than 5% of the Company’s common
stocks that are under a voting trust or similar agreement,

Security Ownership of Management

The following are the number of shares of common stock owned of record and beneficially by the
directors and executive officers of the Company and the percentage of sharcholdings of each, as at
February 28, 2019:

Common | Roberto V. Ongpin Direct 10 | Filipino 0%
Common Indirect 10, 385, 078,120 36.56%
Common | Eric . Recto Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Common | Anna Bettina Ongpin _
Direct 1,000 | Filipino 0.00%
Common | Mario A. Oreta Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Indirect 164,000,000 0.62%
 Common | Dennis O. Valdes Direct 1000 | Filipino (.00%
Common | Michael Angelo Patrick
M. Asperin Direct 1000 | Filipino 0.00%
Commen | Cliburn Anthony A.
Orbe Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Common__ | Margarito B. Teves Direct 1000 | Filipino 0.00%
Common | Gregorio Ma. Araneta
I Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Common | Juan Edgardo M.
Angara Direct 10| Filipino 0.00%
Common | Florentino M. Herrera
1l Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Common | Francisco Ed. Lim Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Common
Gilberto Eduardo
Gerardo C. Teodoro, Jr. | Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Common | Dennis A. Uy Direct 10| Filipino 0.00%
Commaon
Jose Ramon T, Villarin | Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Common | Gregorio T. Yu Direct 10 | Filipino 0.00%
Common__| Cristina B. Zapanta Direct/Indirect 0 | Filipino 0.00%
Common | Jason J. Alba Direct/Indirect 0| Filipino 0.00%
Common | Jonamel G. Isracl-Orbe | Direct/Indirect 0| Filipino 0.00% |
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Except as disclosed above, the Company has not received from any of the directors or executive
officers of the Company any statement of ownership, whether of record or beneficially, of more
than five percent (5%) of the Company’s outstand ing shares of common stock. As known by the
Company. the aggregate number of common shares owned directly and indirectly by all key
officers and directors as a group as at February 28, 2019 was 10.549,082.210 common shares.

Changes in Control

There are no voting trust agreements or any other similar agreement that may result in a change in
control of the Company of which the Company has any knowledge. No change in control of the
Company has occurred since the beginning of its last fiscal vear.

Item 5. Directors and Executive Officers

Pursuant to the Company’s By-Laws, the directors are elected at each annual meeting of
stockholders by stockholders entitled 1o vote. Fach director is elected for a term of one (1) year or
until his successor is duly elected and qualified. unless he resigns, dies or is removed prior to such
election,

The following names have been nominated to the BOD for the ensuing year:

Roberto V. Ongpin (incumbent)

Eric O, Recto (incumbent)

Lorenzo V. Tan (incumbent)

Dennis A. Uy (incumbent)

Francisco Ed. Lim ( incumbent)

Juan Edgardo M. Angara ( incumbent)

Mario A. Oreta (incumbent)

Dennis O. Valdes (incumbent)

Y. Anna Bettina Ongpin (incumbent)

10, Margarito B. Teves - Independent {incumbent)

I'l. Gregorio Ma. Araneta 1] — Independent (incumbent)
12, Jose Ramon T. Villarin ~ Independent (incumbent)
13. Florentino M. Hererra [1] - Independent (incumbent)
14. Gregorio T. Yu - Independent (incumbent)

I5. Gilberto Eduardo Gerardo C, Teodoro, Jr. — Independent (incumbent)

rd —

=

= o

The following names have been nominated as members of the Executive, Audit, Nominations and
Compensation Committees for the ensuing year:

Executive Committee

a.  Roberto V. Ongpin (Chairman)

b. Michael Angelo Patrick M. Asperin
¢. Lorenzo V. Tan

d.  Anna Bettina Ongpin

Audit Committee

a.  Margarito B, Teves (C hairman/Independent Director)
b. Mario A. Oreta
¢.  Dennis O. Valdes

Nominations Committee

4. Roberto V. Ongpin
b. Lorenzo V. Tan
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¢. Gregorio Ma. Araneta 111 (Independent)

Compensation Committee

. Roberto V. Ongpin
b.  Anna Bettina Ongpin
¢. Mario A. Oreta

The aforementioned nominees were nominated to the Nominations Committee by shareholders of
the Company,

Pursuant to Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code and Article HI, Section 2 of the
Corporation's By-Laws, the Corporation is required to elect at least two (2) independent directors,
or such independent directors constitutin g at least twenty percent (20%) of the members of such
board, whichever is less. Messrs. Margarito B. Teves, Gregorio Ma. Araneta HI, Jose Ramon T.
Villarin, Florentino M. Hererra [11. Gilberto Eduardo Gerardo C. Teodoro and Gregorio T. Yu
were all nominated by shareholders of the Company. The nominating shareholders are not related
to any of the nominees for independent directors.

A majority, if not all, of the above named nominees are expected 10 attend the scheduled Annual
Meeting.

The executive officers have been appointed by the BOD to serve for a period of one (1) vear or
until their successors shall have been elected and qualified,

Names of Directors and Executive Officers

The following are the names, ages, citizenships and periods of service of the incumbent directors
(as well as that of the new nominees) and exec utive officers of the Company, together with a brief
description of their business experience during the past five (5) years:

posrarnmrcraRs— 1 | ST —

Incumbent

ROBERTO V. ONGPIN, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Qfficer

Mr. Ongpin, Filipino, 82 years old, was elected Director and Chairman of the Board on November
|1, 2009. He is also the Chairman of Atok-Big Wedge Company. Inc. (AB) and Alphaland Balesin
Island Club. Inc., and former Director of San Miguel Corporation (SMC), PAL Holdings, Ine.
(PAL) and Petron Corporation (PCOR), In Hong Kong, he was the Non-Execulive Director of
Shangri-La Asia and was the Deputy Chairman of the South China Morning Post, both listed in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He was also a Non-Executive Director of Forum Energy PLC
(United Kingdom). Mr. Ongpin graduated cum laude in Business Administration from the Ateneo
de Manila University, is a Certified Public Accountant, and has an MBA from Harvard Business
School,

ANNA BETTINA ONGPIN, President

Ms. Ongpin, Filipino, 54 vears old, was elected Director of the Company on 19 March 2014 and
clected as Vice-Chairman on 3] May 2016. She is also the Vice-Chairman of Alphaland Balesin
Island Club, Inc. and the Vice Chairman and President of The City Club at Alphaland Makati
Place, Inc. Ms. Ongpin has more than twenty years of communications, marketing, project
management, and operations experience in the management consulting and media fields. She
holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Political Science from Wellesley College.

Hpbkonnd Ciorparanan 209 SEC Form 2005
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ERIC O. RECTO, Vice Chairman and Director

Mr. Recto, Filipino, 55 years old. is also presently the Vice-Chairman and President of Atok-Big
Wedge Co., Inc. He is also the Chairman and CEO of ISM Communications Corparation (ISM);
the Chairman of Philippine Bank of Communications (PBC): a Member of the Board of
Supervisors of Acentic GmbH: and a Director of Petron Corporation (PCOR). Mr, Recto has a
degree in Industrial Engineering from the University of the Philippines as well as an MBA from
the Johnson School, Cornell University.

LORENZO V. TAN, Vice Chairman and Director

Mr. Tan, Filipino, 57 years old. was elected Vice Chairman and Director on June 20, 2018, He is
also a director of Atok-Big Wedge Company, Inc. He is a prominent banker who served as the
President and Chief Executive Officer of Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation from 2007 1o
2016; President of the Bankers Association of the Philippines from 2013 to 2016; and Chairman of
the Philippine Dealing System Holdings Corp. until April 8, 2016. Mr. Tan is a member of the
Board of Directors of Smart Communications, Inc.; an Independent Director of Philippine Realty
and Holdings Corporation (RLT) since July 13, 2016; a director of EEI Corporation (EEl) since
June 16, 2017. Mr. Tan is a Centified Public Accountant in Pennsylvania, USA and in the
Philippines. Mr. Tan graduated from De 1.a Salle University, with a Bachelor of Science degree in
Accounting and Commerce and holds a Master of Management degree from the J.|. Kellog
Graduate School of Management in Evanston. Northwestern University.

DENNIS A, UY, Director

Mr. Uy, Filipino, 45 years old, was elected Director on June 20, 2018. He is also the Chairman and
President of Udenna Corporation; Chief Executive Officer and President of Phoenix Petroleum
Philippines, Inc. (PNX) since 2002, Comstech Integration Alliance, Inc., Chelsea Shipping
Corporation, Global Synergy Trade and Distribution Corporation, Udenna Development
Corporation, Value Leases Inc., and Udenna Foundation. Inc.: Chairman of 2Go Group, Ine.
(2G0), Chelsea Logistics Holdings Corp. (CLC), Oilink Mindanao Distribution, Mindanao Media
Dynamics, Le Don Printers and Bohemian Promotions and Training Center, Phoenix Petroleum
Holdings, Inc. F2 Logistics, and Phoenix Philippines Foundation, Inc. He is also an Independent
Director of Apex Mining Company, Inc. (APX) and a Director of First Oriental Packaging,
Seforita Famrs, Aquamines Philippines, Bulbscor Minerals Corporation and Blucor Minerals
Corporation. Mr, Uy is the Honorary Consul of Kazakhstan to the Philippines since November
2011. He holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Management a1 the De La Salle
University in Manila,

FRANCISCO ED. LIM, Director

Atty, Lim, Filipino, 64 years old, is presently the Senior Partner and a member of the Executive
and Special Committees of the Angara Abello Concepcion Regala & Cruz Law Offices
(ACCRALAW). He served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Philippine Stock
Exchange. Inc. from September 16, 2004 1o February 10, 2010. He is the incumbent president of
the Shareholders” Association of the Philippines (SharePHIL). He is also a trustee of the CIBI
Foundation, Inc. and the Judicial Reform Initiative. Inc. and a Fellow of the Institute of Corporate
Directors, He is also a member of the American Bar Association, FINEX Research Foundation.
Inc.. International Insolvency Institute (“I11"), Advisory Committee for the Asian Principles of
Business Restructuring Project of the 11l and the Asian Business Law Institute, Arty. Lim is a
columnist of The Philippine Daily Inquirer and a law professor in the Ateneo de Manila
University, San Beda Graduate School of Law and a professorial lecturer and the Vice-Chair of the
Commercial Law Department of the Philippine Judicial Academy. He is a director of several
public companies, among which are the Union Bank of the Philippines, Energy Development
Corporation, The Insular Life Assurance Co.. Lid.. and Producers Savings Bank Corporation. He is
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also director of private corporations like the Financial Executives Institute of the Philippines and
Camerton Holdings. He is a member of both the Philippine Bar and the New York State Bar.

JUAN EDGARDO M. ANGARA, Direcior

Mr. Angara, Filipino, 47 years old, was elected Director on June 20, 20 8. He was elected 10 the
Senate of the Philippines in 2013 were he placed 6", Prior to Joining the company, he worked as a
trainee at the Metopolitan Bank and Trust Company in 1991, as news reporter for The Philippine
Star in 1992. He served as an apprentice and member of the delegation in the Philippine Mission to
the United Nations in New York in 1994, He worked as an associate attorney at the Angara Abello
Concepeion Regala and Cruz (ACCRA) law firm from 2001 to 2003, He finished his law degree
at the University of the Philippines College of Law, and earned his Master of Laws degree from
Harvard Law School in Cambridge, Massachusetts, United States.

MARIO A, ORETA

Mr. Oreta, Filipino, 72 years old, was elected Director on November 11, 2009. He served as
President of the Company from 2009 to 2017. He is also the Chairman of The City Club at
Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. He graduated with honors from the Atenco De Manila University
with a degree in Bachelor of Laws and immediately joined the law firm of Siguion Reyna,
Maontecillo and Ongsiako after graduating from law school. He is one of the managing partner of
The Law Firm of Tanjuatco Oreta and Partners.

DENNIS O. VALDES

Mr. Valdes, Filipino, 57 years old, was elected director of the Company since 2011. He is
presently the President and director of Philweb Corporation (WEB). He is also a director of Atok-
Big Wedge Co.. Inc. (AB). His previous work experience includes 10 years with the Inquirer
Group of Companies. as a Director of the newspaper, and he was also in charge of expanding their
Internet, printing, and ink-making operations. Prior o that, he spent six years with The NutraSweet
Company developing its businesses in Asia.. He is a certified public accountant, graduated magna
cum laude in Business Administration and Accountancy from the University of the Philippines and
has an MBA degree from the Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University.

MARGARITO B. TEVES (Independent)

Mr. Teves, Filipino, 75 years old, was elected Independent Director on August 31, 2011. He is also
an Independent Director of AB, Alphaland Balesin Island Club. Inc.. and The City Club mt
Alphaland Makati Place. Inc. Mr. Teves is currently the Chairman of Think Tank, Inc. and a
Member of the Board of Advisers of Bank of Commerce. He was formerly Secretary of the
Department of Finance, Landbank President and CEO. and a Member of the House of
Representatives (representing the 3rd District of Negros Oriental). He obtained a Higher National
Diploma (HND) in Business Studies, equivalent to a BSC in Business Economics. from the City of
London College, and a Master of Arts (MA) in Development Economics from the Center for
Development Economics, Williams College, Massachusetts, USA. He was recently conferred an
Honorary Degree, Doctor of Laws, by Williams College, and named Senior Adviser 1o the China-
Asean Economic and Culture Research Center and Visiting Professor at the Guilin University of
Electronic Technology in China.

GREGORIO MA. ARANETA I (Independent)

Mr. Araneta 111, Filipino, 70 vears old, was elected Independent Director of the Company on 3
December 2014. He is presently the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Philweb Corporation
(WEB). He is also an Independent Director of Atok-Big Wedge Co., Inc, (AB), Alphaland Balesin
Island Club, Inc. and The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place. Inc. He is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Araneta Properties, Inc. since 2010, He is Chairman and President of
ARAZA Resources Corporation and Carmel Development Corporation: Chairman of Gregorio
Araneta Inc., Gregorio Araneta Management Corporation, and Gamma Properties, Ine. Mr.
Araneta studied at the University of San Francisco and Ateneo de Manila University where he
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carned his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics.

JOSE RAMON T, VILLARIN, SJ (Independent)

Mr. Villarin, Filipino, 59 years old. is presently the President of Ateneo de Manila University, He
15 also the Vice-Chairman of the Scientific Community/Academe of the National Resilience
Council. He is also a member of the Board of Governors of Asian Institute of Management (AIM)
and Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Synergeia, Manila Observatory and Confucius Institute.
Mr. Villarin is also a member of the Board of Trustees of various private institutions among which
are the Philippine Institute of Pure and Applied Chemisiry, Loyola School of Theology and Atenco
de Naga University. Mr. Villarin has a degree in Physics from the Ateneo de Manila University
and graduated Magna Cum Laude. Class Valedictorian and Physics Departmental Award of the
Ateneo de Manila University.

FLORENTINO M. HERERRA 111 (/ndependent)

Mr. Herrera, Filipino, 67 years old, is presently the founding partner of Herrera Teehankee &
Cabrera Law Offices. He is also a director of Philippine Airlines, Inc., Rizal Commiercial Banking
Corporation (RCBC) and Lufthansa Technik Philippines, Inc. Mr. Herrera is the Corporate
Secretary of MacroAsia Corporation and Allianz PNB Life Insurance. Inc.

GREGORIO T. YU (Independent)

Mr. Yu, Filipino, 59 vears old, is presently the Chairman of Auto Nation Group, Inc.. Cats
Automobile Corp. and American Motorcycles, Inc. He is also the Viee Chairman and Director of
Sterling Bank of Asia and the Chairman and President of Lucky Star Network Communications,
Inc. Mr. Yu is also a director of various private institutions, among which are, PAL Holdings, Inc.,
Philippine Bank of Communications. Philippine Airlines, Inc., Philequity Management, Inc. and
CATS Asian Cars, Inc. He is a board member of Ballet Philippines and Manila Symphony
Orchestra and an independent director of IRemit. Inc. and E-Business Services, Inc.

GILBERTO EDUARDO GERARDO C. TEODORO, JR.. (Independent)

Mr. Teodoro, Filipino, 54 vears old, was elected Independent Director for the company on June 20,
2018. He is also a Director of Canlubang Sugar Estate from 199] to present and Philippine
Geothermal Production Co., Inc. from 2012 to present, He is currently the Chairman and President
of Bolam Holdings, Inc., Branko Holdings, Inc. and WIPSIAE Holdings, Inc. He studied law at the
University of the Philippines and finished at the top of his class. He obtained his Masters of Laws
degree from Harvard Law School in Cambridge. Massachusetts, United States and passed the State
Bar of New York.

Independent Director

As approved by the BOD, the procedure for the nomination of independent directors shall be as
follows:

The nomination of independent directors shall be conducted by the Nominations Committee prior
to the Annual Meeting. All recommendations shall be signed by the nominating stockholder/s
together with the acceptance and conformity by the nominees for election. The Nominations
Committee shall pre-sereen the qualifications and prepare a final list of all candidates and put in
place screening policies and parameters to enable it to effectively review the qualifications of the
nominees for independent directors.

After the nomination, the Nominations Commitiee shall prepare a final list of candidates which
shall contain all the information about all the nominees for independent directors, as required by
existing and applicable rules, which list, shall be made available to the Commission and to all
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stockholders through the filing and distribution of the information statement. or in such other
reports the Company is required to submit the Commission. The name of the person or group of
persons who recommended the nomination of the independent director shall be identified in such
report including any relation with the nominee,

Only nominees whose names appear on the final list of candidates shall be eligible for election as
independent directors. No other nomination for independent dircctors shall be entertained after the
final list of candidates shall have been prepared. No further nominations for independent directors
shall be entertained or allowed on the floor during the actual annual stockholders' meeting.

All nominees do not have a relationship with the Company which would interfere with the exercise
of independent judgment in carrying out responsibilities of a director. None of them are related 1o
any of the directors or officers of the Company.

The Nominations Committee has taken into consideration the qualifications to be an independent
director. Attached as Annexes “A”™ “B™, “C", “D", “E" and “F” arc the Certifications of the
Qualification of the Nominees for Independent Directors namely Messrs. Teves, Araneta, Villarin,
Herrera, Teodoro and Yu.

In approving the nomination for Independent Director, the Nomination Committee took into
consideration the guidelines on the nomination of Independent Directors prescribed in SEC
Memorandum Circular No. 16, Series of 2002. All the nominees for election to the BOD have at
least one (1) share registered in their names.

MICHAEL ANGELO PATRICK M. ASPERIN, Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Asperin, Filipino, 60 vears old, was elected director of the Company on April 2, 2013 and as
Chief Operating Officer on May 31, 2016. He is the President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Alphaland Balesin Island Club, Inc. (ABICI) He handles various matters for the Alphaland Group
of Companies including the development of the Balesin Island Club project, as well as the
operations of the aviation and security divisions of the Group. Prior to joining ALPHA., he served
as Senior Vice President for Security for Philweb Corporation (WEB) from 2009 1o 2012, He
graduated from the Philippine Military Academy in 1981,

CRISTINA B. ZAPANTA, Treasurer and Senior Vice President for Finance

Ms. Zapanta, Filipino, 55, was appointed Treasurer and Vice President for Finance on May 17,
2016 and Senior Vice President for Finance on June 1, 2017, She is also the Senior Vice President
for Finance of Atok-Big Wedge Co., Inc.. Alphaland Balesin Island Club, Ine, Alphaland Makati
Place, Inc., Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc. and Alphaland Balesin Island Resort Corporation.
She has more than 30 years solid experience in Finance, of which over half is in the real estate
industry. She is a Certified Public Accountant.

JASON J. ALBA, Corporate Secretary

Mr. Alba, Filipino. 45 years old, is also the Corporate Secretary and General Counsel of the
Company and its subsidiaries. He obtained his Business Administration and Law degrees from the
University of the Philippines and was admitted 1o the Philippine Bar in 2002, Prior 10 joining
Alphaland, Mr. Alba was an Associate at Romulo Mabanta Buenaventura Sayoc & Delos Angeles,
thereafier, he served as Vice President of Standard Chartered Bank and First Vice President of the
Philippine Bank of Communications.
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JONAMEL G. ISRAEL-ORBE, Corporate Information Officer and Assistant Corporate
Secretary

Ms. Israel-Orbe, Filipino, 46 years old, was appointed as Corporate Information Officer of the
Company since March 12, 2014 o present, and as Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company
since May 2016 to present. She is a member of the Philippine Bar.

Directorships in Other Reporting Companies

Mr. Roberto V. Ongpin is also a director and the Chairman of Atok-Big Wedge Co. Inc. (AB).

Mr. Mario A. Oreta is also a director of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. and a
director of Atok-Big Wedge Co. Inc. (AB).

Mr. Dennis O. Valdes is also a director and the President of Philweb Corporation (WEB) and a
director of Atok-Big Wedge Co.. Inc. (AB).

Mr. Eric O. Recto is also a director and the Chairman of PBC: director and the Chairman and CEQ
of ISM. director and the President of AB.

Atty. Lim is also director of Union Bank of the Philippines, Inc. (UBP) and Energy Development
Corporation (EDC),

Mr. Herrera is also a director of Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation (RCB).
Mr. Yu is also director of PAL Holdings, Inc. (PAL), and Philippine Bank of Communications,
(PBC). and an independent director of I-Remit. Ine. (1).

Shares of AB, ISM, PBC, UBP, EDC, RCB, PAL and | are listed in the Philippine Stock
Exchange, Inc. Shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. and Alphaland Balesin
Island Club, Inc. are covered by Registration Statements filed with the SEC.

Significant Employees

The Company considers its entire manpower complement (including that of its subsidiaries) as
significant employees, expected to contribute positively to the Company’s goals and objectives in
line with the Company’s mission, vision and objectives through the implementation of its core and
foundational values.

Familv Relationships

Messrs. Dennis O. Valdes and Eric O. Recto are the nephews of Mr. Roberto V. Ongpin. Ms.
Anna Bettina Ongpin is the daughter of Mr, Roberto V. Ongpin, Ms, Ongpin, Messr. Recto, and
Messr. Valdes are first cousins. Other than the foregoing, the persons nominated or chosen by the
Company to become directors or executive officers are not related 1o each other up to the fourth
civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity.

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
L. Auty. Zenaida Ongkiko-Acorda, as attorney-in-fact of Aity. Mario E. Ongkiko and in behalf of

Philex Mining Corporation vs. Roberio V. Ongpin, et al., SEC Case No. 11-166, Branch 158
Regional Trial Courr of Pasig. This involves a "derivative suit” filed on behalf of Philex
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against RVO and other companies beneficially owned by RVO in connection with Section
23.2 of the Securities Regulation Code and in order to recover the “short-swing profits™ which
were allegedly realized from supposed transactions involving Philex shares. This case is in the
discovery stage. A related Petition for Review on Certiorari is also pending before the
Supreme Court in G.R. No. 204166, entitled Roberto I, Cngpin, et al. vs. Acorda, er al. There
are also two Petitions for Certiorari which are related to this case pending with the Court of
Appeals docketed as CA-G.R. SP No. 152806 (entitled Atty. Zenaida Ongkiko-Acorda. as
Attorney-in-Fact of Atty, Mario E. Ongkiko, and in behalf of Philex Mining Corporation vs,
Judge Elma M. Rafallo-Lingan, in her capacity as Presiding Judge of the Regional Trial Court,
Branch 159, Pasig City. et al.) and CA-G.R. SP No, 159604 (entitled Roberto V. Ongpin, et al.
vs. Honorable Elma M. Rafallo-Lingan, in her capacity as the presiding Judge of Branch 159
of the Regional Trial Court of Pasig City, etal.).

Peaple vs. Roberto V. Ongpin, et al, S.B.-13-CRM-0105 and S.8.-13-CRIM-0106,
Sandiganbayan (Third Division). This case was filed against RVO and others in connection
with two loans obtained by Deltaventure Resources, Inc. (DVRI) from DBP. The Informations
in both cases, respectively, for violations of Section 3 (e) of R.A. No. 3019 were filed on 10
January 2013. In a Resolution promulgated on 28 May 2014, the Third Division of the
Sandiganbayan granted the Accused’s Motions to Quash and DISMISSED Criminal Case Nos.
S.B-13-CRM-0105 and S.B.-13-CRIM-0106. A related Petition for Review on Certiorari is
pending before the Supreme Court in G.R. Nos, 217417 and 217914, entitled “People of the

Philippines v. Reynaldo G. David, et al.”

In the maiter of: Roberto V. Ongpin, Mario A. Oreta, Margarito B. Teves.et al., SEC-EIPD
Case No, [4-3039.This concerns the findings of the Enforcement ad Investigation Protection
Department on the liability of respondents for violation of Section 26(3) of the Securities
Regulation Code (SRC) in connection with the issuance of shares of Alphaland Corporation in
a capital call, stock rights offering and property for share swap which were approved and
ratified by respondents as officers and members of the Board of Alphaland Corporation. On
August 24, 2015, Respondents elevated the matter through notice of appeal to the SEC En
Banc. where the matter is presently pending resolution. The appeal is docketed as SEC En
Banc Case No. 08-15-384, entitled “Roberto V. Ongpin. Mario A, Oreta, Margarito B, Teves,
et al. vs. Enforcement and Investor Protection Department.

In the Matter of: Philex Mining Corporation, SEC-EIPD Case No. 14-3044. This concerns the
findings of the Enforcement and Investor Protection Department against Mr. Roberto V.
Ongpin for allegedly committing Insider Trading when he purchased Philex shares at
Php19.25 to Php 19.50 per share from the open market in the morning of 02 December 2009
without disclosing to the public that the group of Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan had agreed to
purchase the said shares from him at P21.00 per share. RVO appealed the case to the SEC En
Banc but the latter affirmed the findings of the EIPD. Mr. Ongpin elevated the case to the
Court of Appeals by way of a Petition for Review docketed as CA-G.R. SP, No. 146704,
entitled “Roberto V. Ongpin v, Enforcement and Investor Protection Department” On
December 1, 2017, the Court of Appeals issued a decision in favor of RVO, reversing the SEC
and finding that RVO did not commit insider trading. EIPD filed a Motion for
Reconsideration, which was denied by the Court of Appeals on July 2, 2018, EIPD elevated
the case to the Supreme Court by way of a Petition for Review. which petition is presently
pending resolution,

People of the Philippines vs. Dennis Ang Uy, John Does andior Jane Does - Regional Trial
Court-Branch 14, Davao City, Criminal Case Nos, 75, 834-13 to 75, 845-13 and 76, 076-13.
On August 27, 2013, The Department of Justice (DOJ) filed twelve (12) Informations before
the Regional Trial Court of Davao against Mr. Dennis A. Uy and several John Does and/or
Jane Does for alleged violations of Section 3602, in relation to Sections 3601, 2530 (1)(1), (3).
(4). and (5), Sections 1801, 1802 of the Tariff and Customs Code of the Philippines. These
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provisions all pertains to unlawful importation of goods allegedly committed by Mr. Uy for the
importation of petroleum products in the Philippines. On September 11, 2013, additional ten
(10) criminal informations were filed by the DOJ, pertaining to additional instances of the
violations under the TCCP. These additional informations all pertain to the alleged unlawful
importation of petroleum products. On October 4, 2013, the RTC dismissed all the cases, for
lack of probable cause. against Mr. Uy. People of the Philippines filed a Motion for
Reconsideration, which was denied by the RTC on August 18, 2014. On October 27. 2014, the
petitioner People of the Philippines filed a Petition for Certiorari with the Court of Appeals,
which was denied by the latter on October 12, 2016. On November 7, 2016, the People of the
Philippines filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision dated October 12, 2016. To
date, the Court of Appeals has not acted on the Motion for Reconsideration dated November 7.
2016 and thus the case remains pending.

0. Dennis A. Uy vs. Hon. Secretary of the Department of Justice Leila M. De Lima and the
Bureau of Customs, CA-G.R. SP No. 131702, Court of Appeals, Manila. Special Former
Special Tenth Division — Dennis A. Uy filed a Petition for Certiorari with the Court of Appeals
on September 4, 2013 in connection to the resolution of the DOJ to file criminal cases against
him for the alleged violations of the TCCP. On July 25, 2014, the Court of Appeals issued ts
Decision granting the Petition for Certiorari of Mr. Uy and declaring the Resolutions of the
DOJ dated April 24, 2013 and August 13, 2013 nullified and set aside and directing that the
Information filed against Dennis Uy withdrawn and/or dismissed for lack of probable cause.
The DOJ and the Bureau of Customs thereafter filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was
denied by the Court of Appeals on July 23. 2015 Subsequently, the DOJ and Bureau of
Customs filed a Petition for Review on Certiorari with the Supreme Court. The Supreme Court
required the parties to file their respective Memoranda, which the parties complied with, On
December 12, 2016, the Supreme Court issued its Notice of Resolution dated November 16.
2016 noting the parties Memoranda. As of the date, the Supreme Court has not vet issued any
decision.

Other than the foregoing, the Company is not aware of any other legal proceeding including
without limitation any (a) bankrupicy petition, (b) conviction by final judgment. fe) order,
Judgment or decree, or (d) violation of a securities or commodities law, during the last five (35
vears up 1o the date of the filing of this Statement, to which any of its Directors and Executive
Officers is a party and which is material to an evaluation of their ability or integrity 10 act as such.

Certification

Based on information provided to the Company. none of the above-named directors and officers
waork in the government.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The Company is not aware of any transaction in the last two (2) vears, or proposed transaction to
which the registrant is a party. in which the following persons have direct or indirect material
nterest. that were out of the ordinary course of business:

1. any director or executive officer

2. any nominee for election as director

3. any security holder named above

4. any member of the immediate family of the above-named persons

Except as disclosed in the Company’s notes to financial statements contained in the Company’s
audited financial statements, there has been no material transaction to which the Company was or
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is to be a party in which any of the incumbent directors or nominee director or executive officer of
the Company or owners of more than ten percent of the Company's voting shares has or is to have
a direct or indirect material interest. In the ordinary course of business, the Company has
transactions with other companies in which some of such persons may have an interest. Such
transactions are negotiated on an arm’s length basis comparable or better than that which can be
provided by independent third parties.

The transactions with related parties/affiliates are carried out under commercial terms and
conditions. Pricing for the sales of products are market driven. For purchases and other services,
the Company’s practice is to solicit competitive quotes from third parties. Transactions from any
related party are evaluated on arm’s length commercial terms and subject to bidding against third
party suppliers. Purchases and services are usually awarded on the basis of lowest cost provider.
The Company also receives/grants cash advances and other financial support from/to affiliated
companies and stockholders. These cash advances to and from affiliates bear interest rate based on
current bank rates and with no definite repayment period.

No director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the board of directors since the date
of the last annual meeting of security holders because of a disagreement with the registrant on any
matter relating to the registrant's operations, policies or practices.

Item 6. Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers
The aggregate compensation (including bonuses) paid or accrued during the last two years and the

ensuing year to the Company s Chief Executive Officers (CEO) and the key officers named below,
as a group are:

Nameand  Year Salary Bonus Other Aggregate
Principal (PhP) (PhP} Compensation Compensation (PhP)
Position

CEO and 2m7 94.205.596.90 0 1] 894,205,596.90
Top4 Highe
st Paid

Executives

|. Roberto

V. Ongpin,
Chairman &

CEQ

2. Anna

Bettina

Ongpin,

EVF

3. Michael

AP M.

Asperin,

EVP

4. Cristina B.
Zapanta

5. Enrica M.

Sison

All Directors 2017 95,771.,596.90 0 95,771,596.90
and Officers
as a Group

Unnamed

=
=

CEO and 2018 126.315,086.21 0 0 126,315.086.2]
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Top 4
Highest Paid
Executives
|. Roberto
V. Ongpin,
Chairman &
CEO

2. Anna
Bettina
Ongpin,
Presidemt

3. Michael
A PoM.
Asperin.
EVP

4. Enrico
Sison, SVP
5. ¥u,
Christene,
SVP

All Directors 2018 127.515.086.21
and Officers

as a Group

LUnnamed

127.515.086.21

CEO and 2019 127.400.000.00*

Top4
Highest Paid
Executives
l. Roberto
V. Ongpin,
Chairman &
CEO

2. Anna
Bettina
Ongpin,
President
3. Michael
A.P. M.
Asperin,
EVP

4. Enrico
Sison, SVP
5. Mark
Biddle,
Executive
Chef

127.400,000.00*

All Directors 2019 129,.800.000.00*
and Officers —

as a Group

Unnamed

*129.800,000,00

*Estimated aggregate compensation for whole year 2019

The above executive officers. aside from their compensation and bonus. are entitled to reimburse
certain expenses which they incur as part of the ordinary course of business (i.e. representation,
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gasoline and other travel expenses). There are no special terms or compensatory plans or
arrangements with respect to the resignation, termination of emplovment of such executive officers
between the Company and any of its executive officers. Likewise, there are no warrants or options
held by the Company’s officers or directors either singly or collectively,

The non-executive members of the BOD do not receive any direct compensation from the
Company. None of the directors, in their personal capacity, has been contracted and compensated
by the Company for services other than those provided as a director. The BOD, upon attendance at
each Board Meeting, is authorized under the Company’s By-laws to receive a per diem of not
more than 10% of the net income before tax of the Corporation during the preceding year.

The Company is being managed by the management team of ASTI.

Item 7. Independent Public Accountant

In 2018, the Company engaged Reves Tacandong & Co. as its external auditor for the vear, with
the approval of the BOD and the stockholders. There were no changes in or disagreements with
accountants on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure. or
auditing scope or procedure during the past calendar vear.

The Company paid its external auditor the following fees for the last three (3) years for
professional services rendered:

Aggregate Fee Amount

Type of Service 2018 2017 2016 Nature of Service
External Audil P 3835000 B769.500  PSRO.000  Audit of Financial Statements
Retainer 216,000 216,000 216,000 Tax Advisory

Total Fees B4,051.000  BOBS. 500  P796.000

The Audit Committee is directly responsible in selecting and appointing the independent public
accountants, Annually, the Committee recommends that the Board request shareholder ratification
of the appointment of the independent public accountants. The Committee is also responsible for
setting the compensation of the independent public accountants and periadically reviews the fees
charged for all permitted audit-related expenses and other services. The Committee performs
oversight functions over the Company's external auditors. It ensures that the auditors act
independently from management and that it is given access to all records, properties and personnel
of the Company to enable it to perform its functions properly. It is also their responsibility to
evaluate and, when appropriate, to remove the independent public accountants. The Audit
Committee makes recommendations to the BOD concerning the external auditors and pre-approves
audit plans, scope and frequency before the conduct of the external audit. The Committee reviews
the financial reports before these are submitted to the Board, with particular focus on (i) any
changes in accounting policies and practices, (i) Major judgmental areas. (iii) significant
adjustments resulting from audit, (iv) going concern assumptions, (v) compliance with accounting
standards, and (vi) compliance with tax, legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee
has approved the audit conducted by Reyes Tacandong & Co.

There were no other professional services rendered by Reyes Tacandong & Co. during the period.

The reappointment of Reyes Tacandong & Co. as the Company’s external auditor was approved by
the Stockholders in the Annual Stockholders Meeting held on June 20, 2018,

There were no disagreements with respect 1o the transfer of the account, nor was there any
accounting/auditing issue raised in this connection,
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The reappointment of the said auditing firm as Independent Public Accountant for the vear 2019
will be submitted to the stockholders by the Company’s Audit Committee for their confirmation
and approval during the regular annual stockholders meeting.

Pursuant to Rule 68 of the Securities Regulation Code on the 5 year rotation requirement for the
external auditor, the Audit Committee shall require the appointment of a new partner to handle and
oversee the external audit of the Group’s financial statements. The appointment of the duly
qualified and SEC registered Independent Public Accountant shall be announced in the
sharcholders meeting for consideration and approval of the stockholders.

Duly authorized representatives of Reyes Tacandong & Co. are expected to be present at the
meeting where they will have the opportunity to respond to appropriate questions.

Item 8. Compensation Plans

On June 5, 2013, the BOD of the Company approved a Stock Option Plan, with the following
salient features:
a.  Allocates no more than 3% of the authorized capital (1.e.. 100 million common shares) for the
plan.
A stock option committee will make the grants.
¢. [Each grant is for 3 years and will vest 1/3 each for each of the succeeding years.
d. Strike price shall not be less than 80% of the market value at the time of the grant.

The title and amount of securities underlying such options is not more than five percent (5%) of
the Company’s authorized capital stock or 100 million common shares of the Company.

The prices. expiration dates and other material conditions upon which the options may be
exercised will be determined by the Stock Option Committee.

The consideration received or 1o be received by the registrant or subsidiary for the granting or
extension of the options will be determined by the Stock Option Committee.

The amount of such options received or to be received by the following persons will be determined
by the Stock Option Committee;

A. the Chief Executive Officer;

B. the four highest paid executive officers, other than the Chief Executive Officer, who were
serving as executive officers at the end of the last completed fiscal vear;
all current executive officers as a group:
each nominee for election as a director;
cach other person who received or is 10 receive five percent (5%0) of such options. warrants
or rights;
all current directors as a group who are not executive officers; and
all other employees, as a group.

mon

(= s

This plan was approved by Stockholders (representing at least 2/3 of the Outstanding Capital
Stock) during the annual stockholders meeting held on December 3. 2014,

On November 27, 2017, June 9. 2017, and December 19, 2016, the Stock Option Plan Committee
awarded stock options to key officers and employees of the Group. As of December 31, 2018 the
Stock Option Plan is still subject to approval by the SEC and will not be effective until approved.
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C. ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES

Item 9. Authorization or Issuance of Securities Other than for Exchange

No action will be taken with respect to the authorization or issuance of any securities other than for
exchange of outstanding securities of the Company.

Item 8 (Compensation Plans) above sets forth the adoption of the Company’s stock option plan.

Item 10, Modification or Exchange of Securities

On May 10, 2017, the shareholders approved the following amendment to the Seventh Article of
the Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation, which amendment was previously approved by the
Board of Directors of the Corporation on November 17, 2016, as follows:

“SEVENTH: That the authorized capital stock of said corporation is FIVE
BILLION PESOS (P5,000,000.000.00) Philippines Currency. and said capital
stock is divided into FIFTY BILLION (50,000,000,000) common shares with a
par value of Ten Centavos , Philippine currency (P0.10) each share.”

The Company's Amended Articles of Incorporation reflecting the amendment to the Seventh
Article was filed with the SEC on January 19. 2018 and was approved by the SEC on December
10, 2018.

Aside from the foregoing. there were no recent planned modifications of any class of the
Company's securities or the issuance or authorization for issuance of one class of the Company’s
securities in exchange for outstanding securities of another class.

Item 11, Financial and Other Information

Corporate Information

ALPHA is a holding company incorporated and registered with the Philippine Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) on November 19, 1990. The principal business of ALPHA and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is real property development.

The registered office address of ALPHA is Alphaland Makati Place. 7232 Ayala Ave. ext. cor.
Malugay Street. Makati City.

The consolidated financial statemems as at and for the year ended December 31, 2018 were
approved and authorized for issuance by the Executive Committee of the BOD on January 31,
2019,

ALPHA's Significant Legal Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2018 and 2017

a. Alphaland Balesin Island Resort Corporation (ABIRC). 100%-owned by ALPHA, was
incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 26, 2010.
ABIRC's primary purpose is 1o invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, use,
sell, assign, transfer, mortgage. pledge. and exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be
permitted by law, of real and personal property of every kind and description.

ABIRC has investment in preferred shares of Alphaland Balesin Island Club, Inc. (ABICI).

Alphaland Corporanon 2009 SEC Form 20-15
Fage 19




b. Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc. (ASTI), 100%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 29, 2007 as Alphaland
Development, Inc. On October 15, 2015, the Philippine SEC approved the change in
corporate name from “Alphaland Development, Inc.” 10 “Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc.”
ASTI’s primary purpose is to engage in real property acquisition and development. ASTI's
main property is a 20-storey office tower building with a six-storey podium shopping mall
known as Alphaland Southgate Tower,

c. Alphaland Makati Place. Inc. (AMPI), 100%-owned by ASTI, was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 6. 1991 as Silvertown Property
Development Corporation, On February 26, 2010. the Philippine SEC approved the change in
corporate name from “Silvertown Property Development Corporation™ to “Alphaland Makati
Place, Inc.”

AMPI's primary purpose is to acquire by exchange of shares. purchase, lease that specific
property described as three-storey building with basement of strong materials together with the
warehouse. other land improvements and machinery and equipment as well as the leasehold
rights on the land, which is situated at Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street. Makati. Metro
Manila.

AMPI entered into a joint venture with Boy Scouts of the Philippines (BSP) to develop the
Malugay Property into a first class commercial development now known as Alphaland Makati
Place. It is a mixed-use property development consisting of three (3) high end residential
towers atop an upscale six-storey podium with a shopping center and a City Club.

AMPI has investment in preferred shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, Inc.
(TCCAMPI).

d. Alphaland Reclamation Corporation, 100%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on April 5, 2011, and primarily engaged in
the construction of reclamation projects and to contract for and perform reclamation works.

e. Alphaland Balesin International Gateway, Inc. (ABIGH, 100%-owned by ALPHA, was
incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the SEC on May 19, 2010 as Aklan
Boracay Properties Inc. On October 17, 2016, the Philippine SEC approved the change in the
Company's corporate name from “Aklan Boracay Properties, Inc.” to “Alphaland Balesin
Gateway, Inc.” On April 10, 2018 the Philippine SEC approved the further change in the
Company's corporate name from “Alphaland Balesin Gateway, Inc.” to “Alphaland Balesin
International Gateway, Inc.” ABIGI's primary purpose is to invest in. purchase or otherwise
acquire and own, hold use, sell, assign, transfer, morigage. pledge. exchange or otherwise
dispose, as may be permitted by law. of real and personal property of every kind and
description.

f.  Alphaland Aviation, Inc. (AAD, 100%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated in the Philippines
and registered with the Philippine SEC on July 31, 2012 and is primarily engaged in the
aviation industry and its related businesses, including but not limited to, the provision of
hangarage and moorage, parking and landing operations, aircraft maintenance, supply ol parts,
oils, and lubricants and other related businesses.

g, Alphaland Baguio Mowntain Log Homes, fne. (ABMLHI), 100%-owned by ALPHA, was
incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on January 17, 2013 as
Alphaland Holdings Company. Inc. On September 7, 2016, the Philippine SEC approved the
change in corporate name from “Alphaland Holdings Company, Ine.” to “Alphaland Baguio
Mountain Log Homes, Ine.”.
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ABMLHI's primary purpose is to deal and engage in the real estate business in all its aspects;
to hold, develop, manage, administer. sell. convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent. or
otherwise deal in and dispose of. for itself or for others, all kinds of real estate projects,
involving commereial, industrial, urban, residential or other kinds of real property, improved
or unimproved, with or to such persons and entities and under such terms and conditions as
may be permitted by law.

2258 Blue Hoidings, . (Blue Holdings), 100%-owned by AST/, was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on September 17, 2012 and its primary
purpose is to purchase, own and hold the stock of other corporations, and tw do every act and
thing covered generally by the denomination of “holding corporation,” especially to direct the
operations of other corporations through the ownership of stock therein.

Alphaland Southgate Restaurants, Inc. (ASRY), 100%-owned by ASTI. was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 28, 2011 as Alphaland Ukiyo,
Inc. It was renamed as ASRI on June 27, 2013. lts primary purpose is to establish, maintain
and operate restaurants, coffee shops, refreshment parlors and cocktail lounge.

Choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc., 100%-owned by Blue Holdings, was incorporated in the
Philippines and registered with the SEC on November 6, 2012, and is primarily engaged to,
conduct, carry on and maintain insurance business, to act as a broker, and 1o do other related
activities.

Alphaland Aviation-Pampanga, Ine., 100%-owned hy AAL was incorporated and registered
with the Philippine SEC on December 5, 2016 primarily to engage in aviation mdustry and its
related businesses, including but not limited to, the provision of hangarage and moorage,
parking and landing operations, aircraft maintenance, supply of parts, oils, and lubricants and
other related businesses.

Aegle Wellness Center, Inc. (AWCI), 100%-owned by ALPHA. incorporated and registered
with the Philippine SEC on September 28, 2015 primarily to provide diagnostic, therapheutic
and naturopathic services using formulated herbal supplements and natural health produets and
sale of such herbal supplements.

m. Aegle Drugstore, Inc., 100%-owned hy AMPI, was incorporated and registered with the

Philippine SEC on December 22, 2017 primarily to engage in the business of retailing or
wholesaling of pharmaceutical products, medicines, foodstuffs and groceries.

Alphaforce Security Agency, Inc. (ASA), 80%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated and
registered with the Philippine SEC on March 18. 2011 primarily to engage in the business of
providing security and investigation services o private institutions and government
organizations.

ALPHA initially subscribed to 79,999 common shares of ASAI representing 40% ol its
outstanding shares in March 2011, which was then accounted for as an associate. [n October
2017, ALPHA purchased additional 79.999 common shares from an existing sharcholder for #
11.2 million increasing its ownership of ASAI to 80%.

Alphaland International. Inc. (All), 100%-owned by ALPHA, was incorporated and
registered with the Philippine SEC on January 29, 2014 primarily to market assets, including
club shares and condominium units of the Alphaland Group of Companies outside the
Philippine market.
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Financial Statements

The audited consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2018 of the Group will be
distributed to the stockholders on the designated annual mesting date.

Plan of Operation

The Group generates funds primarily from sale of condominium units and parking spaces at
Alphaland Makati Place, Inc., sale of Baguio Mountain Lodges and Balesin Private Villas; from
mall and leasing operations of Alphaland Southgate Tower. Alphaland Makati Place Mall and
Corporate Center; and from operation of serviced residences of The Alpha Suites that commenced
during the first half of the year 2018, The leasing operations and The Alpha Suites provide
recurring cash flows for the Group.

The Group also generates funds through secondary sale of membership shares of the completed
Club projects, namely, Alphaland Balesin Island Club and The City Club at Alphaland Makati
Place.

Early in the year 2017, Banco De Oro Unibank, Ine. (BDO), the country’s largest bank approved a
5.5 billion loan facility for Alphaland, which was used mainly to refinance most of the Group’s
existing debts, with the balance used 1o fund working capital requirements, This loan was
subsequently increased to P6.726 billion on November 2, 2017,

At the beginning of the year 2019, BDO assigned the Alphaland loan to the PBCOM Trust and
Wealth Management Group. Sometime in March 2019, upon receipt of clearance from the
Philippine Competition Commission, Alphaland Southgate Tower and Mall was sold to League
One. Inc. resulting in the Group having prepaid the PBCOM Trust and Wealth Management Group
loan. While the Group will forego the annual rental income from Alphaland Southgate, the Group
will be able to eliminate about PhP! billion in debt service, which will have a dramatic positive
impact on the Group’s financial performance for 2019 and beyond,

The Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges, a master-planned development of authentic log homes
spread out over 69 hectares of rolling mountains and terrain just 15 minutes away from Baguio
City proper continued to progress. There will be five designs and floor plans to choose from, and
the homes will be sited to maximize the views of the surrounding pine-forested mountains. The
entire property will be secured by a perimeter fence. The § model units and clubhouse, along with
the first 21 single-family homes, has been completed. The quadruplex multi-family lodges of 2 and
3 bedrooms, which consist of some |5 structures for a total of 60 home units. will be sold for about
half the price of the single family units and is already generating brisk market interest.

The most significant project that broke ground in December 2018 is the Alphaland Balesin
International Gateway on Patnanungan Island in Quezon. Alphaland has acquired more than 700
hectares of land in Patnanungan Island for the purpose of building a full international airport
facility which will accommeodate even Boeing 747s, With the establishment of Balesin Gateway
International Airport, international members and guests will be able to bypass the congestion of
NAIA in Manila and fly directly to Balesin from Tokyo. Seoul, Taipei, Hongkong, Bangkok,
Singapore, Jakarta and Sydney, all cities that will be the target of Alphaland’s aggressive
international marketing of Balesin Island Club in 2017. Along with the plan for full international
airport, Alphaland plans to build an 18-hole championship golf course and a 300-room hotel. as
well as 500 beachfront and golf course homes. The entire project will take 3 1o 4 vears 1o
complete.

A project that the Group launched in October 2018 is Top of the Alpha, a top-of-the-line chic
night spot that occupies the entire Penthouse floor of the Alphaland Corporate Center.
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The Group is bullish for 2019 because it has made fundamentally sound financial and operating
decisions in the year 2018,

Research and Development
The Group engages in research and development activities focusing on the types of construction of

materials, construction methodology, value-¢ngineering, and quality assurance for its projects. The
expenses incurred by the Group in connection with these activities are not material.

Number of Employees

The Group does not expect significant change in the number of employees for year 2019.

Alphaland Corporation 2000 SEC Form 2018
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operation and Financial Condition

Results of Operations (in thousands)

Years Ended December 31 Variance
2018 2017 Amiount )
REVENUES B2.877.819 B2 483427 P394.392 16%
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sold 8%9,354 R34.340 25014 3%
Cost of services 646,589 360,468 286.121 9%
Gieneral and administrative 1,237,330 874,784 362,546 41%
2,743,273 2,065,592 OT16K] 33%
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on fair value changes of invesiment properties 7.453.516 |1, 471819 (4.018,303)  -35%
Interest expense and other finance charges {321,345 (365.727) 44,382 -12%
Other guins (losses) — net {100,857) 51,476 (152.333) -29%%
7031314 I 1,157,568 (4,126254) 3%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX T.165.860 [L5T1L.403 (4.405,543) =38%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current 68,380 38.161 ([ Fed 1) 18%
Delerred 2,369,177 3344310 (975.033) 36%
2,437,557 3,402,371 (964.814) 28%
NET INCOME 4,728,303 8,169,032 (3440.729)  -42%
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Nat ta be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
l1-'f.'LI'J".'\'
Revaluation increase 4,365,148 9,515 4,355,633 45776%
Income tux elfect (1,287,956) (2.85d) (1.285.102) 45028%
3,077,192 6,061 3,070,531  46097%
Unrealized valuation gain on equity securities
designated as FYOCI 1,084,338 - 1,084,338 0%
Ingome tax elffect (162,651) - (162.651) 0%
921,687 921687 0%y
Remeasurement gain {loss) on retirement
liability - 22.504 (22.504)  -100%
To be reclassified 1o profit or lass in subsequent
vegrs
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS
finaneial assets - (216,038) 216,038 - | 1%
Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial
assels - 58,146 (58.146)  -100%
Income tax eifect =Y 15,789 (15.789) -100%%
- (142.103) 142,103 -100%
1 998,879 (112.,938) 4,111,817 -3641%
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 8,727,182 P, 056,00 POT1.088 8%
Net income anributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company #4,727912 8. 167.662 (P3439.750) -42%
Noncontrolling interests 391 1.370 (979) -71%
B4,718.303 #R.169.052 (P3.440.729) -4 2%
Total eomprehensive income attributable 1o:
Fquity holders of the Parent Company £8.726, 791 FR.054.768 PAT2023 &
Nuneontrolling interests 391 1,326 (435) -7 1%
#8,727,182 BE,056,094 POTLORK 84
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The Group’s consolidated net income in 2018 and 2017 amounted to B4,728.3 million and
P8,169.0 million, respectively. Total comprehensive income of the Group is P8.727.2 million in
2018 and P8.056.1 million in 2017,

16% Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to #2,877.8 million and P2,483.4
million for the vears ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase is mainly
attributed to combined effects of AMPI's additional rent income from Corporate Tower and
increased number of new lease agreements of AMPI and ASTI during 2018, Furthermore, there is
an increasing trend in revenues from transport services provided by AAl o ABICI.

33% increase in Costs and Expenses

Increase from B2.069.6 million in prior period 1o 82.743.7 million in current period mainly
represents cost of condominium units and transportation service, corresponding to increased
number of units sold and number of flights, respectively.

37% Decrease in Other Income (Expenses)

Other income (expense) decreased by P4.126.3 million from P11,157.6 million in 2017 1o
£7,031.3 million in 2018. The significant decrease is attributable to lower gain on fair value
changes of investment properties recognized in 2018 as compared to 2017 (Southgate Tower and
Mall, Silang. Makati Place and Balesin properties).

Alphraland Corporation 20 RREC Form 20-18
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Years Ended December 31 Variance

2017 2016 Amiin] Ya
REVENUES B2.483.424 P2,335.748 F147.680 6%
COSTS AND EXPENSES -
Cost of real estate sold 834 340 1,094,857 (260,517) ~24%
Cost of services 360,468 285884 74,584 26%
General and administrative 946,723 562,110 384613 Hi8%
2,141,531 1,942,851 198680 1 0%
OTHER INCOME {EXPENSES)
Gain on fair value changes of investmenl properiies [1.471.819 (007,052 1.464.767 15%
Interest expense and other finance charges (365.727) (294.749) (70.978) 24,
Other gains (losses) = nel 123.414 105,486 | 7,928 T3%
[ 1,229.506 9.817.789 1411717 14%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 11,571,403 10,210,685 L360.718 13%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current 58.161 87.084 (28.923) -33%
Deferred 3344210 3,046,778 297432 I
3.402.371 3.133.862 268.309 G
NET INCOME 8.169,032 7.076.823 1,092.209 15%
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
WEars.
Reviluation increase 9.515 (13,828 (94.313) “31%
Income ax effect (2.854) (31.14%) 28.2494 -4 1Y%
G661 T2.680) {H6.019) 51%
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement
liabilily 22,504 (1.346) 23.850  -1772%
Tor be reclassified fo profit or loss in subsequeni
VELrs,
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS
financial assels (216.038) (108.495) (107,543 99%
Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial
fesels 58,146 725,090 {ftt, 91 -92%,
Income 1ax effeat 15, 7RY {61,665 77,454 -126%
(42.103) §54.930 (697033 -126%
(112.938) 626,264 (739202 -118%
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME PB.056.094 #7.703.087 #353,007 5%
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company P8.167.662 P7.076.4006 F1.091.256 15%
Noncontrolling interests 1.370 417 953 2249%
BB, 169,032 P7.076,823 F1.092.208 | 5%
Tota] comprehensive income attributable to;
Equity holders of the Parent Company PR.O54.TGR B7.702.670 P352.098 %
Moncantrolling interests 1,326 417 904 218%
P8.056.094 B7.703.087 P353.007 5%
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The Group's consolidated net income in 2017 and 2016 amounted to P8.169.0 million and

27.076.8 million, respectively. Total comprehensive income of the Group is P8.056.1 million in
2017 and B7,703.1 million in 2016.

6% Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to 82,4834 million and B2.335.7
million for the years ended December 31. 2017 and 2016, respectively. The increase is mainly
attributable to increase in rent income of ASTI due to higher occupancy rate in 2017 for the
Southgate Mall and for the higher leasable area for the Southgate Tower compared to 2016, It was
complemented by increase in transport services due to additional aireraft bought by AAL which
lead to more Balesin members and guests accommodated to and from Balesin Island.

10% Increase in Costs and Expenses

Increase from 1.942.9 million in 2016 to £2,141.5 million in 2017 is due to the increase in
salaries and employees™ benefits due to the increase in the basic pay of some of the key
management personnel of the Group and the recognition of donation of ASTI to Ateneo de Manila,
Inc., a non-stock, non-profit educational institution. The increase was partially offset by the
decrease in cost of real estate sold of AMPL

14% Inerease in Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased by #1.411.7 million from P9,817.8 million in 2016 to B11,229.5
million in 2017, The significant increase is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value change
of Silang and recognition of gain on fair value change for Alphaland Corporate Tower, which was
partially offset by the decrease in gain on fair value changes of Southgate Tower, Baguio, and
Balesin properties.
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Years Ended December 31 Yariance

2016 2015 Amuount B4
REVENUES P2.335743 P2 187.274 Bl48.474 7%
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sold 1,094,857 1.207.386 (112529 -9%
Cost of services 285,884 202,484 83.000 41
Cieneral and administrutive 562,110 559,725 2,345 1%
1,942 851 1.969 995 (27.144) -1%
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on lair value changes of investment propertics 10,007,052 8.578.761 1,428,291 17%%
Interest expense and other finance charges (294,749) (251,303) (43.446) 7%
Other gains (losses) — net 105,486 272,398 (166.912) ~61%
9,817,789 8.599 856 1,217,933 14%%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 0,210,683 8.817.135 1.393.550 16%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current 7.084 63.901 23183 6%
Deferred 3046778 2635457 411,321 16%
3.133.862 2.699.358 434,504 16%
NET INCOME 7.076,823 611771 Q5040 6%
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Now to be reclassified ro profit ar loss i swhsequent
VLIS
Revaluation increase 103,828 - 103,828 (e
Incame tax effect (31.148) - (30,148} (%0
72,680 - 72,680 (1%
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement
linhility i1,346) 8,044 (10.390)  -115%
To be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
VIS
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS
financial assets (10I8,495) - { 1OR.495) %
Unrenlized valuation gain on AFS financial
HSSels 725,080 1155623 (430,531) 3%
Income tax effect (61,665) (115,562) 53,897 4 7%
554.930 1.040.061 (48513 1) A 7%
626,264 1,049, 1135 (422.841) ~401%%
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME £7.703.087 P7. 166,882 P336,205 T%
Nt income atributable o
Equity holders of the Parent Company B.OT6A06 Bo. 118500 Fa57.906 | 6%
Noncontrolling inlgrests 417 (723) 1140 -158%
P7.076,823 B6.117,777 P59, 046 16%
Total comprehensive income attributable 1o
Equity holders of the Parent Company P7.702.670 BT 167.605 535,065 T
Noneontrolling interesis 417 (723) 1140 -158%
P7.703.087 B7. 1060882 B536,205 T
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The Group's consolidated net income in 2016 and 2015 amounted to B7.076.8 million and

R6.117.8 million, respectively. Total comprehensive income of the Group is #7.703.1 million in
2016 and B7,166.9 million in 2015.

7% Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to #2,335.7 million and 82.187.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The increase is mainly
attributable to increase in rent income of AST1 due to higher occupancy rate in 2016 compared to
2015. It was complemented by increase in transport services due to additional aircraft bought by
AAL which lead to more Balesin members and guests accommodated to and from Balesin Island.
There was an increase in interest income from installment sale of AMPI's condominium units.

1% decrease in Costs and Expenses
Decrease from B1,970.0 million in 2015 to #1,942.9 million in 2016 is due to the decrease in cost
of real estate sold of AMPI which was partially offset by the increase in AAI's cost of transport
services due to more flights in 2016.

14% Increase in Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased by £1.217.9 million from P8,599.9 million in 2015 10 P9.817.8
million in 2016. The significant increase is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value
changes of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties. The
increase was slightly offset by the decrease in interest expenses and other financing charges due to
the decrease in long-term debt balance as of December 31, 2016 and decrease in gain on sale of
AFS financial assets due 1o lower number of sold shares in year 2016.

Alphatand Corporation 2009 SEC Form 20-15
Plige 29




Financial Condition (in thousands)

As af December 31 Variunce
pliih] 2017 Amount %
ASSETS
Current Assels
Cash and cash equivalents P1I0LIST P215.593 (F105.436) =409,
Trade and other receivables 1,773,928 1,993,504 (219,576) 1%
Land and development costs and parking lots for sale 080,140 IR (B62.235) -32%
Advances o related companies 3019379 2777048 342,331 12%
Equity securities designated s fadr value through uther
cumprehensive neome [FYOCH] [formerly classified os
avaialishle=forssale (AFS) Mnandial nssets| 1065311 ORs M1 79500 %
Uhtlier current assers 3189454 1,791,845 307 600 3%
Total Curren Assets 11.338.369 11,706,176 (367 BOT) 3%
Noncurrent Assels
Investment in and advances 1o an associate 12.349 12,349 - 0%
Equity securities designated as FVYOCT (formerly clussified as
AFS financial assets) - nel of current portion 19.970.74 20078457 B92.317 kL
Investment properiics 47675812 40,664,073 7011739 | 7%
Property and gquipment 10174812 [.832.348 B 342 464 455%
Other foncurrent assels 191,584 121572 (1 30,988%) -4 1%
Total Noncurment Assils 8,024,331 71,908,799 16,115,532 2%
£99.362,700 HE3.614,975 B15.T47.725 194
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Linbilities
Trade and other payables B3890.0062 #2 RB08.583 1087479 9%,
Current portion of
Long=term debt 1. 223,962 1,071,574 152,388 14%
Customers” deppsits 3592 73,504 (69912 -3ty
Advances [rom related companies 245,252 81,764 63 488 200%
Income tax payvable s, U144 45,287 21662 48"
Total Current Ligbilities 5435817 4,080,712 1. 355105 33%%
Noncurrent Linbilities
L.ong-term debl - net of current portion 4974969 5,525.046 (550077 -1
Customers” deposits - net of current portion 266,011 97,605 [68.506 I73%
Retirement liabiliy 44.509 2443 58 82%
Mel delerred tax labilities 18,541,246 13.451.529 5089717 189
Other noncurrent Habilities 29910 20,118 9,83 4445
Total Noncurrent Liahilitics 13.856.745 19,1 18,7449 4,737 996 250
Teval Liabilitics 29,292.562 23,199 461 6,093 1101 26%
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parcut
Company
Capital stock P2R42174 2:655. 700 186467 %
Additiongl patd-in capital 12.769.730 [ 740,079 L0651 1
Retuined eamings 45,205,494 40,343,598 4051 B0 12%
Other comprehensive meome:
Cumoiative unrealized veluution gam on equity securitics
designated as Fvoc! 22,891,678 23,432 497 (S40.819) 2%
Revaluation surplus 3,103,638 75,850 JO27.788  3992%
Accumulated remeasurcment gain on retirement linbility 45,350 43 330 - (1%
86,948,064 77.293.0%1 PR LR 12%%
Less LY
Parent Company's shares held by o subsidiary 16.881.220 16.881.220 - 1
Ciost of tregsury shures 1,214 (214 = [
T, 065,630 Hid 0,647 Q654,483 16%
Noncontmlling mierests 4,508 4867 [354) 7%
Total Eguity Ti070,138 a0415514 9,634,624 16%
F99.362,700 PE3614.975 #15,747,725 1 5%
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Total asseis of the Group increased by P15,747.8 million or 19% from P83,615,0 million as of
December 31, 2017 to R99,362.7 million as of December 31, 2018.

49% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Decrease from P215.6 million to P110.2 million was mainly caused by debt service and  project
development expenditures.

11% Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables

Decrease from £1.993.5 million to B1.773.9 million mainly pertains to the forfeiture of sales of
condominium units, parking slots and city club shares of AMPI amounting to B147.5 million, net
of allowance. Collection of prior year's receivables of ABMLHI and AMPI also caused the
decrease.

22% Decrease in Land and Development and Parking lots for sale

Decrease in land and development and parking lots for sale is attributable to the cost of real estate
sold and to the reclassification of AMPI's condominium units  from “Land and development
costs™ to “Property and equipment” account due to change in use, from condominium units for
sale 1o serviced residences called. The Alpha Suites.

12% Increase in Advances to Related Parties
Increase in advances to related parties is attributable to funding mainly made to Clubs to support

its operations.

2% Increase in Other Current Assels
Increase is primarily due to establishment of a Debt Service Reserve Account (DSRA) required
under the Omnibus Loan and Service Agreement with BDO Unibank. Inc., and increased
creditable withholding taxes due on sale of real properties and services.

8% Increase in Current Portion of Equity Securities designated as FVOCI and 3% Increase in
Equity securities designated as FVOCI - Ner of Current Portion

Net increase in equity securities designated as FVOCI is primarily due to appreciation of fair
market values of shares of Balesin Island Club. The Group establishes the fair value of the
preferred shares in inventory using the recent arm’s length market transactions, which is the
Group's transacted selling price to third parties.

17% Increase in Investment Praperties

This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Increase represents fair value appreciation of Southgate
Tower and Mall, Silang. Makati Place, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties.

453% Increase in Property and Equipment

The movement of the accounts mainly pertains to the transfer of AMPI's condominium units for
sale from “land and development costs and parking lots for sale™ to “Property and equipment”
account due to change in use, from inventory to serviced residences called “The Alpha Suites™.
Revaluation adjustments of The Alpha Suites and the Group's aircrafts also caused the increase.

41% Decrease in Other Noncurrent Assets
Decrease is attributable to the application of advances to contractors to the payment of progress
billings for the construction of Balesin private villas, Baguio log homes and Makati place projects.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to £29,292.6 million and B23,199.5 million as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Page 3]




39% Increase in Trade and Other Pavables
Increase is primarily due to the acquisition of AMPI's condominium units, parking slots and shares
from a various unit owners in 2018.

200% Increase in Advances from Related Parties
Movement in advances from related parties is attributable to advances made for working capital
purposes.

14% Increase in Current Portion of Long-term Debt and 10% Decrease in Long-term Debi- Net of
Current Portion

Movement in long-term debt pertains to the principal loan repayments of AC, AAl and AAPL, and
availment of Contract to Sell (CTS) Financing by ABMLHL.

95% Decrease in Current Portion of Customers' Deposits and 173% increase in Customers’
Depaosits - Net of Current Portion

Net increase is attributable to the deposits received mainly for the lease of Corporate Tower and
from new and renewed lease agreements of AMPI and ASTI.

38% Increase in Net Deferred Tax Liabilities
The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax lability on the gain on fair value
change of investment properties.

49% Increase in Other Noncurrent Liabilities
Increase is attributable to the advance rentals from new lease agreements of ASTI and AMPI
(mainly from Corporate Tower tenants).

Total equity of the Group jumped by 16% or by P9.654.6 million, from P60.415.5 million as of
December 31, 2017 to B70,070.1 million as of December 31, 2018.

7% Increase in Capital Stock and 19% Increase in Additional Paid-in Capital Stock
The significant increase is attributable to the subscription of 186,466,416 AC shares in 2018 by
various companies at P11.88 per share.

2% Increase in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by the net income of the Group during the current period.

2% Decrease in Cumulative unrealized valuation gain on equity securities designated as FYOC]
The decrease is mainly the effect of adjustment in tax rate on the sale of shares of stock not traded
in local stock exchange, from 5-10% to 15%, under the TRAIN law effective January 1, 2018.

3992% Increase in Revaluation Surplus
The significant increase pertains to valuation adjustments of AMPI's Alpha Suites and AAD's and
AAPI's airerafis.
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7% Decrease in Noncontrolling inferests
The decrease is attributable to the remaining 3% interest in Choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc. fully
acquired by the Group in 2018

As ol December 31 Variunce
017 2016 Agriount %
ASSETS
Current Assels
Cash and cosh equivalents B215,393 F256. 146 [ [T RY -16%
Trade and other receivables 1,993 504 1,254 53] TIR ORI Sty
Land and developmient costs and parkimg hots for sale 3942375 5436015 (1483 640) «2T%
Advances 1o related companies 2.7TT.048 2412742 364 306 15
Equity securities designnted & fur value through other
comprehensive income [FYOCH] [formerly elassilied as
avinlable-for-sale (AFS) financial assets) G85.811 UEA.B1 - 0%
(ithier current assels |, 791,845 2,126,563 (334,718) -1 6%
Tonal Current Assets 11,706,176 12,471,798 (765 .822) -6
Noncurrenl Assels (L]
Investment in nnd advances to an associale 12,349 22,669 110.320) Rty
Eguiry securities designated as FVOC! (Tormerly classified os
AFS finuncial assels) = nel of current portion 29078457 29371411 (192.954) =| %
Investmeny propenies 40,664,073 27,2497 394% 13366774 49%
Property and cquipment | 832348 | 4492 835 339,513 23%
Other noncurrent as5e1s 321,572 306,986 14,5386 %%
Total Noncurmenl Assels 71,908,799 58,391 200 13.517.599 25%
PR3,614.975 #70,862 998 F12731.89T7 | 8%
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Linbilivies
Trade and other payahles B2 808,583 B1.519,537 HF2H9. 046 11%
Cutrent portion ol
Long-term debt 1,071,574 | AR 474 (408905} -28%
Customers” deposits T3.504 22932 0,572 22%h
Advances from reloted companies §1.764 B.693 73,071 A%
Income tax pavable 45287 4993 1. 294 807%
Toal Current Liahilities 4,080,712 4036634 J4.078 | %%
Moncurrent Linbilities
Long-term debit - nel of current portion 532506 4.041.878 1483168 AT
Customers” deposits - et of current portion 97 605 L2T.034 (29429 -23%
Retirement lubulity 24 451 ilAdle (6.265) -22%
Met deferred tx labilities [3.451.529 0124457 2327092 1%
Oiher noncurrent linbilities 20,118 #0809 (69,691 ) 8%
Total Noncurrent Linhilities |9,118.749 14,414,624 4,704,125 313%
Total Linbilities 23,199 461 18.451.258 4.748.203 6%
Equity Atributable o Equity Holders of the Paren
Commpany
Capital stock 2,655,707 655,707 - (o
Additonal pasd-m capizal 10,740,079 10,739,040 1.039 (1
Fetnined eamings 40,343 598 32172445 BI71,153 25%
Other comprehensive income
Cumulative unreslized valuation gain on equity securitics
designated as FVOC| 23,432,497 23,574,599 (142.102) -1
Revaluation surplus 75,850 72,680 3.170 4
Agcumulated remeasurement gain on retrement liability 45,350 32 846 22504 ggeg
77,295 081 79237317 B055 704 12%
Less
Parent Comipany ‘s shares held by a subsidinr | 6881220 16817972 63248 P
Cost of treasury shares |14 12214 L0000 <[4
0.4 10,647 2407013 003516 15%,
Moneontrolling ineresis 4 867 4 609 258 %
Total Equity 60415514 $2.411,740 003,774 | 5%
P8i614.975 F70.862 908 Bl2,751.817 | 8%
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Total assets of the Group increased by #12,752.0 million or 18%, from P70,863.0 million as of
December 31, 2016 to P83,615.0 million as of December 31, 2017,

16% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents

On February 15, 2017, ALPHA entered into an OLSA with BDO for a loan facility of #5,500.0
million to refinance the existing loans and to finance new projects and working capital
requirements of the Group. The loan has a term of seven years, payable in 25 quarterly principal
amortizations commencing one year afier initial drawdown date. This loan facility was
subsequently increased to 6,726.0 million in last quarter of 2017. On various dates in 2017,
ALPHA made its drawdowns amounting to £6,286.0 million. Despite of the drawdowns made,
cash and cash equivalents decreased from P256.1 million to P215.6 million due to the major
outlays to support the completion of Alphaland Corporate Tower and first phase of Alphaland
Baguio Mountain Log Homes Project and day-to-day operational activities of the Group.

59% Increase in Trade and Other Receivahles
Increase from B1,254.5 million to P1.993.5 million is due to recognition of receivables from sale
of Baguio log cabins and Balesin Private Villas in 2017,

27% Decrease in Land and Development and Parking lois for sale

Decrease from £5,436.0 million to £3,942.4 million is on account of the transfer of Alphaland
Corporate Tower from land and development account to investment property account amounting (o
£2,425.4 and the recognition of cost of real estate sold for the Baguio log cabins, Balesin Private
Villas and Alphaland Makati Place condominium units..

16% Decrease in Other current assels

Under the old OLSA. ASTI, ABIRC, AMP] and ABMLHI (collectively the Borrowers) were
required to maintain a Debt Service Reserve Account for the security of interest and/or principal
repavments to the lenders. The old OLSA was preterminated and refinanced through BDO during
the first quarter of 2017. In August 2017, ALPHA requested to BDO the waiver of the Debt
Service Reserve Account and Debt Service Payment Account maintaining balance requirements
for a period of one year from the initial borrowing date. BDO assented to the request which lead to
the postponement of the maintaining balance requirements until the first quarter of year 2018,

13% Increase in Advances to Related Parties
Increase in advances to related parties is attributable to funding made to Clubs to support its
operations.

46% Decrease in Investments in and Advances 1o Associates

The decrease in this account was brought about by ALPHA's additional common share
subscription in ASAI increasing ALPHA's ownership 1o 80%. ASAl has become ALPHA's
subsidiary in 2017,

49% Increase in Investment Properties

This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to eamn
rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Increase from £27.297.3 million to B40.664.1 million
represents fair value appreciation of Silang and Alphaland Corporate Tower.
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23% Increase in Property and Equipment
The movement of this account pertains to the newly acquired aircraft of Alphaland Aviation
Pampanga, Inc. on February 2017 for its commercial operations.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to P23.199. million and P18,451.3 million as of December
31,2017 and 2016, respectively.

112 Increase in Trade and Other Payables
Increase is primarily due to increased trade payables pertaining to construction project of
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc. and increase in deposits received by ABIRC from

sale of gold shares.

841% Increase in Advances from Related Parties
The increase is primarily due to the advances received by AMPI from a related party.

807% Increase in Income Tax Payable
The increase is primarily due to the computed income tax due of ABMLHI related to the sale of

Baguio log cabins

19% Increase in Long-term Debi - net of deferrved financing costs

The increase pertains to loan drawdowns of ALPHA, AAl and AAPI for year 2017 in total amount
of P6.683.2 million. The loan drawdowns were partially offset by principal loan repayments of
AAL AAPIL, ASTI, AMPIL, ABMLHI and ABIRC in total amount of B5,072.1 million.

14% Increase in Customers Deposits
The increase is attributable to the security deposits received by ASTI from its new tenants in 2017,

33% Increase in Deferred tax liabilities

The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value
change of Alphaland Corporate Tower, Southgate Tower and Mall. Silang. Baguio. Patnanungan
and Balesin properties.

Total equity of the Group jumped by 15% or by P8,003.5 million, from #52.411.7 million as of
December 31, 2016 1o R60.415.5 million as of December 31, 2017

1% Decrease in Unrealized Gains on AFS Financial Assets
The decrease is brought about by the realization of the gain on sale of AFS financial assets related
to the sold shares for year 2017.

23% Increase in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by the net income of the Group during the current period.
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As of December 31 Varianee

2016 2015 Adiniun] %
ASSETS
Current Assels
Cash and cash equivalents B250, 146 P453.724 (P197.578) 449
Trade nnd other receivables 1,254,521 793,395 461,126 8%
Land and development costs und parking lots for sale 5436015 4.533.017 Q02 998 2P
Advanees to related sompanics 2412742 1,994,185 418557 21%
Equity securities designaled as fair value through other
comprehensive income [FVOCI] [formerly elassified os
available-for-snle (AFS) financial assets | 985,811 Has 8l - (L
Onther curment assels 2,126.563 2177842 (51.079) -2%
Toial Current Asstls 12471798 10.937.774 | 534024 14%
Noncurrent Assets
[mvestment in and advances (o an associuke 22,669 23,108 (439 2%
Equity securities designated as FYOCI (formerly clossified as
AFS financiul assets) - net of current portion 29.271.411 28,684,133 587.27R 2%
Investment propertics 27.297.29% 17544311 Q752988 6%
Property and equipment L492.835 04,420 SR8A4LS A3
Clther noncurrent assets 306986 159472 (324863 -1 5%
Totul Noncurrent Assets SH.391.200 4751544 10,875,730 1%
70,862 998 ESR451218 B2 409,780 2%
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Linhilities
Trade and vther pumvables PI519.537 Pl 435111 BI.084.426 0%
Current portion ol
Lirtig-term deb 14804740 1592 525 {112.096) T4
Customers” deposits a2 5,557 133.625) -39y
Advanges from relsted companies B.693 2856 5837 {4
Income tax payvible 4993 = 4,993 Do
Total Current Liabilitics 4036634 3087049 40 SRS %
Noncurrent Linbilities
Long-term debt - niet of current portion 4,041,878 3480426 561452 16
Customers” deposits - net of current portion 127.034 a7419 59,615 E8%
Retirememt hability J1a6 22.57H B.RA0 309
et delerred tax hiabilities 10,124 487 6,084 896 1 130.59] 45'%
Other noncurrent habilities X9 ROO LI {21304 P
Towl Noneurrent Liabilities 14.414.624 101,647 256 3,767.368 35%
Tonnl Liabilities I1%A45] 258 13,734,305 4716953 4%
Equity Atiributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
Company
Capital stock 2,685,707 2,655,707 - I
Additional paid-in capital 10,739,040 14,734,040 o (%
Retined eamings 32172445 25,095,300 T477.145 2Rey
(nher comprehensive income
Cumulative unrealized valuntion gam on equity sécurilies
designoted as FVOC] 23,574,599 25.001%.669 534.930 2%
Revafuntion surplus T2.680 - T2.680 4
Aceunmulated remeasurement guin on retirement Hability 22 846 24,191 (1.345) =%
69237317 61,533,907 1703410 1 3%
Legss:
Parent Company's shares held by o subsidiary 16,817,572 16,817,972 = 0%
Cost of treasury shares 12,314 214 11,000 S
2407131 44.714.721 TH92.410 17%
Noncontrolling interests 4,608 4.192 417 1 0%
Totl Equity 52.411.740 49 TIH.913 T.692:827 1%
70802 998 PARASI 2R #12.409.780 21%
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Total assets of the Group increased by P12.409.8 million or 21%, from 58,453.2 million as of
December 31, 2015 to P70.863.0 million as of December 31, 2016.

44% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Decrease from P453.7 million to B256.1 million was caused by major outlays to support the
completion of first phase of Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes Project and day-to-day
operational activities of the Group.

58% Increase in Trade and Other Receivables

Increase from P 793.4 million to P 1.254.5 million is due to increase in receivable from
condominium unit sales of AMP] towers | and 2 because of the increase in percentage of
completion.

20% Increase in Land and Development and Parking lots for sale

Increase from £4,533.0 million to P5,436.0 million is on account of substantial progress in the
construction and completion of tower 3 of Alphaland Makati Place Project and Alphaland Baguio
Mountain Log Homes Project.

21% Increase in Advances iv Relaied Parties
Increase in advances to related parties is auributable to funding made to Clubs to support its
operations.

56% Increase in fnvesiment Properties

This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation, or both, Increase from £17,544.3 million o #27,297.3 million
represents fair value appreciation of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio. Patnanungan and
Balesin properties.

The significant increase is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value changes of Southgate
Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties. The increase was slightly
offset by the decrease in interest expenses and other financing charges due to the decrease in long-
term debt balance as of December 31, 2016 and decrease in gain on sale of AFS financial assets
due 1o lower number of sold shares in year 2016.

56% Increase in Property and Equipment

The movement of this account pertains to the newly acquired aircraft of AAl on January 2016 for
its commercial operations. The increase was also affected by AAI's adoption of the revaluation
mode! for the subsequent measurement of its aircraft under transportation equipment.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to B18,451.3 million and P13,734.3 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

43% Increase in Trade and Other Pavables
Increase is primarily due 1o increased trade and accrued payables pertaining to construction project
of AMPL.

1 1% Increase in Long-term Debt - net of deferred financing costs

The increase pertains to loan drawdowns of ASTI, AC, AAl and ABMLHI for year 2016 in total
amount of P2,157.8 million. These loan drawdowns were partially offset by principal loan
repayments of ASTI, AMPI, AAl and ABIRC in total amount of 1,713.5 million.

21% Increase in Customers Deposits
The increase is attributable to the security deposits received by ASTI from its new tenants in 2016.
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45% Inerease in Deferred tax liabilities _
The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value
change of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties.

Total equity of the Group jumped by 17% or by P7.692.8 million, from B44.718.9 million as of
December 31, 2015 10 P52,411.7 million as of December 31, 2016.

2% Increase in Unrealized Gains on AFS Financial Assets

The significant increase is brought about by the increase in fair market value of the ABICI tranche
2 preferred shares that are currently for sale in the international market. The revaluation
adjustment is on account of higher dollar to peso exchange rate as of December 31, 2016 versus
December 31, 2015.

F00% Increase in Revaluation Surplus
The revaluation surplus recognized in year 2016 is due to AAI's adoption of the revaluation model
for the subsequent measurement of its aircraft under transportation equipment.

28% Increase in Relained Earnings
The increase is brought about by the net income of the Group during the current period.

Comparative Key Performance Indicators (in thousands)
2018 2017 2016

(a) Total comprehensive income attributable

10 equity holders of the Parent Company

{in thousands) P8,726.791 £8.054.768 B7.702,670
(b} Weighted average number of shares

outstanding before the effect of stock split  1,364,089.250 1,272,964 289 1.274.374,956

Basie/diluted earnings per share (&/b) P6.398 P6.328 B6.044
{a) Total equity (in thousands) B70,070,138 P60415514 B52.411,740
(b} Total number of shares outstanding at end

of vear before the effect of stock split 1,457,322.462 1,273,972.539 1.,270.856,038
Book value per share (a/h) P48.081 R47.539 B41.140
(a) Total long-term debt (in thousands) P6,198,931 P6,596.620  P5.522.357
(b) Total equity (in thousands) 70,070,138 60415514 52.411.741
Dehi-to-equity ratio (a/h) P0.088 RO, 109 BO.105

(@) Total comprehensive income attributable
to equity holders of the Parent Company

{in thousands) £8, 726,771 B8.054,768 B7.702.670
(b) Average total equity (in thousands) 65,242 826 36,413,627 48,565327
Return on equity (a/b) F0.134 PO.143 P0.159

No material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other relationships of
the Group with unconsolidated entities were created during the year.

As of December 31, 2018, except for what has been noted in the preceding. there were no material
events or uncertainties known to management that had a material impact on past performance, or
that would have a material impact on the future operations, in respect of the following:

o Known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that would have a material
impact on the Group;
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o Material commitments for capital expenditures that are reasonably expected to have a
material impact on the Group's short-term or long-term liquidity;

e Known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected 10
have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from
continuing operations;

« Significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Group's results of
operations; and

o Material changes in the financial statements of the Group from the year ended December
31,2018.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables, advances to related parties, loans payable and long-term debt. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to provide funds for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
financial instruments such as trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, customers®
deposits and advances to and from related parties. which arise directly from its operations.

The BOD has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework, The Group’'s risk management policies are established to identify and
manage the Group's exposure to financial risks, to set appropriate transaction limits and controls,
and to monitor and assess risks and compliance to internal control policies. Risk management
policies and structure are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the
Group's activities.

The Group has exposure to credit risk. interest rate risk and liquidity risk from the use of its
financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal as it does not
normally enter into transactions in currencies other than its functional currency. The BOD reviews
and approves the policies for managing each of these risks.

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition. receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the Parent Company. the Group does not offer credit terms without the
specific approval of the Chiefl Finance Officer.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arises from default of the counterparty. with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amount of these instruments.

Since the Group trades with recognized third parties and related parties. there is no requirement for
collateral, There are no other concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash
flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates
primarily to its financial instruments with floating interest and/or fixed interest rates. Fixed rate
financial instruments are subject to fair value interest rate risk while floating rate financial
instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate risk. Re-pricing of floating rate financial
instruments is done every three to six months, Interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed
until maturity of the instrument.
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The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group's long-term debt subject to floating interest rates. The other financial instruments of the
Group are noninterest-bearing and, therefore, not subject to interest rate risk.

Liguidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time or
at a reasonable price. Management is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as settlement
management. In addition, management oversees liquidity and funding risks, and related processes
and policies. The Group manages its liquidity risk based on business needs, tax. capital or
regulatory considerations, if applicable, through numerous sources of finance in order to maintain
fexibility.

The Group also maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. The palicy of
the Group is to first exhaust lines available from affiliated companies before local bank lines are
availed of. The Group seeks to manage its liquid funds through cash planning on a weekly basis.
The Group uses historical figures and experiences and forecasts from its collections and
disbursements. As part of its liquidity risk management. the Group regularly evaluates its
projected and actual cash flows. It also continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets
for opportunities to pursue fund raising activities. Also, the Group only places funds in the money
market, which are exceeding the Group requirements. Placements are strictly made based on cash
planning assumptions and covers only a short period of time.

Changes in Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

In 2018, the Company engaged Reyes Tacandong & Co. as its external auditor. There were no
changes in or disagreements with accountants on any matter of accounting principles or practices,
financial statement disclosure. or auditing scope or procedure during the past fiscal year. Duly
authorized representatives of Reyes Tacandong & Co. are expected to be present at the meeting
where they will have the opportunity to respond to appropriate questions.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
During the last Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on June 20, 2018, the security holders present and
represented approved the appointment of Reyes Tacandong & Co. as the Company’s external

auditor

The foregoing matter was approved by the security holders present and entitled to vote during the
said meeting,

The top 20 registered stockholders of the Company as of February 28, 2019 are as follows:

Citizenship No. of Shares Y
k- Alphaland Development, Inc. Filipino 13,792,109.780 48.55%
2. RVO Capital Ventures Corporation Filipino 8,426,567.460 29.66%
3 Boerstar Corporation Filipino 1.677.884.300 5.91%
4. Red Epoch Group Ltd. Hongkong 961,134,130 3.38%
) Fine Land Limited Filipino 890,000,000 3.13%
6. Azurestar Corporation Filipino 280,626,360 0.99%
7 Loustar Corporation Filipino 222 570,970 0.78%
8. Powerventures, Inc. Filipino 219,604,500 0.77%
9. Galaxyhouse, Inc. Filipino 190,304,900 0.67%
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10.  Crystalventures, Inc. Filipino 188,796,760 0.66%
Towermill Capital Ventures

; Corporation Filipino 188.454.140 0.66%

12.  Gemsplace Resources, Inc. Filipino 187.512.680 0.66%
Summer Wind Capital Ventures

13. Corporation Filipino 167,169.230 0.59%
14, Noble Care Management Corporation Filipino 145,916,470 0.51%
15, Mega Access Capital Ventures, Inc. Filipino 100,825,370 0.35%
16.  Globalcentric Corporation Filipino 100,473,660 0.35%
17, Earthlight, Inc. Filipino 100.247.230 0.35%
I8 Regentstar Holdings Corporation Filipino 100,138,190 0.35%
19, Arculli, Derek Filipino 100,000,000 0.35%
20.  Citadel Investments Limited Filipino 100,000,000 0.35%
Dividends

There has been no proposed action or resolution relating to the declaration of dividends for the
ensuing year. The Company has not declared dividends in the past two fiscal years.

There are no restrictions on the Corporation that limit the payment of dividends on Common
shares. The Company has re-invested its retained earnings for working capital requirements as well
as the expansion of its operations and facilities.

Recent Sale of Unregistered or Exempt Securities Including Recent Issuance of _Securities
Constituting an Exempt Transaction
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As at December 31, 2018, the Company entered into the following share subscription agreements:

Date of Subscription Subscriber Number of Shares Total Subscription
Subscribed Price (in PhP)

June 11,2018 Crystalventures, Inc. 18,879,676 224,479,349

June 11,2018 Earthlight, Inc. 10,024,723 119,294,209

June 11,2018 Galaxvhouse, Inc. 19,030,490 226,082 227

June 11,2018 Gemsplace Resources, 18,751,268 222,765,069

Inc.

June 11,2018 Globalcentric 10,047,366 119,463,179
Corporation

June 11,2018 Loustar Corporation 22,257,097 264414318

June 11,2018 Mega Access Capital 10,082.537 119,982,187
Ventures, Ing.

June 11,2018 Powerventures, Inc. 21,960,450 260.890. 144

June 11,2018 Rederest Holdings 9,856,652 117,097,022
Corporation

June 11,2018 Regenstar Holdings 10.013.819 119,164,443
Corporation

June 11,2018 Summer Wind Capital 16,716,923 198,597,048

Ventures Corporation
June 11,2018 Towermill Capital 18,845.414 223,883,517

Ventures Corporation

Other than the foregoing, there were no recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities including
recent issuances of securities constituting an exempt Transaction.

Item 12, Mergers, Consolidations, Acquisitions, and Similar Maters

There are no maters or actions to be taken up in the annual stockholders® meeting with respect to
merger, consolidation, acquisition by sale, or liquidation of the Company.

Item 13. Acquisition or Disposition of Property

There are no matters or actions to be taken up in the annual stockholders’” meeting with respect to
acquisition or disposition of any property by the Company.

Item 14. Restatement of Accounts

No action is to be taken with respect to the restatement of any asset. capital, or surplus account of

the Company.
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D. OTHER MATTERS

Item 15. Action with Respect to Reports

(a) Approval of the Minutes of the 2018 annual meeting of stockholders held on June 20, 2018
covering the following maters:
. Annual report;
ii.  Ratification and approval of all resolutions of the Board and the Executive Committee. and
all acts of the Management after the annual stockholders” meeting on June 20, 2018 until
the annual stockholders’ meeting on May 7, 2019.

iit.  Election of the members of the Board, including Independent Directors: and
iv.  Election of the external auditor.

(b) Approval of the annual report of Management for the year ending December 31, 2018,
including the 2018 audited financial statements.

ltem 16, Matters Not Required to be Submitied

There are no matters or actions to be taken up in the meeting that will not require the vote of the
stockholders as of the record date.

Item 17. Other Proposed Action

(a) Ratification of all resolutions of the Board and the Executive Committee. as well as the acts of
the Management 1o implement the resolutions afler the annual stockholders™ meeting on June
20, 2018 until the annual stockholders’ meeting on May 7, 2019 including. but not limited to,
the following matters:

July 2, 2018 — Resolution authorizing the release of consolidated financial statements
of the Company as of June 30, 2018

August 3, 2018 — Resolution authorizing the Company 1o act as corporate surety
relative to the credit accommodation extended and may be extended by BDO
Unibank, Inc. to Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc.

October 30, 2018 — Resolution authorizing the Company to act as corporate surety
relative 1o the credit accommodations extended and may be extended by Philippine
National Bank to Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc.

January 21, 2019 — Resolution authorizing the loan take-out of Philippine Bank of
Communications-Trust and Wealth Management Group (PBCOM) extended by BDO
Unibank, Inc. to Alphaland Corporation

January 29, 2019 - Resolution authorizing the release of the Audited Financial
Statements of the Company as of the vear ending December 31, 2018

February 12, 2019 — Resolution setting the schedule of the 2019 Annual Meeting of
the Stockholders of the Company

(b) Election of the members of the Board, including the independent directors, for the ensuing

year,

{c) Election of the external auditor.
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Item 18. Voting Procedures

The vote required for acts requiring stockholders approval is at least a majority of the outstanding
capital stock.

As of the moment there are 15 individuals in the final list of nominees prepared by the
Nominations Committee for membership in the Company’s Board of Directors. Serving as
directors of the Company is voluntary and as of this time |5 individuals have qualified and have
agreed to serve as directors of the Company. In the election of directors, the 15 nominees with the
greatest number of votes will be elected directors.

Every stockholder entitled is entitled to one vote. However, with respect to the election of
directors, the stockholders may vote such number of shares for as many persons as there are
directors to be elected, or he may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many votes as
the number of directors to be elected, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as
many candidates as he shall see fit; provided, that the total number of votes cast by him shall not
exceed the number of shares owned by him as shown in the books of the Corporation multiplied by
the number of directors to be elected.

The method of counting the votes of the shareholders shall be in accordance with the general
provisions of the Corporation Code of the Philippines. Method of voting shall be conducted by
show of hands unless a shareholder requires a poll o be made on any action, In such case, the
method of counting votes shall be done by secret. Counting of votes shall be supervised by the
Corporate Secretary and/or Assistant Corporate Secretary with the assistance of representatives
from Reyes Tacandong & Co.

Compliance with Leading Practices on Good Governance

The BOD and Management of the Company recognize that good corporate governance is key to
achieving the Company's objective of maximizing shareholder value. The institution of the Code
on Corporate Governance seeks to provide the process and structure by which the business and
affairs of the Company are directed and managed, in order to enhance long-term shareholder value
through the enhancement of corporate performance and accountability.

Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance is ensured by the Corporate Compliance
Officer in coordination with the Chairman and President of the Company. Regular meetings are
made between Management and the BOD, to review and evaluate the Company's performance and
address key policy matters. The Board is provided with timely and complete information for each
meeting. Each director has direct access to the advice and services of management and the
corporate secretary, and in appropriate circumstances, seek independent professional advice
concerning the Company's affairs.

All directors are required to submit themselves for re-election every year. In consideration for their
re-glection, the nomination committee reviews and presents attendance and participation in
meetings of the Company.

All directors are briefed by Management on the Company’s business operations as well as a
regular tour of the Company’s manufacturing operations.

The audit committee first reviews the Company’s audited financials, who then recommends
approval from the BOD before they are presented 1o the stockholders of the Company. It is also the
audit committee, which ensures independence and objectivity of the external auditors.
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The Company is continually seeking measures of improving is corporale governance 1o further
enhance corporate performance and accountability. The Directors and Management have been
encouraged to regularly attend corporate governance seminars and corporale governance
consultants on methods by which it can enhance it corporate performance and accountability.

No deviation from the Company’s Manual Code of Corporate Governance has been noted. The
Company's Manual on Corporate Governance was anmended on February 21, 2011.

A4 COPY OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (AFS) WITH MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS, AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 IS ATTACHED TO THIS
INFORMATION STATEMENT.

UPON THE WRITTEN REQUEST OF A STOCKHOLDER, THE COMPANY WILL
PROVIDE, WITHOUT CHARGE, A COPY OF THE COMPANY'S ANNUAL REPORT
AND/OR  UNAUDITED  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  AND MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS FOR THE APPLICABLE INTERIM PERIOD, THE
STOCKHOLDER MAY BE CHARGED A REASONABLE COST FOR PHOTOCOPYING
THE EXHIBITS.

ALL REQUESTS MAY BE SENT TO:

ATTY. JASON J. ALBA
CORPORATE SECRETAR Y, ALPHALAND CORPORATION
5™ FLOOR, THE CITY CLUB AT ALPHALAND MAKATI PLACE
7232 AYALA AVENUE CORNER MALUGAY STREET
1209 MAKATI CITY

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and beliel. | certify that the information
set forth in this report is true, complete and correct. This report is signed in the City of Makati on
March 27, 2019.

ALPHALAND CORPORATION
lssuer
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION

MANAGEMENT REPORT
for the
2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
Pursuant to SRC Rule 20 (4) (A)

A AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER
11, 2018

Please see the attached Audited Financial Statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2018,

B. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There are no changes in and disagreements with the accountants on accounting and financial
disclosures,

C. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATIONS

1. Plan of Operation for the Next Twelve (12) Months

The Group generates funds primarily from sale of condominium units and parking spaces at
Alphaland Makati Place, Inc., sale of Baguio Mountain Lodges and Balesin Private Villas: from
mall and leasing operations of Alphaland Southgate Tower, Alphaland Makati Place Mall and
Corporate Center; and from operation of serviced residences of The Alpha Suites that commenced
during the first half of the year 2018. The leasing operations and The Alpha Suites provide
recurring cash flows for the Group.

The Group also generates funds through secondary sale of membership shares of the completed
Club projects, namely, Alphaland Balesin Island Club and The City Club at Alphaland Makati
Place.

Early in the year 2017, Banco De Oro Unibank, Inc. (BDO). the country’s largest bank approved a
£5.5 billion loan facility for Alphaland, which was used mainly to refinance most of the Group’s
existing debts, with the balance used to fund working capital requirements. This loan was
subsequently increased to B6.726 billion on November 2, 2017.

At the beginning of the year 2019, BDO assigned the Alphaland loan to the PBCOM Trust and
Wealth Management Group. Sometime in March 2019, upon receipt of clearance from the
Philippine Competition Commission, Alphaland Southgate Tower and Mall was sold 10 League
One, Inc. resulting in the Group having prepaid the PBCOM Trust and Wealth Management Group
loan. While the Group will forego the annual rental income from Alphaland Southgate, the Group
will be able to eliminate about PhP1 billion in debt service, which will have a dramatic positive
impact on the Group's financial performance for 2019 and beyond.

The Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges, a master-planned development of authentic log homes
spread out over 69 hectares of rolling mountains and terrain just 15 minutes away from Baguio
City proper continued to progress. There will be five designs and floor plans to choose from. and
the homes will be sited to maximize the views of the surrounding pine-forested mountains, The
entire property will be secured by a perimeter fence. The 5 model units and clubhouse, along with
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the first 21 single-family homes, has been completed. The quadruplex multi-family lodges of 2 and
3 bedrooms, which consist of some 15 structures for a total of 60 home units, will be sold for about
half the price of the single family units and is already generating brisk market interest,

The most significant project that broke ground in December 2018 is the Alphaland Balesin
International Gateway on Patnanungan Island in Quezon, Alphaland has acquired more than 700
hectares of land in Patnanungan Island for the purpose of building a full international airport
facility which will accommodate even Boeing 747s. With the establishment of Balesin Gateway
International Airport, international members and guests will be able to bypass the congestion of
NAIA in Manila and fly directly to Balesin from Tokyo, Seoul, Taipei, Hongkong, Bangkok,
Singapore, Jakarta and Sydney, all cities that will be the target of Alphaland’s aggressive
international marketing of Balesin Island Club in 2017. Along with the plan for full international
airport, Alphaland plans to build an 18-hole championship golf course and a 300-room hotel, as
well as 500 beachfront and golf course homes. The entire project will ke 3 10 4 years to
complete.

A project that the Group launched in October 2018 is Top of the Alpha. a top-of-the-line chic
night spot that occupies the entire Penthouse floor of the Alphaland Corporate Center.

The Group is bullish for 2019 because it has made fundamentally sound financial and operating
decisions in the vear 2018,
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2. Financial Condition and Results of Operations -Consolidated
Financial Condition (in thousands)

As of December 31 Viriunee
2018 2007 Amount %a
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalens BILIDNST p215.593 (FI03.436) -A49%%
Trade and other receivables 1,773,928 1,993 504 (219.576) | [
Land and development costs and parking lots for sale 3.080,140 3,942 375 (B62 215) 2%
Advances to relited compames 3112379 2,777,048 342,331 | 2%
Equity securities designated as fair value through other
comprehensive imeome [FVOCT] [formerly classified bs
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets| L6531 985811 79500 £%
Other current nssets 2,189,454 1,791,845 397 609 2%
Total Current Assets 11,338,369 11.706.176 [367.807) %
Noneurrent Assers
[nvestment in and sdvances to 4n gssociate 12,349 12,349 - My
Equity securities designated as FVOC] (formerly clossified is
AFS financial sssets) - net of current portion 29,970,774 29,078,457 92317 125
IFvestment properties 47,675.812 40,664,073 7.011,739 1%
Praperty and equipment 10,174,512 1,832 348 8342 464 A55%,
CQther noneurrent assets 190,584 321572 (130.988) 4 1%
Total Moncurrent Asscls A8.024.331 71,908, 79 I6.115.532 2%
PY9.362,700 BRI.614.978 P15 T47.725 1984
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Linhilities
Trade and other payables 3,896,062 2,808,583 #1.O0RT 479 5%,
Currenl portion of (L
Long-term debt 1223962 1.071.574 152,388 14%
Customers” deposits 3592 73,504 (69.912) B5%
Advances trom related companics 245,252 B1.76d 163,488 2008
Income tax paynble 60,949 43287 2] 662 8%
Toual Current Lighilities 5435817 4,080,712 |, 355,108 3%
Noncurrent Linkilities
Long-term debt - net of current portion 4,974,969 3,525,046 (550,077 -1
Customers” deposits - nee of current portion 266,101 97,4605 168, 56 [73%
Retirement hability 44,509 24451 20),058 §2%
Nel deferred tax Habilitics 18.541.240 [3.450.529 5089717 8%
Cither nonclrrent labilitles 29910 20,118 L 448
Total Noeureent Lighilities 23.856,745 19,118,744 4,737 9496 25%
Tonal Liabilities 29,292,562 23,199,461 (IR 26y
Eguity Attribumble 1o Equity Holders of the Parent
Company
Capital siock*® B2,842,174 2685707 186 A46T 1%
Additional paid-in capital 12,765,730 10,740,070 2.029.651 199,
Retuined eamings 45,295,494 40,343 598 4,951 896 | 2%
Oiher comprehensive ineome
Cumulative unreafized valuation gain on equity securitics
designated as FYOCI 12891678 23432497 (540.819) -2%
Revaluation surplus 3,003,634 75850 J027. 788  3992%
Accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement liahility 45,350 43,350 - W%
86,948,004 77.293,081 654,083 12%
Less 0%
Parent Company's shares held by a subsidiary 16.881,220 16,881,220 - 0%
Cost of mensury shares 1,214 1,214 - P
70,065,630 60410647 0654083 16%
Moncontrolling interests 4,508 4.867 (359) -1%
Total Equity TO070,1.38 60.415.514 9054 (24 1 6%
FO9.302.700 P83.614.975 BIST47.725 19
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Total assets of the Group increased by #15,747.8 million or 19% from B83.615.0 million as of
December 31, 2017 to P99,362.7 million as of December 31, 2018.

49% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Decrease from B215.6 million to 2110.2 million was mainly caused by the repurchase of the
AMPI’s condominium units, parking slots and shares from various tenants, repayments of loans
and by the day-to-day operational activities of the Group,

11% Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables

Decrease from £1,993.5 million to 1,773.9 million mainly pertains to the forfeiture of sales of
condominium units, parking slots and city club shares of AMPI amounting to B147.5 million, net
of allowance. Collection of prior year's receivables of ABMLHI and AMPI also caused the
decrease.

22% Decrease in Land and Development and Parking lots for sale
Decrease in land and development and parking lots for sale is attributable to the cost of real estate
sold to third parties and to the reclassification of AMPI's Alpha Suites to property and equipment.

12% Increase in Advances to Related Parties
Increase in advances to related parties is attributable to funding made to Clubs to support its
operations,

22% Inerease in Grher Current Assety

Increase is primarily due to increase in restricted cash related to Debt Service Reserve Account
(DSRA) required by existing OLSA with various banks and increased creditable withholding taxes
from sales.

&% Increase in Current Portion of Equity Securities designated as FVOCI and 3% Increase in
Equity securities designated as FVOCI - Net of Curvent Portion

Net increase in equity securities designated as FVOCI is primarily due 1o appreciation of fair
market values of shares of Balesin Island Club. The Group establishes the fair value of the
preferred shares in inventory using the recent arm’s length market transactions, which is the
Group’s transacted selling price to third parties. Reacquisition of AMPI's city club shares from
various members also caused the increase.

17% Increase in Investment Properties

This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Increase represents fair value appreciation of Southgate
Tower and Mall, Silang, Makati Place, Baguio. Patnanungan and Balesin properties.

455% Increase in Property and Equipment

The movement of the accounts pertains to the transfer of Alpha Suites from land and development
costs and parking lots for sale. Revaluation increase of Alpha Suites and Group’s aircrafts also
caused the increase.

41% Decrease in Other Noncurreni Assets
Decrease is attributable to the application of advances to contractors for the completed
construction of Balesin private villas, Baguio log homes and Makati place.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to P29,292.6 million and R23,1995 million as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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39% Increase in Trade and Other Pavables
Increase is primarily due to the acquisition of AMPI's condominium units, parking slots and shares
from a various tenants in 2018,

200% Increase in Advances from Relaied Parties
Movement in advances from related parties is atributable the advances from a related party for
working capital purposes.

14% Increase in Current Portion of Long-term Debt and 10% Decrease in Long-term Debi- Net of
Current Portion

Movement in long-term debt pertains is attributable to the repayment of loans of AC, AAI and
AAPI and to the new loan availment of ABMLHI,

95% Decrease in Current Portion of Customers' Deposits and 173% increase in Customers'
Deposits - Net of Current Portion

Net increase is attributable to the deposits from new lease agreements and additional deposits from
renewed lease agreements of AMPI and ASTI.

38% Increase in Net Deferred Tax Liabilities
The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value
change of investment properties of the Group.

9% Increase in Other Noncurremt Liabilities
Increase is attributable to the advance rentals from new lease agreements of AMPI and ASTI.

Total equity of the Group jumped by 16% or by #9,654.6 million, from B60,415.5 million as of
December 31, 2017 to B70,070.1 million as of December 31, 2018.

7% Increase in Capital Stock and 19% Increase in Additional Paid-in Capital Stock
The significant increase is attributable to the subseription of various companies of 186,466,416 AC
shares in 2018.

2% Increase in Retained Earnings
The mncrease is brought about by the net income of the Group during the current period.

2% Decrease in Cumulative unrealized valuation gain on equity securities designared as FYOCT
The decrease is mainly the effect of adjustment in tax rate on the sale of shares of stock not traded
in local stock exchange, from 5-10% to 15%, under the TRAIN law effective January |, 2018

3992% Increase in Revaluation Surplus
The significamt increase pertains to the revaluation increase of AMPI's Alpha Suites and AAl and
AAPI's aircrafts.

7% Decrease in Noncontrolling interests
The decrease is attributable to the remaining 20% interest in Alphaforce Security Agency, Inc. and
Choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc. fully acquired by the Group in 2018
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As of December 31 Varimce

2017 2016 Amount 4
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cush cquivalents P215.593 #0256, 146 (B40.553) -16%
Trade and other receivables 1,963 504 [,25%4.521 TI8.083 %
Land and developrent costs and parking lots for sale I 1T L4360158 {1, 493.640) -27%
Advances o relpted eompanics 2777048 2412742 Jd 306 15%
Eguity securities designated as fwr value through olher
comprehensive inceme [FVOCH] [formerly classified as
availuble-lor-sale (AFS) financial assets| 985811 OR5.811 - 0%
Other current assets 1,791,845 2,126,563 (334.718) -16%
Total Current Assels | 170,176 [2.471,798 {T65.622) 6%
Noneurrent Assels {1
Investment in and advances to an associale 12,349 22 66y (1320 A6%a
Equity securities designaled as FVOCT (formerly classified as
AFS financinl nssets) - net of current portion 20078 A5T 29271411 (192,854 1%
Investment properties 40,664,071 17,297,239 13,366,774 AU
Propeny and equipment 1,832,344 1 492 B35 339513 23%
Ouher noncurrent issels 121,572 i SR 14,58 5%
Total Noncurrent Assets 71,908,799 38,391,200 13517500 3%
PR3,614.975 E70.862 998 P 2751,977 &%
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Linbilities
Frade amd other pavables B2 ROE 583 B2 519537 P2RY.O4G 1%
Currenl portion of
Long-term dein 1,071,574 1: 480479 [408.90%) -28%
Customers’ deposits 73,561 32932 503572 1%
Advanees from related companies 81,764 £,693 73,071 B 1%
Ineome tax payable 45,287 4,993 204 B0
Total Current Linhilitics 4.080.712 4.036,634 44,078 1%
Noncurrent Liahilities
Long-term debt - net of curment portion 55251140 4041878 LAB. 168 3%
Customers” deposits - net of current purtion 97,605 127,034 (29.429) 23%
Retirermen| lability 24,451 ildlh (6.905) <22%
Nel delerred tnx liabilitics 13,451,529 10,124,487 3327042 %
(Hher noncarrent labilities 20,118 859809 169.691) -78%
Total Mongurrent Linhilities 19,118,749 14,414,624 4,704,125 33%
Totl Linbilities 23 199461 18.451.258 4.748.203 25t
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
Company
Capitnl siock 1653707 2655707 0%
Additionual paid-in cupital [0 740,074 [ 6,739,040 1,03y (%
Retmined edmings 40,343 598 32172445 871,153 2%
Uhher comprehensive mcome
Cumulative unnealized valuation gain on equity scourities
designated ns FVOCI 23432457 23,574,599 (142,1032) -1%
Hevaluation surplus 75,850 72,680 3170 4%
Accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement liability 45350 21,846 22,504 Py
77.293.08| 69237317 8,055,764 12%
Less:
Parent Company’s shares held by a subsidiary 16881220 16.817.972 hi.24% (1%
Cost of reasury shares [214 12.214 (] 1, LEHTE Qi
64 10647 52,407,131 BOGISTS [ 5%
Mancontrolling interests 4,867 4,604 258 6%
Totul Eguity 60415514 S2.411,740 8,003,774 15%
RR3.614.973 F70,862.998 P12.751.977 18%,
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Total assets of the Group increased by P12,752.0 million or 18%, from #70.863.0 million as of
December 31, 2016 to B83.615.0 million as of December 31, 2017.

16% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivatents

On February 13, 2017, ALPHA entered into an OLSA with BDO for a loan facility of #5,500.0
million to refinance the existing loans and to finance new projects and working capital
requirements of the Group. The loan has a term of seven years, payable in 25 quarterly principal
amortizations commencing one year after initial drawdown date. This loan facility was
subsequently increased to #6,726.0 million in last quarter of 2017. On various dates in 2017,
ALPHA made its drawdowns amounting to 6,286.0 million. Despite of the drawdowns made,
cash and cash equivalents decreased from B256.1 million to B215.6 million due to the major
outlays to support the completion of Alphaland Corporate Tower and first phase of Alphaland
Baguio Mountain Log Homes Project and day-to-day operational activities of the Group.

59% Increase in Trade and Other Receivables
Increase from 1.254.5 million 1o B1,993.5 million is due to recognition of receivables from sale
of Baguio log cabins and Balesin Private Villas in 2017.

27% Decrease in Land and Developmeni and Parking lots for sale

Decrease from B5.436.0 million to B3,942.4 million is on account of the transfer of Alphaland
Corporate Tower from land and development account to investment property account amounting to
P2.425.4 and the recognition of cost of real estate sold for the Baguio log cabins, Balesin Private
Villas and Alphaland Makati Place condominium units..

16% Decrease in Other current assets

Under the old OLSA. ASTI, ABIRC, AMPI and ABMLHI (collectively the Borrowers) were
required to maintain a Debt Service Reserve Account for the security of interest and/or principal
repayments to the lenders. The old OLSA was preterminated and refinanced through BDO during
the first quarter of 2017, In August 2017, ALPHA requested to BDO the waiver of the Debt
Service Reserve Account and Debt Service Payment Account maintaining balance requirements
for a period of one year from the initial borrowing date. BDO assented to the request which lead to
the postponement of the maintaining balance requirements until the first quarter of year 2018.

15% Increase in Advances to Related Parties
Increase in advances to related parties is attributable to funding made to Clubs to support its
operations.

16% Decrease in Investments in amd Advances to Associates

The decrease in this account was brought about by ALPHA's additional common share
subseription in ASAIl increasing ALPHA's ownership to 80%. ASAl has become ALPHA’s
subsidiary in 2017.

49% Increase in Investment Properties

This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation, or both, Increase from £27.297.3 million to £40.664.1 million
represents fair value appreciation of Silang and Alphaland Corporate Tower.
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23% Inerease in Property and Equipmeni
The movement of this account pertains to the newly acquired aircraft of Alphaland Aviation
Pampanga, Inc. on February 2017 for its commercial operations.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to 223,199, million and £18,451.3 million as of December
31,2017 and 2016, respectively.

11% Icrease in Trade and Other Payables

Increase is primarily due to increased trade payables pertaining to comstruction project of
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc. and increase in deposits received by ABIRC from
sale of gold shares,

841% Increase in Advances from Related Parties
The increase is primarily due to the advances received by AMPI from a related party.

807% Increase in Income Tax Payable
The increase is primarily due to the computed income tax due of ABMLHI related 1o the sale of
Baguio log cabins

199 Increase in Long-term Debt - net of deferred financing costs

The increase pertains to loan drawdowns of ALPHA, AAl and AAPI for year 2017 in total amount
of B6.683.2 million. The loan drawdowns were partially offset by principal loan repayments of
AAL AAPL ASTI, AMPI, ABMLHI and ABIRC in total amount of B5.072.1 million.

14% Increase in Customers Deposits
The increase is attributable to the security deposits received by ASTI from its new tenants in 2017.

33% Increase in Deferred tax liabilities

The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value
change of Alphaland Corporate Tower, Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan
and Balesin properties.

Total equity of the Group jumped by 5% or by B8.003.5 million, from B52,411.7 million as of
December 31, 2016 to B60.415.5 million as of December 31, 2017.

1% Decrease in Unrealized Gains on AFS Financial Assels
The significant decrease is brought about by the realization of the gain on sale of AFS financial
assets related to the sold shares for year 2017.

259% Increase in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by the net income of the Group during the current period.
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As of December 31 Varinece

2016 2018 Amount %o
ASSETS
Current Assels
Cash and cash equivalents #236,146 8453724 (#197.578) A%
Trade and other recetvables 1254521 793395 461,126 S8%
{.and and development costs and parking lots for sale 5436015 4533017 902,958 0%
Advances (o related companies 2412.742 [.994.185 418,557 2%
Equity securities designuted as fair vilue throuwgh other
gomprehensive income [FVOCI] [formerly classified as
avasilnble-for-sale (AFS) financial asseis) gB3.B11 9581 | - %%
Cither curment assels 1 .126,563 2177642 (51,079) 2%
Total Current Assels 12,471,798 10,937,774 1,534,024 14%
Noncurrent Assels
Investment in und advances 10 an associale 12669 23,108 {439) =2%
Equity securitics designated as FVOC! (formerly classificd a3
ATS financial assets) - net of current portion 19271411 28684133 SET.278 29
Invesimenl properties 27.297.2499 17,544,311 5,752 988 S6%%
Property and equipment 1,492 835 Q04,420 SRS 65%
Other nongurment assets 300,986 159472 (52486 -15%
Total Noncurment Assels 58,391,200 47515444 |0, 875.756 23%
B70,862.998 PR 453,218 12409780 21%
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Linbilities
Trade and other payables P2.519,537 pLA3sLI P1.084A26 T6%
Curent portion of
Long-term debi 1.480.479 1,592,525 (112.0446) T
Customers’ deposits 12032 56,557 (33.625) -59%,
Advances from related companies B.6ul 2850 5.837 2%
Income lax pavable 4,993 - 4,993 (s
Tetal Current Liabilities 4,036,634 3,087.049 044,583 3%
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt - nel of current portion 4,041 878 J A0 426 561452 16%
Customers’ deposits - net of current porion (27,034 67419 59615 8%
Retirement liability 31416 22.576 B840 3005
Wet deferred tnx Habalities 10,124 487 .S RO6 3, 130.59] 45%
Other noncurmerit libilities Hy.80% 9,939 (2.130) 2%
Total Moncurrent | inbilities 14,414,624 10,647 250 3,767,508 359,
Total Liabilities 18,451,258 13,734,303 471,953 34%
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
Company
Capital stock 2.685.707 2655707 - 0%
Additional paid-in capital | 0,735,040 10,739,040 - %
Retained gamings 32,172,445 25,095 300 1077145 28
Oiher comprehensive income
Cumulaiive unrealized valumion gain on equity securities
designated as FVOC] 23,574,599 23,019,669 $54.930 %o
Revaluation surplus 72,680 - 72,680 %
Accumulated remensurement gain on retirement liability 22,846 24,191 (1,345) -6
69237317 61,533,907 T.103.410 3%
Less:
Parent Company's shares held by & subsidiary 16517972 16417972 - P
Cost of treasury shaes 12.214 1,214 11000 6Ya
52407131 44,714,721 7692410 | 7%
Moncontrolling Interests 4.609 4,192 417 1%
Toral Equity 52.411.740 44718913 7,692,827 17%
BT, 862,998 psg4532LE P12 409,780 1%
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Total assets of the Group increased by P12.409.8 million or 21%, from #£58,453.2 million as of
December 31, 2015 to R70,863.0 million as of December 31, 2016.

44% Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Decrease from B453.7 million to #256.1 million was caused by major outlays to support the
completion of first phase of Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes Project and day-to-day
operational activities of the Group.

58% Increase in Trade and Other Receivables

Increase from B 793.4 million to B 12545 million is due to increase in receivable from
condominium unit sales of AMPI towers | and 2 because of the increase in percentage of
completion.

20% Increase in Land and Development and Parking lots for sale

Increase from 24.533.0 million to £5,436.0 million is on account of substantial progress in the
construction and completion of tower 3 of Alphaland Makati Place Project and Alphaland Baguio
Mountain Log Homes Project.

21% Increase in Advances 1o Related Parties
Increase in advances 1o related parties is attributable to funding made to Clubs to support its
operalions,

56% Increase in Investment Properties

This account represents both completed properties and properties under construction held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Increase from Rl 7.544.3 million 10 P27,297.3 million
represents fair value appreciation of Southgate Tower and Mall. Silang. Baguio, Patnanungan and
Balesin properties.

The significant increase is attributable to the increase in gain on fair value changes of Southgate
Tower and Mall, Silang. Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties. The increase was slightly
offset by the decrease in interesl expenses and other financing charges due to the decrease in long-
rerm debt balance as of December 31, 2016 and decrease in gain on sale of AFS financial assets
due 10 lower number of sold shares in year 2016.

56% Increase in Property and Equipment

The movement of this account pertains to the newly acquired aircralt of AAI on January 2016 for
its commercial operations. The increase was also affected by AAl's adoption of the revaluation
model for the subsequent measurement of its aircraft under transportation equipment.

Total liabilities of the Group amounted to B 18,451.3 million and P13.734.3 million as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

43% Increase in Trade and Other Payables
Increase is primarily due to increased trade and accrued payables pertaining to construction project
of AMPL

11% Increase in Long-term Debt - net of deferred financing cosis

The increase pertains to loan drawdowns of ASTL AC, AAI and ABMLHI for year 2016 in total
amount of B2,157.8 million. These loan drawdowns were partially offset by principal loan
repayments of ASTI, AMPI, AAT and ABIRC in total amount of £1,713.5 million.

21% Increase in Customers Deposits
The increase is attributable to the security deposits received by ASTI from its new tenants in 2016,

45% Increase in Deferred tax liabilities
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The increase is attributable to the recognition of deferred tax liability on the gain on fair value
change of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties.

Total equity of the Group jumped by 17% or by P7.692.8 million, from B44.718.9 million as of
December 31, 2015 to P52.41 1.7 million as of December 31, 201 6.

294 Increase in Unrealized Gains on AFS Financial Assels

The significant increase is brought about by the increase in fair market value of the ABICI tranche
2 preferred shares that are currently for sale in the international market. The revaluation
adjustment is on account of higher dollar to peso exchange rate as of December 31, 2016 versus
December 31, 2015.

100% Increase in Revaluation Surplus
The revaluation surplus recognized in year 2016 is due to AAD's adoption of the revaluation model
for the subsequent measurement of its aircraft under transportation equipment.

28% Increase in Retained Earnings
The increase is brought about by the net income of the Group during the current period.

Alphaland Corparation M9 REC Form 20-15
Page 56




Results of Operations (in thousands)

Years Ended December 31 Varianee
2018 017 Amount 9%
REVENUES F1,877.819 #2,483.427 B3194,392 6%
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real estate sold 859,354 E34,340 25014 EL )
Cost of services 646,589 360,468 286,121 7o
General and administralive 1,237,330 874,784 362,546 41%
2,743,273 2,069,392 (73681 13%
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on fair vitlue changes of investment propertics 7453516 11,471,819 {4.018,303) -35%
Interest expense and other finance charges (321,345) (365,727) 44,382 -12%
Other gains (losses) — nel (100,857) 51,476 {152,333)  -296%
7031314 11,157,568 {4,126.254) -37%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 7,165,860 [1.571.403 (4.405,543) =38%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Curtent 68,380 8,161 10.219 18%
Deferred 2,369,177 1.344,210 1975.033) -29%
2,437,557 3,402,371 (964.814) ~28%
NET INCOME 4,728,303 8,169,032 (3,440,729) 42%
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LIOSS)
Not 1o be reclassified to profit ar loss in subsequent
years:
Revaluation increase 4,365,148 9.515 4355633 43776%
Income tax effact (1,287,956) (2,854 (1.285,102) 45028%
3,077.192 6,601 3,070,531  46097%
Unrealized valuation gain on equity seeurities
designated as FVOCI 1,084.338 - 1,084,338 o
Income tax effect {162,651) - {162,651) (%
921.687 — 021,687 (1%
Remeasurement gain (l0ss) on refirement
lighility = 22,504 (22.504)  -100%
To be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
years:
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS
financial assets - (216,038) 216,038  -100%
Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial
assels - 58.146 (381467  -100%
Income tax effect - 15,789 (15.789) -100%
- (142,103} 142,108 -100%
3998879 (112,938) 4111817 -3641%
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 8,727,182 P8.(56,094 671,088 8%
Net income attributable w:
Equity holders of the Parent Company B4,727912 B8.167,6062 (B3,439,750) 42%
Noncontrolling interests 3N 1,370 (9790 -T1%

P4,718.303 P8,169,032 (P3.440.729) -A3%

Total comprehensive income aitributable 10:

Equity holders of the Parent Company PR.726.791 RE.054, 768 PR7T2.023 8%
Moncontrolling interests 391 1,326 (935) «11%
B8,727,181 056,094 Pa71,088 8%

Alphaland Corporation N8 SEC Form 20-18

Prige 37




16% Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to B2.877.8 million and 824834
million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The increase is mainly
atiributed to combined effects of AMPI's additional rent income from Corporate Tower and
increased number of new lease agreements of AMP1 and ASTI during 2018. Furthermore, there is
an increasing trend in revenues from transport services provided by AAl to ABICI.

33% increase in Costs and Expenses

Inerease from R2.069.6 million in prior period to B2,743.7 million in current period mainly
represents cost of condominium units and transportation service, corresponding to increased
number of units sold and number of flights, respectively.

37% Decrease in Other Income {Expenses)

Other income (expense) decreased by £4,126.3 million from #11,157.6 million in 2017 1o
P7.031.3 million in 2018. The significant decrease is attributable to the lower gain on fair value
changes of investment properties recognized in 2018 as compared to 2017 (Southgate Tower and
Mall, Silang, Makati Place, Baguio and Balesin properties)
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Years Ended December 31 Yariance

2017 2016 Amounl %o
REVENUES P2 483 428 $2.135,748 P147.680 f%
COSTS AND EXPENSES L
Cost of real estate sold 834,340 1,094,857 (260.517) -24%
Cost of services 360,468 285,884 74,584 26%
General and administrative 946,723 562,110 384.612 68%
2,141,531 1,942 851 | 98.680 0%
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on fair value changes of investment properties 11,471,819 10,007,052 |.464.767 15%
Interest expense and other finance charges (365.727) 294,749) (70.978) 24%
Other pains (losses) - net 123414 | (15,486 I7.928 3%
11,229,506 9,817,789 1411717 14%:
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 11.571.403 19,210,685 1,360,718 13%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current 58.161 87,084 (28923)  -13%
Deferred 3344210 3,046,778 297432 10%
3402371 3,133.862 168,509 %,
NET INCOME 8,169,032 7.076.823 1.092.209 15%
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Nat to be reclassified 1o profit or foss in subsequent
Wars!
Revaluation increase 9.515 103,828 {94,313) -91%
Income tax elfect (2.854) (31,048 28,294 <91%
6,661 72,680 (66019} -2 1%
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement
lighility 22,504 (1,346) 23850 -1772%
To be reclassified to profit or loss tn subsequen
ars:
Reclassification adjustments on disposul of AFS
financial assets (216,038) {108,495) (107,543) 99%
Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial
asscls 58,146 725.090 (666,944) =92%
Income s effect 15.789 161,665) 77454  -126%
(142, 103) $54.930 (697.033) -126%
(112,938} 626264 (739.202) -118%
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 8,056,094 #7,703.087 R353.007 %
Net income attributnble to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company F8.167.662 BL.O76,406 B1.091.250 15%
Noncontrolling interests 1.370 417 953 230%,
P8, 169,032 PT.076.823 B1,082.209 [5%%
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company BR.054.768 #7.702.670 352,098 %
Noncontrolling interests 1,326 417 S0y 218%
P8.056,094 B7.703.087 P353.007 %o
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The Group's consolidated net income in 2017 and 2016 amounted to £8,169.0 million and

P7.076.8 million, respectively. Total comprehensive income of the Group is £8,056.1 million in
2017 and £7,703.1 million in 2016.

6% Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting to #2,483.4 million and #2335.7
million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The increase is mainly
attributable to increase in rent income of ASTI due to higher occupancy rate in 2017 for the
Southgate Mall and for the higher leasable area for the Southgate Tower compared to 2016. It was
complemented by increase in transport services due to additional aircraft bought by AAI, which
lead to more Balesin members and guests accommodated to and from Balesin Island.

10% Increase in Costs and Expenses

Increase from B1.942.9 million in 2016 to P2,141.5 million in 2017 is due to the increase in
salaries and employees’ benefits due to the increase in the basic pay of some of the key
management personnel of the Group and the recogn ition of donation of ASTI to Ateneo de Manila,
Inc.. a non-stock, non-profit educational institution. The increase was partially offset by the
decrease in cost of real estate sold of AMPL

14% Increase in Other income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased by P1.411.7 million from £9.817.8 million in 2016 to #11,229.5
million in 2017. The significant increase is atiributable 1o the increase in gain on fair value change
of Silang and recognition of gain on fair value change for Alphaland Corporate Tower. which was
partially offset by the decrease in gain on fair value changes of Southgate Tower, Baguio, and
Balesin properties.
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Years Ended December 31 Variance

2016 2015 Amount Y
REVENUES P2IISTA8  BLI87.274 P148.474 7%
COSTS AND EXPENSES
Cost of real ¢state sold 1.094.857 1.207.386 (112.529) L
Cost of services 285,884 202 884 &3.000 4
General and administrative 562,110 539,725 2,385 %
1,942,851 1.969.995 (27.144) - 1%
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on fair value changes of investment properties 10,007,052 8,578,761 1,428.201 17%
Interest expense and other finance charges 1294.749) (251,303) (43.446) 7%
Other gains (losses) — net 105,486 272,398 (166912)  -61%
9,817,789 8.399.856 1.217.933 14%
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 10.21{).683 8817135 1,393,550 16%
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX
Current BT.084 63,901 25183 36%
Deferred 3,046,778 2,635.457 411,321 1 6%
3.133.862 2,699,358 434,504 16%
NET INCOME 7,076,823 6,117,777 959 046 16%
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Nat to be reclassified to profil ar loss in subsequent
years;
Revaluation incrense 103,828 - 103,828 0%
Income tax effect (31,148) = {31,148) 0%
T2.680 - 72,680 0%
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement
liability {1,346) 9.044 (1,390)  -115%
To be reclassified to profit or foss in subsequent
Ears.
Reclassification adjustments on dispesal of AFS
financial assers { 108.495) - (108,495) 0%
Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial
assels 725,080 1,155,623 (430.533) -3T%
Income tax effect i61.663) (115.562) 53.897 =4 7%
554,930 1040061 (485.131) -4 7%
626,264 1,049,105 (422,841) -4 [1%
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME B7.703.087 BT, 166,842 P536,205 %
Net income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company £7.076,406 86,118,500 BY57.906 6%
Moncontrofling interests 417 (723) [ 140  -158%
P7.076.823 B6, 117,777 POSY. 6 16%
Total comprehensive income attributable 1o:
Equity holders of the Parent Company P7.702,670 P7, 167,605 P535.065 T
Noncontrolling interests 417 {723} 140  -158%
P7.703.087 P7, 166,882 536,205 T
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The Group's consolidated net income in 2016 and 2015 amounted to B7,076.8 million and
6.117.8 million, respectively. Total comprehensive income of the Group is B7,703.1 million in
2016 and B7,166.9 million in 20135.

7% Increase in Revenues

The Group showed consolidated total revenues amounting (o $2.335.7 million and £2,187.3
million for the vear ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The increase is mainly
attributable to increase in rent income of ASTI due to higher occupancy rate in 2016 compared to
2015. It was complemented by increase in transport services due to additional aircraft bought by
AAL which lead to more Balesin members and guests accommodated to and from Balesin Island.
There was an increase in interest income from instaliment sale of AMPI's condominium units.

1% decrease in Costs and Expenses
Decrease from B1,970.0 million in 2015 to B1,942.9 million in 2016 is due to the decrease in cost
of real estate sold of AMPI which was partially offset by the increase in AAI's cost of transport
services due to more flights in 2016.

14% Increase in Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) increased by P1,217.9 million from £8.599.9 million in 2015 to P9.817.8
million in 2016. The significant increase is atiributable to the increase in gain on fair value
changes of Southgate Tower and Mall, Silang, Baguio, Patnanungan and Balesin properties. The
increase was slightly offset by the decrease in interest expenses and other financing charges due to
the decrease in long-term debt balance as of December 31, 2016 and decrease in gain on sale of
AFS financial assets due to lower number of sold shares in year 2016.

Comparative Key Performance Indicators

2018 2017 2016

(m) Total comprehensive income attributable

10 equity holders of the Parent Company

(in thousands) £8.726.791 B8.054.768 P7.702.670
(b) Weighted average number of shares

outstanding before the effect of stock split 1,364,089,250 1,272.964,289 1,274,374.956

Basic/diluted earnings per share {a/b) £6.398 B6.328 P6.044
(a) Total equity (in thousands) B70,070,138 B60.415514 R52.411,740
(b) Total number of shares outstanding at end

of year before the effect of stock split 1,457,322, 462 1.273,972.539 1,270.856,038
Book value per share (a/b) R48.081 P47.539 41,140
(a) Total long-term debt (in thousands) 6,198,931 B06.596,620 P5.522.357
(b) Total equity (in thousands) 70,070,138 60,415,514 52,411,741
Debt-to-equity ratio (a/b) B0.088 PO.109 B0.105

(a) Total comprehensive income attributable
to equity holders of the Parent Company

{in thousands) B8.726,791 P8,054.768 B7,702,670
(b) Average total equity (in thousands ) 65,242,826 56,413,627 48,565,327
Return on equity (a/b) B0.134 RO.143 B(.159

No material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations, and other relationships of
the Group with unconsolidated entities were created during the year.
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As of December 31, 2018, except for what has been noted in the preceding, there were no material
events or uncertainties known to management that had a material impact on past performance, or
that would have a material impact on the future operations, in respect of the following:

¢ Known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that would have a material
impact on the Group;

o Material commitments for capital expenditures that are reasonably expected to have a
material impact on the Group’s short-term or long-term liquidity:

e Known trends. events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably expected to
have a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales/revenues/income from
continuing operations;

e Significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Group’s results of
operations; and

e Material changes in the financial statements of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2018.

Events that will Trigger Direct or Contingent Financial Obligation that is Material to the
Company, including any Default or Acceleration of an Obligation

Commitments
a. Corporate Guaranty

AMPI, a wholly owned subsidiary through ASTI, entered into a Joint Venture Agreement
with BSP to develop the Alphaland Makati Place Project. Pursuant to the Joint Venture
Agreement, ALPHA has issued a corporate guaranty in favor of BSP whereby, in the event
AMPI is unable to complete the Project (for reasons attributable to the fault of AMPI).
ALPHA shall pay BSP the amount of P600.0 million in exchange for BSP’s 15% share in
the sharing scheme as defined in the Joint Venture Agreement.

b. Construction Contracts
The Group entered into various construction contracts for the development of its projects.

Total advances to contractors amounted to R560.2 million and P749.5 million as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

The significant construction contracts that gave rise to the advances are as follows:

(In Thousands)
Subsidiary 2018 2017 Nature

Civil. structural, masonry works

and supply and installation of materials

AMPI P280.925  B192412 forAlphaland Makati Place
Supply of labor, materials, equipment

and all related construction works for

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges

ABMLHI 151,716 204,812 Project
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Retention Payable

Retention payable is based upon specifically identified construction contracts that stipulate the
right of the Group to retain a portion of the progress billings of contractors. Depending on the
terms of the contract, all retention payable shall be released to contractors upon 100% completion
and acceptance of works normally within one year after completion. Total retention payable
amounted 10 B409.0 million and P407.5 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Significant contract with retention clause arises from the civil, structural and masonry works
for Towers 1 to 3 and the construction of the Podium. Total retention payable recognized by
AMPI as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 related to such contract amounted to #329.0 million,
and

$#351.4 million, respectively.

Contingencies

While cases were filed between the Group and WG, the agreement signed by the major
shareholders of ALPHA includes the transfer of the Group's interest in ABCC and the settlement
of the all such disputes with the WG.

Deficiency VAT Assessment for ASTI and AMPI. The Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued a
Final Decision on Disputed Assessment (FDDA) to ASTI and AMPI on June 20, 2016 covering
the taxable year 2014 amounting to B30.9 million. ASTI and AMPI filed their respective motions
for reconsideration, which were subsequently denied by the BIR. ASTI and AMPI elevated the
cases to the Court of Tax Appeals (CTA). The decision is still pending with the CTA.

Other Legal Cases. There are certain lawsuits and claims filed by third parties against the Group
which are either pending decision by the proper judicial bodies or under negotiation, the outcome
of which are presently undeterminable. In the opinion of the Group’s management, the ultimate
disposition of these cases, disputes and assessments will not have a material adverse effect on the
financial position or results of operations of the Group.

Material Off-Balance Sheet Transactions, Arrangements, Obligations (Including Contingent
Obligations), and Other Relationships of the Company with Unconsolidated Entities or
Other Persons Created During the Reporting Period

There are no material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, or obligations and other
relationships of the Company with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the
reporting period.

3. External Audit Fees

In 2018, the Company engaged Reyes Tacandong & Co. as its external auditor for the current year,
with the approval of the BOD and the stockholders. There were no changes in or disagreements
with accountants on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement
disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure during the past calendar year.

The Company paid its external auditor the following fees for the last three (3) years for
pany p &
professional services rendered:
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Aggregate Fee Amount

Type of Service 2018 2017 2016 Nature of Service
External Audit P 3,835,000 R769.500  P580,000 Audit of Financial Statements
Retainer 216,000 216,000 216,000 Tax Advisory

Total Fees B4,051,000 B985.500  R796,000

The Audit Committee is directly responsible in selecting and appointing the independent public
accountants. Annually, the Committee recommends that the Board request sharcholder ratification
of the appointment of the independent public accountants, The Committee is also responsible for
setting the compensation of the independent public accountants and periodically reviews the fees
charged for all permitted audit-related expenses and other services. The Committee performs
oversight functions over the Company’s external auditors. It ensures that the auditors act
independently from management and that it is given access to all records, properties and personnel
of the Company to enable it to perform its functions properly. It is also their responsibility to
evaluate and, when appropriate, to remove the independent public accountants. The Audit
Committee makes recommendations to the BOD concerning the external auditors and pre-approves
audit plans, scope and frequency before the conduct of the external audit. The Committee reviews
the financial reports before these are submitted to the Board, with particular focus on (i) any
changes in accounting policies and practices, (i) Major judgmental areas, (iii) significant
adjustments resulting from audit, (iv) going concemn assumptions, (v) compliance with accounting
standards, and (vi) compliance with tax, legal and regulatory requirements. The Audit Committee
has approved the audit conducted by Reyes Tacandong & Co.

There were no other professional services rendered by Reyes Tacandong & Co. during the period.

The reappointment of Reyes Tacandong & Co. as the Company’s external auditor was approved by
the Stockholders in the Annual Stockholders Meeting held on June 20, 2018.

There were no disagreements with respect to the transfer of the account, nor was there any
accounting/auditing issue raised in this connection.

The reappointment of the said auditing firm as Independent Public Accountant for the vear 2019
will be submitted to the stockholders by the Company’s Audit Committee for their confirmation
and approval during the regular annual stockholders meeting.

Pursuant to Rule 68 of the Securities Regulation Code on the 3 year rotation requirement for the
external auditor, the Audit Commitiee shall require the appointment of a new partner to handle and
oversee the external audit of the Group's financial statements. The appointment of the duly
qualified and SEC registered Independent Public Accountant shall be announced in the
shareholders meeting for consideration and approval of the stockholders.

Duly authorized representatives of Reyes Tacandong & Co. are expected to be present at the
meeting where they will have the opportunity to respond to appropriate questions.

4. Finangial Risk Management

The Board of Directors (“BOD”) has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of
the Group's risk management framework. The Group’s risk management policies are established
to identify and manage the Group’s exposure to financial risks, to set appropriate transaction limits
and controls. and to monitor and assess risks and compliance to internal control policies. Risk
management policies and structure are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions
and the Group's activities.

The Group has exposure to credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk from the use of its
financial instruments, The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal as it does not
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normally enter into transactions in currencies other than its functional currency. The BOD reviews
and approves the policies for managing each of these risks.

Credit Risk

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group
exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the Parent Company, the Group does not offer credit terms without the
specific approval of the Chief Finance Officer.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets, the Group's exposure io credit
visk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amount of these instruments.

Since the Group trades with recognized third parties and related parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. There are no other concentrations of credit risk within the Group.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash
flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates
primarily to its financial instruments with floating interest and/or fixed interest rates. Fixed rate
financial instruments are subject to fair value interest rate risk while floating rate financial
instruments are subject to cash flow interest rate risk. Re-pricing of floating rate financial
instruments is done every three to six months. Interest on fixed rate financial instruments is fixed
until maturity of the instrument.

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily 10 the
Group's long-term debt subject 1o floating interest rates. The other financial instruments of the
Group are noninterest-bearing and, therefore, not subject to interest rate risk.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle or meet its obligations on time or
at a reasonable price. Management is responsible for liquidity, funding as well as settlement
management. In addition, management oversees liquidity and funding risks, and related processes
and policies. The Group manages its liquidity risk based on business needs. tax, capital or
regulatory considerations, if applicable, through numerous sources of finance in order to maintain
flexibility.

The Group also maintains a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility. The policy of
the Group is to first exhaust lines available from affiliated companies before local bank lines are
availed of The Group seeks to manage its liquid funds through cash planning on a weekly basis.
The Group uses historical figures and experiences and forecasts from its collections and
disbursements. As part of its liquidity risk management, the Group regularly evaluates its
projected and actual cash flows. It also continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets
for opportunities to pursue fund raising activities. Also, the Group only places funds in the money
market, which are exceeding the Group requirements. Placements are strictly made based on cash
planning assumptions and covers only a short period of time.
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D.

GENERAL NATURE AND SCOPE OF BUSINESS

Business Indicators

Alphaland Corporation (ALPHA or Parent Company) is a holding company incorporated and
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on November 19,
1990, The principal business of ALPHA and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group™) is real property development.

The registered office address of ALPHA is Alphaland Makati Place, 7232 Ayala Ave. ext. cor.

Malugay Street, Makati City.

ALPHA’s Legal Subsidiaries as at December 31,2018 and 2017

Percentage of

Place af wnership

Campany Incorporation  Natre of Business 218 2017

Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc. (ASTH Philippines Real property development 100 1on
Alphaland Balesin Island Resort Corporation

(ABIRC) Philippines Real property developmen 100 1040
Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. (AMPI) Philippines Renl property development 100 100
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes,

Inc, (ABMLHI) Philippines Real property development 100 100
Alphaland Balesin International Gateway,

Ine. (formerly Alphaland Balesin

Gatewny, Inc.) (ABIGH Philippines Real property development 100 100
Alphaland Reclumation Corparation (ARC)  Philippines Real property development 10 100
2258 Blue Holdings, In¢.(Blue Holdings) ™ Philippines Huolding company 100 | )
Alphaland Southgate Restaurants, [nc.

(ASR1) ™ Philippines Restaurant operations 100 100
Alphaland Intemational, Inc. (All) Philippines Holding company 100 100
Alphaland Aviation, Inc. {AAI) Philippines Aviation 100 106
Alphaland Aviation - Pampanga, Inc, {AAPD)

™ Philippines Aviation 100 100
Aegle Wellness Center, Inc. (AWCI) Philippines Wellness center 100 10
Alphaland Intemational, Ing. - BVI British Virgin

Islands Holding company 100 160
Alphaland Intemational, Inc. - Sevehelles Sevchelles Holding company 100 100
Superface Enterprises Limited Hongkong Holding compuny 100 100
Aegle Drugstore Inc. (ADI) Philippines Pharmacy 100 100
Choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc. (CIB1)"™  Philippines Insurance brokerage 100 97
Alphaforee Security Agency, Inc. (ASAl) " Philippines Securily agency 80 80
Redstone Mountain Holdings Inc. (RMHD'®'  Philippines Holding company 100 -
Lodgepole Holdings, Inc. (LHI" Philippines Holding company 100 -
Mt Baguio Holding Estates Inc. (MBHED)'™  Philippines Holding company 100 -
Top of the Alpha, Inc. Doing business under  Philippines Restaurant operations 100 -

the names and styles of Top of the

Alpha by Louie ¥ and The Alpha BY

Louie Y (Top of the Alpha)'"

The Alpha Suites, Ine. (Alpha Suites) ' Philippines Real ¢estate company 100 -
Pinecrest Holdings, Ine. (PHI)"® Philippines Holding company 100 -

fat Through ASTT

thi Through AA!

fe) Through AMPY; Incorporated tn 2017
fd) Throngh AMPI Incorporared in 2018
fe} Through Blue Holdings

{4 Associate in 2006

el Incarporared in 2008
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Changes in Group Structure during 2018 and 2017

a. ADI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on December 22, 2017
primarily to engage in the business of retailing or wholesaling of pharmaceutical products,
medicines, foodstuffs and groceries.

b. Blue Holdings initially subscribed to 15,749,996 common shares of CIBI representing
70% of its outstanding shares in November 2012. In October 2017, Blue Holdings
purchased additional 6,000,000 common shares from an existing shareholder for #5.0
million resulting to an increase in ownership of CIBI to 97%. In December 2018, the
remaining interest was obtained by Blue Holdings making CIBI its wholly-owned
subsidiary.

CIBI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on November 6, 2012
primarily to engage, conduct, carry on and maintain insurance business, to act as a broker,
and 1o do other related activities.

c. ALPHA initially subscribed to 79,999 common shares of ASAI representing 40% of its
outstanding shares in March 2011, which was then accounted for as an associate. In
October 2017. ALPHA purchased additional 79,999 common shares from an existing
shareholder for B11.2 million increasing its ownership of ASAI to 80%.

ASAl was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 18, 2011
primarily to engage in the business of providing security and investigation services to
private institutions and government organizations.

d. Top of the Alpha was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 21,
2018 primarily to establish, maintain and operate restaurants, coffee shops, refreshment
parlors and cocktail lounge,

¢. Alpha Suites was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on June 11, 2018
primarily to deal and engage in the real estate business in all its aspects; to hold, develop,
manage, administer, sell, convey, encumber, purchase, acquire, rent or otherwise deal in
and dispose of, for itself or for others, all kinds of real estate projects.

f RMHI, LHI, MBHEI and PHI were incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC
primarily to invest in, purchase. or otherwise acquire and own, hold, sell, assign, transfer.
mortgage, pledge, exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permitted by law, of real and
personal property of every kind and description. These entities were incorporated in 2018.

Significant QOperating Subsidiaries

a. ASTI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 29, 2007 as
Alphaland Corporation. The Philippine SEC approved the change in its corporate name (o
“Alphaland Development, Ine.” on December 28, 2009 and then to “Alphaland Southgate
Tower, Inc.” on October 15, 2013.

ASTI's primary purpose is to engage in real property acquisition and development.
ASTI’s main property is a 20-storey office tower building with a six-storey podium
shopping mall known as Alphaland Southgate Tower.

b. ABIRC was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 26, 2010
primarily to invest in, purchase, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, use, sell. assign.
transfer, mortgage, pledge. and exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permitted by
law, of real and personal property of every kind and description.
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ABIRC has investment in preferred shares of Alphaland Balesin Island Club, Inc.
(ABICI).

¢. AMPI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 6, 1991 as
Silvertown Property Development Corporation. On February 26, 2010, the Philippine SEC
approved the change in corporate name to “Alphaland Makati Place, Inc.”

AMPI's primary purpose is to acquire by exchange of shares, purchase and lease a specific
property described as three-storey building with basement of strong materials together
with the warehouse. other land improvements and machinery and equipment as well as the
leasehold rights on the land, which is situated at Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street,
Makati, Metro Manila.

AMPI entered into a joint venture with the Boy Scouts of the Philippines (BSP) to develop
the Malugay Property into a first class commercial development now known as Alphaland
Makati Place. It is a mixed-use property development consisting of two (2) high end
residential towers and one (1) corporate tower atop an upscale six-storey podium with a
shopping center and a City Club, including a Boy Scout Convention Center.

AMPI has investment in preferred shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, Inc.
(TCCAMPI).

d. ABMLHI was incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on January 17, 2013 as
Alphaland Holdings Company, Inc. On September 7, 2016, the Philippine SEC approved
the change in corporate name to “Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, Inc.”

ABMLHI'’s primary purpose is to deal and engage in the real estate business in all its
aspects; to hold, develop, manage, administer, sell, convey. encumber, purchase, acquire,
rent. or otherwise deal in and dispose of, for itself or for others, all kinds of real estate
projects, involving commercial, industrial, urban, residential or other kinds of real
property, improved or unimproved, with or to such persons and entities and under such
terms and conditions as may be permitted by law.

e. AAl and AAPI were incorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on July 31,2012
and December S, 2016, respectively, primarily to engage in aviation industry and its
related businesses, including but not limited to, the provision of hangarage and moorage,
parking and landing operations, aircraft maintenance, supply of parts, oils, and lubricants
and other related businesses.

Major Sources of Funds

Operations. The Group generates funds primarily from sale of condominium units and parking
spaces at Alphaland Makati Place, Baguio Mountain Lodges, and Balesin Private Villa; from
mall and leasing operations of Alphaland Southgate Tower and Alphaland Makati Place Mall
and Corporate Tower, and; from the operation of the serviced residences of The Alpha Suites
that commenced in the first half of 2018.

The Group also generates funds from secondary sale of membership shares of completed Club
projects, namely, Alphaland Balesin Island Club and The City Club at Alphaland Makati
Place.

Borrowings. ALPHA, ABICI, ABIRC, AMPI and ASTI has an Omnibus Loan and Security
Agreement (OLSA) with BDO Unibank, Ine. (BDO) for a loan facility of #6,726.0 million for
the purpose of: (a) refinancing the Group’s loans; (b) financing new and on-going projects and
(¢) providing additional working capital for the Group. The outstanding balance of the loan
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was assigned to the PBCOM Trust and Wealth Management Group on January 23, 2019 and
subsequently prepaid in full on March 15, 2019,

AAP| and AAI both entered into an Amortized Commercial Loan (ACL) agreement with BDO
Leasing and Finance, Inc. (BDOLFI) for a loan facility of B265.2 million and R309.0 million,
respectively, for the purpose of financing the acquisition of two ATR72 Turboprop Aircrafts
(MSN 666 and MSN 678) and a replacement engine for MSN 678 The outstanding balance
of the loans for the acquisition of MSN 666 and replacement engine for MSN 678 were
prepaid in full on March 21, 2019.

Contract To Sell (CTS) Financing. ABMLHI obtained a CTS financing facility with BDO
amounting to P500.0 million for the purpose of refinancing the company’s CTS receivables
under the terms and conditions of a Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) dated October 30,
2018 between BDO and ABMLHL

Aggregate availments under the facility amounted to ¥382.7m as of December 31, 2018.

2. Participation in Bankruptcy, Receivership or Similar Proceedings

There is no bankruptey, receivership or similar proceedings involving the Company.

3. Competition

In terms of the property development sector, there are a number of real estate developers, some
with greater financial and other resources and more attractive locations, that compete with the
Group in seeking properties for acquisition, resources for development, and prospective clients.
The Group believes that in an emerging market like the Philippines, a bold, well-capitalized
developer is best positioned to acquire and reinvent prime but underdeveloped sites. In less than a
year. the Group has built an inventory of incomparable properties.

The Group stands for development done right, with attention to detail and focus on quality for the
long term that delights its customers, and gives its shareholders the best return.

4. Customers

The Company and its subsidiaries are not dependent on any single customer or on a few customers.

5. Intellectual Property

ALPHA is the owner of the following registered marks:

I. THE ALPHA and logo, with IPO Registration No. 4-2011-002902 dated 7 July 2011
2. THE CITY CLUB and logo, with IPO Registration No. 4-201 1-002993 dated 20 October

2011
3. A TASTE OF FRANCE and logo, with IPO Registration No. 4-2014-00012033 dated 25
June 2015
4. BALESIN ISLANDER and logo, with [PO Registration No. 4-2014-00012034 dated 25
June 2015
5 COSTA DEL SOL and logo, with IPO Registration No. 4-2014-00012035 dated | January
2016
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ASTI is the registered owner of the following trademarks:

“alphaland”, with IPO Registration No. 42008002299 dated | | August 2008.

=

“alphaland SOUTHGATE" , with IPO Registration No. 4/2012/00009729 dated 16 May
2013

3. THE ALPHA TENTS and logo, with [PO Registration No. 4/2012/00009730 dated 16
May 2013

4. ALPHALAND TOWER and logo, with IPO Registration No. 4/2012/00009731 dated 14
June 2013

5. ALPHALAND MAKATI PLACE and logo, with IPO Registration No. 4/2012/00009732
dated 14 June 2013

6. THE ALPHALAND BALESIN CLUB and logo, with IPO Registration No.
4/2012/00009733 dated 14 June 2013

7. ALPHALAND MARINA CLUB and logo, with [PO Registration No. 4/2012/00009734
dated 14 June 2013

8. MARK'S PRIME RIB and logo, with IPO Registration No. 4-2014-00012036 dated 25
June 2015

9 MARK'S STEAKHOUSE and logo. with IPO Registration No. 4-2018-00005196 dated
20 September 2018

6. Research and Development Activities

The Company engages in research and development activities focusing on the types of
construction of materials, construction methodology, value-engineering, and quality assurance for
its projects. The expenses incurred by the Company in connection with these activities are not
material,

7. Compliance with Environmental Laws

As the Group Is engaged in and operates an environmentally critical project. it must comply with
laws prescribed and regulated by the Department of Environment and Natural Resources
(“DENR™). Under Presidential Decree No. 1586, any person undertaking or operating any
environmentally critical project or area, as may be declared by the President of the Philippines.
must first secure an Environmental Compliance Certificate (“ECC™) from the DENR. An ECC isa
document certifying that the project will not cause significant negative environmental impact and
the proponent will undertake preventive, mitigating and enhancement measures (o protect and
rehabilitate the environment.

As a real estate developer, the Group is required to secure permits and licenses from the different
agencies of the national government and local government units. These permits include an
environmental compliance certificate, building permits and occupancy permit. The Group incurs
expenses for the purposes of complying with environmental laws that consist primarily of
payments for Government regulatory fees. Such fees are standard in the industry and are minimal.

8. Employees

ASTI provides the management and administrative support such as legal. finance, marketing. and
human resource requirements of the Group. ASTI has a total manpower complement of 255
employees as of February 28, 2019.
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ASTI has not experienced any disruptive labor disputes, strikes, or threats of strikes, and ASTI
believes that its relationship with its employees in general is satisfactory. ASTI's employees are
not unionized.

9. Risk Factors

ALPHA's profitability is dependent on the performance of its subsidiaries.

10. Properties

Alphaland Southgate Tower

In January 2008, ASTI acquired from South China Resources. Inc. and the Puyat family two
parcels of land measuring a total of 9,497 square meters, more or less, at the corner of EDSA and
Chino Roces Avenue in Makati City together with the existing improvements thereon. The
property is now a fully developed and operational 20-storey office tower building with a 6-storey
podium known as Alphaland Southgate Tower. It was declared an Information Technology Zone
on January 12. 2009 by the Philippine Economic Zone Authority, pursuant to Presidential
Proclamation No. 1692 dated December 22, 2008,

The property secured the long-term loan facility of ALPHA under OLSA with BDO, which was
later assigned by BDO to the PBCOM Trust and Wealth Management Group on January 23,2019,
Subsequently, the property was sold on March 15, 2019 to prepay the entire balance of the loan,

Alphaland Balesin Island Property

ABIRC acquired approximately 394 hectares of land in Balesin Island, Polillo. Quezon. Additional
12 hectares were also acquired via land-for-share swaps with existing Balesin Island landowners.
This brings the total land ownership to 406 hectares. Of this total, approximately 98 hectares in
2017 and 2016 was committed for transfer to ABICI. The transfer of certificates of title is
currently being processed.

In 2017, ABIRC started the development of certain portions of its land for sale. Accordingly. these
portions were reclassified 1o “Land and development costs”.

Certain lots and improvements in Balesin Island secured the long-term loan facility of ALPHA
under OLSA with BDO, which was later assigned by BDO to the PBCOM Trust and Wealth
Management Group on January 23, 2019 and subsequently prepaid in full on March 15, 2019.

Alphaland Makati Place

This represents the Podium and Tower 3 at the Alphaland Makati Place. The Podium is currently
operated as a mall and is for lease to third parties. In 2017, the Group reclassified Tower 3 from
“Land and development costs” to “Investment Property” due to change in intention over the
property from condominium units for sale 1o a property held for leasing. The change in
management's intention was evidenced by actual change in the use of property.

The property secured the long-term loan facility of ALPHA under OLSA with BDO, which was
later assigned by BDO to the PBCOM Trust and Wealth Management Group on January 23, 2019
and subsequently prepaid in full on March 15, 2019,
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Baguio Property

This consists of parcels of land and related transaction costs acquired by the Group (through a
wholly-owned subsidiary) from various sellers in July 2015. The beneficial owner of the entire
property is RVO, the majority shareholder and Chairman of ALPHA.

These parcels of land, measuring approximately 73.4 hectares as of the end of 2015, of rolling
terrains are situated in Itogon, Benguet, just ten minutes from Baguio City by land. RVO likewise
transferred to the Group rights to another 2.9 hectares of land to complete the total area at 76.3
hectares. The Group is developing the property into the Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges.

The fair value of the property based on an independent appraiser’s report dated October 22, 2018
and November 10, 2017 is at B9.000 per square meter or a total of ®4.7 billion and 7,353 per
square meter or a total of B4.4 billion.

The Group acquired the property in 2015 at its zonal value, or a total acquisition cost of B106.0
million. which is substantially below the appraised value. As a consideration to RVO for having
sold the property at its zonal value, RVO shall have a 15% interest in the project without need of
any further investment or equity infusion. The Group will shoulder all development costs required
for the project.

In 2016, due to the management’s decision to develop the property as horizontal condominium for
sale, 13.1 hectare of the property that is currently being developed for such purpose, was
reclassified to land and development costs. Additional 7.7 hectares and 3.7 heciares were
reclassified to land and development costs in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

In 2017, the Group started the development for the initial phase of the project and the Group also
acquired additional land, measuring 4.2 hectares. The total land area of the property approximates
77.5 hectares as of the end of 2018 and 2017.

Silang Property

AST1's three parcels of land in Silang, Cavite, measuring a total of 300,000 square meters, more or
less, is reserved for future development. The property secured the long-term loan facility of
ALPHA under OLSA with BDO, which was later assigned by BDO to the PBCOM Trust and
Wealth Management Group on January 23, 2019 and subsequently prepaid in full on March 15,
2019,

Patnanungan Property

As at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, the Group acquired parcels of land aggregating
approximately 385.6 hectares and 325.3 hectares of land, respectively. in Patanungan, Quezon.
This brings the total land ownership to 711.0 hectares, more or less, which is reserved for future
development.

In December 2017, the Group sold 20.0 hectares to Red Sun Capital Holdings Corporation for
£8.0 million, resulting to a gain amounting to 2.1 million. In 2018, the contract to sell was
rescinded resulting to a loss amounting to P2.1 million.

In December 2018, the Group acquired 42.2 hectares with a carrying amount of P31.7 million.
This brings the total land ownership to 753.2 hectares.

Alptialand Corpraration 9 SEC Form 215
FPage 73




Atimonan Property
ABIRC’s land in Atimeonan, Quezon Province, measuring a total of 21,000.5 square meters, more
or less, is reserved for future development.

The fair value of the investment properties as|at December 31, 2015 is based on valuations
performed by accredited independent appraisers. As at December 31, 2017, the management
evaluated that the carrying value of the investment property approximaies the fair value as at
reporting date since there were no significant changes in the condition of this property and
economic environment between those dates.

PAGCOR City Property

In December 2015, the Group (through a wholly-owned subsidiary) acquired PAGCOR City
Property at its zonal value of P50.000 per square meter or a total of P198.9 million. However, on
January 11, 2017 the parties agreed to rescind the purchase whereby the Group returned and
delivered to the Seller the titles to, and all other rights over the property. In tumn, the Seller
returned the full Purchase Price of the Property and other costs to the Group.

11. Legal Proceedings

There are certain lawsuits and claims filed by third parties against the Group which are either
pending decision by the proper judicial bodies or under negotiation, the outcome of which are
presently undeterminable. In the opinion of the Group’s management, the ultimate disposition of
these cases, disputes and assessments will not have a material adverse effect on the financial
position or results of operations of the Group.

As of February 28. 2019, the Company is a party to the following legal proceedings:

L Josephine A. Maclang vs. Alphaland Corporation, et al, Hon. Labor Arbiter Adela S.
Damasco and 3rd Division of the National Labor Relations Commission, docketed as CA-G.R.SP
No. 138666. This is a Petition for Certiorari filed by Petitioner Maclang of the adverse Decision of
the NLRC-Third Division dated 23 January 2017 in NLRC NCR Case No. 04-05720-13/NLRC
LAC No. 09-002259-14, which DISMISSED Maclang’s Complaint for Illegal Dismissal.. The
Court of Appeals DENIED the instant Petition. Maclang’s Motion for Reconsideration of the
dismissal of her Petition was also denied. On 16 June 2017, respondents received a copy of
Petitioner’s Petition for Review on Certiorari elevating the case 1o the Supreme Court. The
Supreme Court denied her petition through Resolution dated 31 July 2017. Maclang’s filed a
Motion for Reconsideration but was also denied with finality on 14 February 2018.

2. Redentor Y. Agustin vs. Alphaland Corporation, with the Supreme Court docketed as
G.R. No. 218282 with the Supreme Court (2nd Division). This is a complaint for 1llegal Dismissal
filed by complainant Redentor Y. Agustin (“Agustin™) before Labor Arbiter Marita Padolina (“LA
Padolina”™) docketed as NLRC-NCR No. 00-1116616-2011. LA Padolina issued a Decision
declaring that complainant Agustin was illegally dismissed and ordering the Corporation to pay
him the total amount of P336.875.00. This was affirmed by the National Labor Relations
Commission (4th Division) and the Court of Appeals (“CA”). Since the CA denied the
Corporation’s application for the issuance of a restraining order, it was constrained to pay the said
judgment award, inclusive of execution fees. Both parties elevated the Decision of the CA to the
Supreme Court in separate Petitions for Review. The Petition for Review filed by the Corporation
was docketed as SC G.R. No. 217946, which was denied with finality, while the one filed by
complainant Agustin, which is this case, is submitted for resolution as the parties had already filed
their respective Memoranda.
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3. Jose Edwin G. Esico vs. Alphaland Corporation and Alphaland Development, Inc.,
with the Supreme Court docketed as G.R. No. 134512 (Isl Division). This case arose from the
consolidated cases of: a. 1llegal Dismissal filed by complainant Jose Edwin G. Esico (“Esico™)
and, b. wrongful resignation, training reimbursement amounting to P977,720.00 and damages filed
by Alphaland Development, Inc. (now Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc.) (*ADI”) before Labor
Arbiter Lilia S. Savari (“LA Savari”). LA Savari dismissed the complaint for illegal dismissal and
ordered the reimbursement of training expenses amounting to P997,700.00. This was reversed by
the NLRC (lst Division), and awarded complainant Esico P2,205.000.00 as full backwages,
P690,000.00 as separation pay, P 3,680,000.00 as unpaid salaries and 10 % of all monetary awards
as Attorney’s fees, and affirmed the award of P45,450.00 as proportionate 13th month pay. The
Corporation and ADI elevated the case before the Court of Appeals, which reversed the NLRC
decision and reinstated the ruling of Labor Arbiter Savari with modification as to the amount of
training expenses from P997,700.00 to P977.720.00. Complainant Esico elevated the case to the
Supreme Court by way of a Petition for Review on C ertiorari, which petition is presently pending
resolution.

E MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS ON THE COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY

1. Market Price of Shares

On September 8, 2014, the PSE issued a resolution delisting the Company and mandated the
Company to hold a tender offer to buy all the shares of its retail/non-strategic shareholders. On
October 17. 2014, the Company completed its tender offer to 2,672.789 Company shares,
reacquired through ASTI. equivalent to P24.2 million, The PSE also prohibited the Company from
applying for relisting within a period of five years from the effective date of delisting. October
2019 marks the end of the five-year recess, thereby allowing the Company to relist with the PSE.

2. Holders

a. Number of Shareholders of Each Class of Common Security as of February 28, 2019:

The Corporation has 88 shareholders holding common shares as of February 28, 2019,

b. The Top 20 Registered Stockholders of the Corporation as of February 28, 2019 are:

Citizenship No. of Shares Yo
I.  Alphaland Development. Inc. Filipino 13,792,109,780 48.55%
Z. RVO Capital Ventures Corporation Filipino 8.426,567,460 29.66%
3. Boerstar Corporation Filipino |.677.884.300 5.91%
4, Red Epoch Group Ltd. Hongkong 961,134,130 3.38%
- Fine Land Limited Filipino £90,000,000 3.13%
6.  Azurestar Corporation Filipino 280,626,360 0.99%
1. Loustar Corporation Filipino 222,570,970 0.78%
8. Powerventures. Inc. Filipino 219,604,500 0.77%
9. Galaxyhouse, Inc. Filipino 190,304,900 0.67%
10. Crystalventures, Ing. Filipino 188,796,760 0.66%
Towermill Capital Ventures
1. Corporation Filipino 188,454,140 0.66%
12.  Gemsplace Resources, Inc. Filipino 187,512,680 0.66%
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Summer Wind Capital Ventures

13.  Corporation Filipino 167,169,230 0.59%
14. Noble Care Management Corporation Filipino 145,916,470 0.51%
5.  Mega Access Capital Ventures, Inc. Filipino 100,825,370 0.35%
16.  Globalcentric Corporation Filipino 100,473.660 0.35%
17, Earthlight, Inc. Filipino 100,247,230 0.35%
18, Regentstar Holdings Corporation Filipino 100,138,190 0.35%
19. Arculli, Derek Filipino 100,000,000 0.35%
20. Citadel Investments Limited Filipino 100,000,000 0.35%

3. Dividends

There has been no proposed action or resolution relating to the declaration of dividends for the
ensuing vear. The Company has not declared dividends in the past three fiscal years.

There are no restrictions on the Corporation that limit the payment of dividends on Common
shares. The Company has re-invested its retained earnings for working capital requirements as well
as the expansion of its operations and facilities.

4. Recent Sales of Unregistered or FExempt Securities including Recent Issuance of
Securities Constituting an Exempt Transaction

As at December 31, 2018, the Company entered into the following share subscription agreements:

Date of Subseription Subscriber Number of Shares Total Subscription
Subscribed Price {in PhP)
June 11,2018 Crystalventures, Inc. 18,879,676 224,479 349
June 11,2018 Earthlight, Inc. 10,024,723 119,294,209
June 11,2018 Galaxyhouse, Inc. 19,030,490 226,082,227
June 11,2018 Gemsplace Resources, 18,751,268 222,765,069
In¢.
June 11,2018 Globalcentric 10,047,366 119,463,179
Corporation
June 11,2018 Loustar Corporation 22.257,097 264414318 |
June 11, 2018 Mega Access Capital 10,082,537 119,982,187
Ventures, Inc.
June 11,2018 Powerventures, Inc. 21.,960.450 260,890,144
June 11, 2018 Rederest Holdings 9,856,652 117.097.022
Corporation
June 11,2018 Regenstar Holdings 10,013,819 P119,164.443
Corporation
June 11,2018 Summer Wind Capital 16,716,923 198,597,048
Ventures Corporation
June 11,2018 Towermill Capital 18,845,414 223,883,517
Ventures Corporation

Other than the foregoing, there were no recent sales of unregistered or exempt securities including
recent issuances of securities constituting an exemp!t Transaction,

Alphaland Corporation

2019 5EC Form 20-15

Pape 76




F. COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board of Directors and Management of the Company recognize that good corporate
governance is key to achieving the Company’s objective of maximizing shareholder value. The
institution of the Code on Corporate Governance seeks to provide the process and structure by
which the business and affairs of the Company are directed and managed, in order to enhance
long-term shareholder value through the enhancement of corporate performance and
accountability.

Compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance is ensured by the Corporate Compliance
Officer in coordination with the Chairman and President of the Company. Regular meetings are
made between Management and the Board of Directors, to review and evaluate the Company’s
performance and address key policy matters. The Board is provided with timely and complete
information for each meeting. Each director has direct access to the advice and services of
management and the corporate secretary, and in appropriate circumstances, seek independent
professional advice concerning the Company's affairs.

All directors are required to submit themselves for re-¢lection every year, In consideration for their
re-election, the nomination committee reviews and presents attendance and participation in
meetings of the Company.

All directors are briefed by Management on the Company’s business operations as well as a
regular tour of the Company s projects.

The audit committee first reviews the Company’s audited financials, who then recommends
approval from the board of directors before they are presented to the stockholders of the Company.
It is also the audit committee, which ensures independence and objectivity of the external auditors.

The Company is continually seeking measures of improving is corporate governance to further
enhance corporate performance and accountability. The Directors and Management have been
encouraged to regularly attend corporate governance seminars and corporate governance
consultants on methods by which it can enhance it corporate performance and accountability.

No deviation from the Company’s Manual Code of Corporate Governance has been noted. The
Company’s Manual on Corporate Governance was amended on February 21, 2011.
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

I, MARGARITO B. TEVES, Filipino, of legal age, with address at Great Wall Advertising

Building, 136 Yakal Street, Makati City, after having been sworn to in accordance with law,
heteby depose and state that:

1. laman Independent Director of Alphaland Corporation (the “Corporation”).

2. | am also affiliated with the following companies:

Company Position/Relationship Period of Service

P.1. Lhuillier Group of Member, Strategic February 2015 to present

Companies Committee

Petron Independent Director May 20, 2014 to present
 Bank of Commerce Board Adviser July 26, 2013 to present

Atlantic Aurum Investments | Independent Director, July 19, 2013 to present

Philippines Corporation

AB Capital Investment Corp. Independent Director June 29, 2012 to present

5an Migue! Corporation Independent Director June 14, 2012 to present

The Wallace Business Forum Managing Director March 1, 2012 to present

Think Tank, Inc. Chairman 1998 to 2000; 2010 to present

Atok-Big Wedge Co., Inc. Independent Director 2011 - Present

Alphaland Balesin Island Club, | Independent Director 2011 - Present

Inc.

Pampanga Sugar Development | Director July 2011 - Present

Co (PASUDECO)

3. | possess all the gualifications and none of the disqualificatios to serve as an
Independent Director of the Corporation as provided for in Section 38 of the Securities
Regulations Code (“SRC")and its Implementing Rules and Regulations (“IRR").

4. | shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as an
Independent Director under the SRC and its IRR,

5. | shall inform the Corporate Secretary /Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Corporation
of any changes in the above-menticned information within five (5) days from its

occurrence,
Done this day of tf)..L’ ¢ at Makat] City.
MARGARITO B. TEVES
Affian
o] QT
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this MAR 2 372018 Makati

City, affiant exhibiting to me his TIN No. 105-549-310.
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

|
|, GREGORIO MA. ARANETA I, Filipino, of legal age, with address at 21/F Citibank
Tower, Paseo de Roxas, Makati City, after having been sworn to in accordance with law,

hereby depose and state that:

1. lam an Independent Director of ALPHALAND CORPORATION (the "Corpor?tinn"ji

2. lam also affiliated with the following companies:

Company Position/Relationship Period of Service
Araneta Properties, Inc. Chairman/Chief Executive | 2010 to present
Officer |
ARAZA Resources Corporation | President/Chairman | 2006 to present
Carmel Development, Inc. | President/Chairman | 2007 to present
| Gregorio Araneta Inc. Chairman and President 2000 to present

Gregorio Araneta
Management Corporation
| Gamma Properties, Inc.
Philweh Corporation

The City Club at Alphaland
Makati Place, Inc.

Chairman and President 2013 to present

Chairman
Chairman
Independent Director

2000 to present
2016 to Present
2014 to present

Alphaland Balesin Island Club, ”‘Ir;ﬂ'élpendem Director 2014 to present
Inc. |
Atok Big Wedge Co., Inc. Independent Director 2014 to present |

3. | possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualificatios to serve as an
independent Director of the Corporation as provided for in Section 38 of the

Securities Regulations Code (“SRC“)and its Implementing Rules and Regulations

(“IRR").

4. | shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as an
Independent Director under the SRCand its IRR.

5. | shall inform the Corporate Secretary /Assistant Corporate Secretary of the

Corporation of any changes in the above-mentloned information within five (5) days
from its occurrence, P

M,
}

M 2 AR

Done this day of oot at Makapl C

GORIO MA, ARANETA Il
Affiant

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before at

Makati City, afflant exhibiting to me his TIN No. 136-998-184.

BENIG gﬁ.-iﬁc

195 - r Numn Dacamber 31, 201
Doc Ne. 2 {F 5t Floor, The City Club at Alphaland Makatl Place
Page No,_ 7232 Ayala Ave. Ext. cor. Malugay St. Makati City
=l e
; No, 110,
Series on ol p{%F No. T348332/01.10.2015/ Makah City
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

[ JOSE RAMON T, VILLARIN SJ, Eilipino, of legal age and a resident of the Jesuit Residence,

Ateneo de Manila University Campus, Loyola Heights, 1108 Quezon City, after having been
duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby declare that:

1. 1am a nominee for independent director of ALPHALAND CORPORATION.

9. [am affiliated with the following companies or organizations (including Government-
Owned and Controlled Corporations):

=pl—

Company/Organization Position/Relationship Period of Service

Please refer to attached CV

3. 1possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve as an

Independent Director of , as provided for in Section 38
of the Securities Regulation Code, its Implementing Rules and Regulations and other

SEC issuances,

4. 1am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of ALPHALAND
ON and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates other than the relationship
provided under Rule 38.2.3 of the Securities Regulation Code. (where applicable)

[ Name of Director/Officer/Substantial Shareholder | Company Nature of Relationship

Not / Applicable L

|
—

| i
L | il

5. To the best of my knowledge, [ am not the subject of any pending criminal of

administrative investigation ot proceeding. [I disclose that [ am the subject of the following
criminal/administrative investigation or proceeding (as the case may be):]

I Offense Charged/Investigated Tribunal or Agency Involved Status

I
|
5 |

6. (Farthose in government orvice/affiliated with a government agency OF GOCO) 1have the
required permission from QMMMKQ to be an independent director
in WEMQE pursuant to Office of the President Memorandum
Circular No. 17 and Section 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service Rules.

|
1)




7. 1shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as
independent director under the Securities Regulation Code and its Implementing
Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate Governance and other SEC issuances.

8. 1shall inform the Corporate Secretary of AMD_C_QEEMIM of any

changes in the 2bovementioned information within five days from its occurrence.

Done, this | at__ Pl eAl?

Affiant

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this at
. , affiant personally appeared before me and exhibited to me the
following competent evidence of his identity: Passport No. P5653997A issued by the

Department of Foreign Affairs on 17 January 2018 at Manila, Philippines.

’5':?17 -~ - - f
Doc. No. - _ BENIGNO.S; BACSA, JR,
Page No. s : Enm Nﬁk %

-25
¥ —‘7;'___' & Mo katl.C
Book No. : Until December 31, 2018
Series of EE ‘E . 5tn Floor, The Gity Club at Alphaland Makali Piace

7232 Ayala Ave, Ext. cor, Malugay St akatl City
Roll of Attomays Ny, 68034
|BP Mo. 066622/01.10.2019 Cagayan
PTR No. 7348332/01,10.201%/ Makati City
Admitted to the Bar n 2017/ TIN No. 408296438
Telephone No.(02) 337-2031

Certification of Independent Dirgctor
Page |2




ACADEMIC BACKGROUND

CURRICULUM VITAE
Jose Ramon T willarin 8)

1992-1957 PhD Atmospheric Sciences Georgia Institute of Technology, Atlanta, GA, USA

1987-1991  STB Theology Loyola School of Theology, ADMU Campus, Loyola Heights, QC
1985-1987 MS Physics Marquette University, Milwaukee, Wi, USA

1976-1980 BS Physics Ateneo de Manila University, Loyola Helghts, QC

CURRENT LEADERSHIP POSITIONS

2011-present
2018-

2018-

2017-present
2017-present
2017-present
2016-present
2012-present
2012-present
2012-present
2011-present
2011-present
2011-present
2011-present

President

Member, Board of Directors
Independent Director
Member, Advisory Board

Vice-Chair, Scientific Community/Academe

Co-Chair
Member, Board of Governors
Chair, Board of Trustees

Member, Natl Panel Technical Experts

Member, Board of Trustees
Member, Board of Trustees
Chair, Board of Trustees
Chair, Board of Trustees
Member, Board of Trustees

Ateneo de Manila University

International Association of Jesuit Universities

Alphaland Corporation
Sophia University

National Resillence Council

National Industry Academe Council
Asian Institute of Management

Synergeia
Climate Change Commission

Philippine Institute of Pure and Applied Chemistry

Loyola Schaol of Theology
Manila Observatory
Confucius Institute, Ateneo d

e Manila University

Ateneo de Naga University, Naga City

RECENT POSITIONS HELD

2015-2016 Chair, Board of Trustees Ramon Magsaysay Award Foundation

2012-2016 Member, Board of Trustees Metropolitan Waterworks and Sewerage System
2014-2015 Vice-Chair, Board of Trustees Ramon Magsaysay Award Foundation

2011-2014 Member, Board of Trustees Asian Institute of Management

2005-2011 President Xavier University, Cagayan de Oro City

2010-2012 President Maria Reyna-Xavier University Hospital

2005-2011 Chair, Board of Trustees Xavier Science Foundation

2005-2011 Member, Board of Trustees Ateneo de Davao and Ateneo de Zamboanga Unlversities
2007-2011 Member, Board of Trustees Realty Investments Incorporated

2005-2011 Science adviser Manila Observatory

2000-present  Member, Board of Trustees Ateneo de Manila University

1997-present Member, Board of Trustees Manila Observatory
19497-2005 Head, Climate Studies Divislon;

Associate Director for Research Manila Observatory
1998-2005 Asslstant/Associate Professor, Physics Ateneo de Manila University

HONORS/AWARDS

Dec 2007 2007 Nohel Peace Prize (through membership in Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change)

Jul 2002 Outstanding Book Award, “Disturbing Climate” (National Academy of Science and Technology)

Jul 2000 National Qutstanding Young scientist (National Academy of Science & Tech, Philippines)

Mar 1987 Best Graduate Student Research Award (School of Earth & Atmospheric Sciences, Georgla Tech)
Jan 1996 Global Change Scholar (American Meteorological Society)

Dec 1995 Outstanding Student Paper Award (American Geophysical Union Conference, San Francisco, USA)
Mar 1991 summa cum laude {Loyola school of Theology)

Mar 1980 Magna cum laude, Class valedictorian, Physics Departmental Award |Ateneo de Manila University)




OTHER COMMITMENTS (Past and Present)

2001-2010

2008-present
2010-present

1988-2005
2004-2007
2001-2005
1998-2005

PERSONAL
Birthdate/place
Nationality

Lead Reviewer, UNFCCC Expert Review Team (GHG Inventories, National Communications)
Column writer, “God's Word Today” (Philippine Star)

Member, National Panel of Technical Experts, Climate Change Commission (Philippines)
Member, Samahang Pisika ng Pilipinas (Physics Society of the Philippines)

Consultative Group of Experts for Developing Countries (UNFCCC)

partnership for Clean Air (Steering Committee, Scientific Subcommittee)
Air & Waste Management Association (Philippine Section)

30 January 1960 / Manila
Filipino

18 March 2012
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

I, FLORENTINO M. HERRERA III, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of
888 Yale Street, Wack Wack Village, Mandaluyong City, after having been

duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby declare that:

1.1 am a nominee for independent director of ALPHALAND
CORPORATION;

2,1 am affiliated, among others, with the following companies or
organizations (including Government-Owned and Controfied

Corporations):

Company/Organization Position/Relationship Period of Service
Herrera Teehankee & Founding Partner June 1986 - Present
Cabrera Law Offices

Philippine Airlines, Inc. Director October 2014 -

Present
Rizal Commercial Banking Director August 2016 -
Corperation (RCBC) Present
Lufthansa Technik Director November 2017 -
Philippines, Inc. Present
MacroAsia Corporation Corporate Secretary December 2014 -
Present

3. 1 possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve
as an Independent Director of ALPHALAND CORPORATION, as

L

provided for in Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code, its
Implementing Rules and Regulations and other SEC issuances;

4. I am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of

ALPHALAND CORPORATION and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates other
than the relationship provided under Rule 38.2.3 of the Securities
Regulation Code. (where applicable)

Name of Director/Officer/ Substantial Company Nature of
| Shareholder Relationship
N/A

5. To the best of my knowledge, I am not the subject of any pending
criminal or administrative investigation or proceeding/I disclose that I am

the subject of the following criminal/administrative investigation or
proceeding (as the case may be):

__Offense Charged/Investigated Tribunal or Agency Involved Status
N/A

=




6. (For_those in government service/affiliated with a government agency or
GOCC) I have the required permission from (head of the
agency/department) to be an independent director in ALPHALAND
CORPORATION, pursuant to Office of the President Memorandum

Circular No. 17 and Section 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service
Rules;

7. I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities
as independent director under the Securities Regulation Code and its
Implementing Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate Governance and
other SEC issuances; and

8. I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of HALAND P

of any changes In the abovementioned information within five days from
Iits occurrence.,

r

Done, this MAR 7 D | ,at __ Filleml edly
FLOR RRE
Affiant
MAR B msea
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this AR &3 24 at

(el oAt , affiant personally appeared before me and
exhibited to me the following competent evidence of his identity: Passport
No. EC3606842 issued on 7 March 2015 at DFA NCR East,

BENIGNO S, BACS
Doc. No, b ad : < ApfojnfmentiNo
p N ?’L / & Notdry Public-for Makatl.Cl
age No, ! Untl December 31, 2019 y
5ih Floor, The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place
Boqk No, Lj’ 7232 Ayala Ave, Ext, cor, Mallgay St, Makatl City
Series of __ Jvl% : Roll of Attomeys No. 68034
. 18P No. 066822/01,10.2018f Cagayan
PTR Ne. F348332101.10.2015/ Makat Clty
Adrmitied 10 the Bar in 2017 ¢ TIN No, 408-298-420
Telephone No.(02) 337-20%1

—_—

Certification of Independent Director

Mawa I/
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

[ W@M, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of
Nr. 18, Anahaw Road, North Forbes Park, Makati City, after having been
duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby declare that:

{,1 am a nominee for independent director of ALPHALAND
CORPORATION

2. 1 am affiliated with the following companies or grganizations (including
Government-Owned and Controlled Corporations):

Position/Relationshi Period of Service
Chairman of the Board 15 Feb 2017 to present
Chairman Aug 2015 to present
Independent Director 25 Apr 2014 to present
Director 2012 to present

™ Company/Qrganization
Indonhil Resources, Inc
Sagittarius Mines, Inc.
BDO Unibank, Inc.
Philippine Geothermal

| Production Co., Inc.
|,_Can|ut:-ang Sugar Estate

Director _ 1991 to present M

3, 1 possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications 0
serve as an Independent Director of AL&WMQH, as
provided for in Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code, its
Implementing Rules and Regulations and other SEC issuances.

4. 1 am related to the following dlrectorfofﬂcer,fsubstantial shareholder of
P D P ON and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates

other than the relationship provided under Rule 38.2,3 of the
Securities Regulation Code. (where applicable)

=2 [ e gt
FName of Director/Officer/ Substantial l Company ‘ Nature of J
- . Shareholder Relationship

- et areholder
L_, | |
s e -
e W | |
5. To the best of my knowledge, I am not the subject of any pending

criminal or administrative investigation or proceeding/I disclose that 1
am the subject of the following criminal/administrative investigation or

proceeding (as the case may be):

Offense Charged/Investigated [ Tribunal or Agency Involved l. Status
|




6. (For those in government service/affiliated with a government agency
or GOCC) 1 have the required permission from (head of the
agency/department) to be an independent director in ALPHALAND
CORPORATION, pursuant to Office of the President Memorandum

Circular No. 17 and Section 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service
Rules.

7.1 shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and
responsibilities as independent director under the Securities Regulation
Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate
Governance and other SEC issuances.

8, I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of ALP D

CORPORATION of any changes in the abovementioned Information
within five days from its occurrence.

1

fF'F i I.I||

Done, this | , at Aienti ea17
 Affiant
%‘?;‘HJ ;

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me tms 4 201

at Ao o4ty  affiant personally appeared before me and

exhibited to me the following competent evidence of his/her identity: TIN
No, 123-124-558.

[€ AC

Page No. ; . Thu:ém D&mmhﬁﬁr‘:,ﬂmﬂ
. r, The City Club at Alphaland Maketi Pla
B°°.k No. v ' 7232 Ayale Ave, ExXt. cor, hﬁugay St, Makatl City
Seriesof ___s0(9 | Roil of Atomeys No. 68034
f IBP No, 066622/01,10.2019/ Cagayan

PTR No. 7348332/01,10.2013/ Makatl Clty
Admitted (o the Bar In 2017 / TIN No. 408-28847
Teannnns b N2 277031

Certification of Independent Direetor
Page |2
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CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

1, GREGORIO T. YU, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of 10 Francisco

Street, Corinthian Gardens, Quezon City, after having been duly sworn to
in accordance with law do hereby declare that:

1.1 am a nominee for independent director of ALPHALAND
CORPORATION

2. 1 am affiliated with the following companies or organizations (including
Government-Owned and Controlled Corporations):

Company/Organization Position/Relationship Period of Service
AUTO NATION GROUP INC. CHAIRMAN 1171072011 to present
CATS AUTOMOBILE CORP. CHAIRMAN 6/8/2004 to present
AMERICAN MOTORCYCLES, INC. CHAIRMAN 11/28/2012 to present
STERLING BANK OF ASIA "‘CE"E}?;:‘E‘%EE‘ Ao 4/18/2017 to present
&Eﬂuﬂﬁ%mﬁé CHAIRMAN & PRESIDENT | 1/1/1994 to present
1SM Communications Corporation DIRECTOR 12/1/2016 to present
ALPHALAND CORPORATION DIRECTOR (05/10/2018 to present
PHILIPPINE AIRLINES DIRECTOR 12/1/2011 to present
PAL HOLDINGS INC. DIRECTOR 10/1/2014 to present
GLYPH STUDIOS, INC. DIRECTOR 127172011 to present
Pg&‘ﬁ’&?g:ﬁgﬁ; DIRECTOR 2/1/2011 10 present
o 'S'mﬂtfjﬁ;[gﬂﬂg:‘mm‘z DIRECTOR /172012 to present
CATS ASIAN CARS, INC. DIRECTOR 6125/2004 to present
PHILEQUITY MANAGEMENT INC. DIRECTOR 8/1/2013 to present
VANTAGE EQUITIES INC DIRECTOR /172013 to present
E-BUSINESS SERVICES INC. DIRECTOR /172015 to present
PROPLE BPO INC. DIRECTOR 81172006 to present
CMB PARTNERS INC, DIRECTOR 17172003 to present
NEXUS TECHNOLOGIES, INC. DIRECTOR 57172012 to present
JUPITER SYSTEMS INC. DIRECTOR 10/1/2001 to present
WORDTEXT SYSTEMS INC. DIRECTOR 9/1/2001 10 present
DOMESTIC SATELLITE CORP. PRESIDENT 27172001 10 present
BALLET PHILIPPINES BOARD MEMBER 17172009 to present
AANILA SYMPHONY ORCHESTRA BOARD MEMBER 97112009 1o present




3. 1 possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to
serve as an Independent Director of MMND_;QBP_QB&IIQH, as
provided for in Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code, Its
Implementing Rules and Regulations and other SEC Issuances.

4. T am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of

T and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates

other than the relationship provided under Rule 38.2.3 of the
Securities Regulation Code. (where applicable)

Name of Director/Officer/ Substantial | Company Nature of
Shareholder Relationship

N/A

L] |

5. To the best of my knowledge, 1 am not the subject of any pending
criminal or administrative investigation or proceeding/1 disclose that [
am the subject of the following criminal/administrative investigation or
proceeding (as the case may be):

Offense Charged/Investigated | Tribunal or Agency Involved Statuil

6. (For_those in vernment service/affilia ith a government
or _GOCC) 1 have the required permission from (head of the
gggnggzdgﬁgment] to be an independent director in ALPHALAND
~ pursuant to Office of the President Memorandum
Circular No. 17 and Section 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service
Rules.

N/A

7.1 shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and
responsibilities as independent director under the Securities Regulation
Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate
Governance and other SEC issuances.

8.1 shall Inform the Corporate  Secretary of ALPHALAND
of any changes in the abovementioned information
within flve days from its occurrence.

Certification of Independent Director
Page |2




Done, this \ , at Minenrl CLI7

MAR 2 5 2019
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this
at pMierrd EArr , affiant personally appeared before me and
exhibited to me the following competent evidence of his/her identity: TIN
No. 107-465-655.

Doc. No. 9 [l - - ¢
Page No. P i ; p o
Book No. __#7 ; 7 Ny Publot
Series of __ A% 9 ’ Urtll-Dacemoe
f ' 5ih Floor, The City Club at Al akatl Place

7232 Ayala Ave, Ext. cor. Malugay St Makatl City
Roll of Atiomeys No. 68034

~ IBP No. 066622/01.10.2018/ Cagayan
PTR No. 7348332/01,10.2013/ Makaii City
Admined o the Bar n 2017 | TIN No. 408-296-439
Talaphone No,{02) 337-2031

Certification of Independent Dircctor
Page| 3




alphaland

CORPORATIOMN

“STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS”

The management of Alphaland Corporation and Subsidiaries (the Group) is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements including the schedules attached
therein, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, in accordance with the
prescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as

management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
50.

The Board of Directorsis responsible in overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

Reyes Tacandong & Co., the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has audited
the financial statements of the Group in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and
in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon
completion of such audit.

P
ROBERTO V. ONEFIN

Chairma )(
ANNA Qk ONGPIN

President and Vice Chairman

CRISTINA ANTA
Senior Vice President - Finance

Signed this 29" day of January 2019

9th Fioor, Alphaland Southgate Tower, 2258 China Roces Avenue cor. EDSA. Makati Cley, Philippines 1231
T.+632337.2031 | F:+6313381231 | Elinfof@alohaland comoh | wwwalohaland.com.oh




SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this _ MAR 2 5 2018 2t makati City,
affiants exhibiting to me their respective identification documents, and personally known to
me, follows:

NAME PASSPORT IDNO. DATE OF ISSUE PLACE OF ISSLJE
Roberto V. Ongpin PO300707A September 17, 2016 DFA Manila

Anna Bettina Ongpin  EC2050134 September 9, 2014  DFA Manila
Cristina B. Zapanta P3451062A June 22, 2017 DFA NCR East

Doc. No. 75/
Page No. ° & ﬁc s
Sers o N for 'Ih;;;!I
i ntl December 31, 2018
&th Floor, mtl City Club at Alphaland Maﬁ:ﬂ Pgﬁ;
7232 Aysla Ave. Ex\, cor. Malugay SL M
Rofl of Aftornays No. Eh034 .
|BP No. 066622101 .1!‘.!!.212!‘:':7!#r Eﬁ:?ﬂa':h
PTR No. T34B33201.10.2013/ M 3

imitied 1o the Bar in 2017 / TIN No. 408-296-4
3 mTBmi:phuna No.{02) 337-2031
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Alphaland Corporation

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Alphaland Corporation and
Subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated
statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years
ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opipnion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted pur audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Qur responsibilities
under those standards are further described In the Auditors® Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Stotements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We belleve that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management Is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
Included In the Group's Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2018, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The Annuzl Report for the year
ended December 31, 2018 is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

THE POWER OF BEING UNDERSTDOD g P
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REeyvEs Tacannong & Co.

FIRN MIUNCIFLES WisE SOLUTHING

In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above when It becomes avallable and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Monagement and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Einancial
Stotements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements In accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free fram material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's
abllity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so,

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Finoncial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from matarial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, these could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit, We also:

* |dentify and assess risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
evidence that Is sufficient and appropriate to provide & basis for our opinion. The risk of net
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud Is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control,

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal contral.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Reves Tacannpong & Co.

FIRM PRINCG PUES. WISE SO UTHS

= Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basls of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify cur opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of the auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

= Obtain sufficient appropriate evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion,

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal contral that we [dentify during our audits.

REYES TACANDONG & Co.

LY
BELINDA B. FERNANDO
Partner
Cha Certificate No. B1207
Tax |dentification No. 102-086-538-000
BOA Accreditation No. 4782; Valid until August 15, 2021
SEC Accreditation No. 1022-AR-2 Group A
Valid until March 15, 2020
BIR Accreditation No. 08-005144-004-2017
Valid until January 13, 2020
PTR No. 7334334
Issuad lanuary 3, 2019, Makatl City

lanuary 29, 2019
Makati City, Metro Manlla
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ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Amounts in Thousands, Except for Book Value per Share)

December 31
Note 2018 2017
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash eguivalents 5 R110,157 B215,593
Trade and other receivables B 1,773,928 1,993,504
Land and development costs and parking lots for sale 7 3,080,140 3,842,375
Advances to related companies 17 3,119,379 2,777,048
Equity securities designated as fair value through other
camprehensive Income [FVOCH] [formerly classified as
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets] 10 1,065,311 985,811
Other current assets 8 2,189,454 1,791,845
Total Current Assets 11,338,369 11,706,176
Noncurrent Assets
Investment in and advances to an associate ] 12,349 12,349
Equity securities designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as
AFS financial assets) - net of current portion 10 29,870,774 28,078,457
Investment properties 11 47,675,812 40,664,073
Property and eguipment 12 10,174,812 1,832,348
Other nencurrent assets 13 150,584 321,572
Total Noncurrent Assets B8,024,331 71,908,799
R99,362,700 BE3,614,975
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 #3,896,062 ®2 808,583
Current portion of:
Long-term debt 15 1,223,962 1,071,574
Customers' deposits 18 3,582 73,504
Advances from related companies 17 245,252 81,764
Income tax payable 66,949 45,287
Total Current Liabilities 5,435,817 4,080,712
MNoncurrent Liabilities
Leng-term debt - net of current portion 15 4,874,969 5,525,046
Custamers’ deposits - net of current portion 18 266,111 97,605
Retirement liability 21 44,509 24,451
Net deferred tax liabllities 22 18,541,246 13,451,529
Other noncurrent liabilitles 29,910 20,118
LT Total Nancurrent Liabilities 23,856,745 19,118,749
Total Liabilities 29,292,562 23,189,461

{Forward)




December 31
Note 2018 2017
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
Company
Capital stock® 16 R2,842,174 R2,655,707
Addlitional paid-in capital 12,769,730 10,740,079
Retained eamings 16 45,295,494 40,343,598
Other comprehensive income:
Cumulative unrealized valuation gain on equity securities
designated as FVOCI (formerly classified as AFS
financial assets) 10 22,891,678 23,432,497
Revaluation surplus 12 3,103,638 75,850
Accumulated remeasurement gain on retirement liability 21 45,350 45,350
86,948,064 77,293,081
Less:
Farent Company's shares held by a subsidiary 16 16,881,220 16,881,220
Cost of treasury shares 16 1,214 1,214
70,065,630 60,410,647
Nencontrolling interests 4,508 4,867
Total Equity 70,070,138 60,415,514
R99,362,700 R83,614.975
Book Value Per Share*® 23 R48.081 PA7.538

See gccompanying Nates to Consolidated Financial Statements.

*The Securitios and Exchange Commission approved the 10-far-1 Stock Split (Stotk Split) of Alphatand Corporation on December 10, 2018 Boak
value per share is computed based on the total outstanding shares before the effect of stock spiit.  This informnation is intended as
zdditlonal information for management reporting purposes anly.




ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Amounts in Thousands, Except for Earnings per Share)

Years Ended December 31

Nate 2018 2017 2016
REVENUES 19 B2,877,819 R2,483,427 B2,335,748
COSTS AND EXPENSES 20
Cost of real estate sold 859,354 834,340 1,094,857
Cost of services 646,589 360,468 285, EB4
General and administrative 1,237,330 B74,784 528,056
2,743,273 2,069,591 1,908,797
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Gain on fair value changes of investmeant
properties 11 7,453,516 11,471,819 10,007,052
Interest expense and other finance charges 15 (321,345} (365,727} (294,740)
Other gains (losses) - net (100,857) 51,476 71,431
7,031,314 11,157,568 9,783,734
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 7,165,860 11,571,403 10,210,685
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX 22
Current 68,380 58,161 87.084
Deferred 2,369,177 3,344,210 3,046,778
2,437,557 3,402,371 3,133,862
NET INCOME 4,728,303 8,169,032 7,076,823
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Nat to be reclossified to profit or loss in
subsequent years:
Revaluation increase 12 4,365,148 9,515 103,828
income tax effect (1,287,956} (2,854) (31,148)
3,077,192 6,661 72,680
Unrealized valuation gain on equity securities
designated as FVOCI 10 1,084,338 - -
Income tax effect {162,651) - -
921,687 - -
Remeasurement gain (loss) on retirement
liability 21 - 22,504 {1,346)
To be reclassified to profit or loss In subsequent
wears:
Reclassification adjustments on disposal of AFS
financial assets 10 - {216,038) (108,495)
Unrealited valuation gain on AFS financial
assets 10 - 58,146 725,080
Income tax effect - 15,789 {61,665)
- (142,103} 554,930
3,998,879 (112,938} 626,264
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME P8, 727,182 RE, 056,004 ®7,703,087

{Forward)




Years Ended December 31

Nete Z_E_);S ) 217 2036
Narincome attriputahle o
Fq.ity heldees of the Parent Campany R4 727,912 B3, 67,002 B7.076,408
Morcontrolling nierests _ ) 391 1370 ai7
B B3, 728,303 B2 CESEAL RF DM, R23
Tatak cerorehensive nocome attributable 1o:
Equity holdars af the Farent Company BB, 726,751 £4,05, R RY TOL ATD
MNencantroling interasts . 341 L3ie ! 417
___Pa,727,182 B8 05E,004 R7,703,087
Total Lomprehensive Income Per Share*
Based onwe ghied average ~omber of shares
o-atstand:ng sefore the effert of ciock sp.o 23 R®E 398 L - #5 044

Ao ofeaenpusping Moles 1 Consahdzied Finanoel Statemeats.

Tojal cornprebensive noome pe- sadre s compoeiod boased or weiphted ave:sge murues 2f shiaces colsiznding Defcre fhe offec of slodk spat
weayh wos approved oy the 3CZ on Decoreber 38, J018. iz i onnengn i inlended as atdiionzt isformation for management reporting

purposus coby,




ALPHALAND CORPORATION AND SU BSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED $TATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
{amounts in Thousands)

Years Ended Becember 31

. Nets 2018 017 2015
CAFITAL STOCK 1
Balance at beginning of year RZ,655,707 w2, 555,707 ®2,635 707
Additions 186,467 - ) -
Baiance at end of year 2,342,174 2655707 2,855.707
ACDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL
Szlarce at beginning of vear 10,740,079 10739033 10,733,039
Sdditions 2,029,651 - -
Cacess of acquisitianr price Dve[_:@pquil'ed irtzrest 1,040 -
Gulunce at end of year 12,769,730 161, 740,079 10,739,030
RETAINED EARNINGS
Ba ance at beginning of vear 40,343,598 32,172,440 25 1195,300
Met Irogme 4727912 Bl 602 2,076,405
Feclassification adjustments on disposal of equ-ty
securities desipnatec as B0 i 185,059 - -
Arnortizalion of revalugtion surplis 52,918 3481 EEL
Changes on nitial applcation of FIRS 9 7] _ {17,993 - -
ialance at end of vear 45,295,494 40,343,598 22,172,443
CUBAULATIVE UNREALIZED VALUATICHN GAIN
OM EQUITY SECURITIES DESIGNATED AS FYOL!
{FORMERLY CLASSIFIED AS AFS FINANCIAL
ASSETS) 10
Balance at hoginning of year 23,432,457 23,574,600 23,015,670
Effect of zhange in taw rate £1,301,805) - .
Unreahzed valuation gain 921,687 52,331 B52 580
kactazsification adjusiments on disposal (160,701) 1194,434) [5¢,250]
Balance at end of year 22,891,678 23,432,497 25574500
REVALUATION SURPLLIS 12
Bdlance ot heginning of year 75,850 72 680 -
Revaluation g2in 3,077,192 £.621 73,414
Amortiration of rev:aluation ST UG . . (49,404} (3,495 1734
Balance at end of year ' 3,103,638 75,850 2,680
ACCUMULATED REMEASUREVIENT GAIN
ON RETIREMENT LIABILITY
Balante at beginning of year A5 330 22 846 24,192
Remeasurerment ga:n {loss) an retirement hability u_21 — 72804 i1,348)
E-alan-:a.f__at_.:e_ncl of year 85,350 45 350 22,846
FARENT COMPANY'S SHARES HELD
BY A SURSIDIARY 16
Selance ot beginaing of vear {16,881,220) {16,8.7,9721 [16,817.972)
additians - (53,248 -
Balance at end of yaar (16.881,220) {16,881 220] (16.517.573

IFarward]



years Ended Decernber 31

o Mute 2018 2017 2516
TREASURY SHARES io
Salarce ar beginning of vear (Rr1,214) |®12.214; [R1,21&}
Aelssuance - 11.0¢0 -
Addit-ans . ) - 111.000)
Balance at end cof yeat _ {1,214) 3,214} 112,214
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Balange at beginning of year a &&87 & 610 4,123
AL quisticon (750) iL,068) -
Sharein
et incarne 391 1,370 417
Other cor prehensive s - f44) -
Bafarice at end of year 4,508 4,867 4,610
R70,070,128 £e0415,5°4 £52.411, 741

Sar cecompan g Motes 1o Conscddoted Fraanoal Statemeals,
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ALPHALAND CORPGRATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
{Amounts in Thousands)

¥Years Endeg December 31

Male 2018 2017 2016
CASH FLOWS FROM QPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income 2=fame income Yix ®7,165,860 R11371405 ®10,210.685
Adiusterants for;
Gain on fa r value changes of investment
propertes L {7,433.516) (11471819} {10,007,052)
interest sepense and vther finance charges 15 321,345 365 727 204 740
Cepweciztian @nd amertization 13 296,100 124 567 121.860
Loss on torfeitures snd cancetlation 7 197,387 . -
Interest ingome & 1170331 [17.764) 19,635}
Jnrealized foreign exchange Inssas 3,084 117 1,885
Gain on sale of AFS financizl assets 10 - (123.152) (108,500}
Equ-ty in net boss [income] of an astooame a o - 1,387) 1,135
Cperating income before warking captal changes 513,727 A48 533 495,122
Dacregse fnoreasse! 1
T'rade and athor recs vables (232,876} (738 943) 458,383}
Land and deveiopmont costs and parke lots
{or sile |153,250) {337,457 453,693}
Other current assels (15,848) {384.624) 210,506
inoTease in;
Trade and ather oayables 277,383 371031 1,062,591
Custome s’ depasits 98,594 71,.42 23,941
Rasremnent lighelity . 3 0,058 lasw 7454
net cash ponerzted from fused for] operatons 57,748 1854 553) BG4.928
ingome tanes paid (46,718} {17 866) (82,091}
Irtzrest received 11,803 17,7164 £9,635
Mot tash prowided by (sed inf oseranng activities | 472,523 1854.655] 532,472
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTHITIES
Adddtions to:
Praperty and equipment 11,6833,160) {435.C10% [50R,326)
Imyrstment properties 11 {208,7771 133,459} [326,678)
Erquity securit es designated sy FUYOC! {70,420] - -
Sifiware 13 {5,796} - {154)
Froceeds from:
Sl of equity securilies Sesignuted 3y PV
[formerby ¢lassitied a5 AFS financial assets) Z15.4ri 158,25 13,820
Dispasal of property and cgu prient 35,417 - -
Rescission of sale and disposal of invgstaant
Arooerties - 221,279 -
Jsgrease (increase. iny
Advances 1o ra ated companias [342,331] (364, J06) 1445 730)
Dtner noncurrent assets 134 658 18,904) 52,517
lnveskment in and zdvances ic an adsoziate {750] 9,671 -
Advantes 1o an associate - 1,683 [E55]
Met tash used in investing activities {1,275.218) {460, 526) 11,094,247

"Forward)




years Ended December 31

Nots 2018 207 2016
CASH FLOWWS FROM FINANTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds frow
Issuance of wew shares 2,215,118 B— R
awzilments of lorg-term dabt 782,737 £,530.142 2,157,784
Payments ot
Long-term debt {1,193,853) 16,318,627 {1,713 541}
Interest and other finance charges [285,078) t605,94%! [231610;
Ing-ease (e mase]
Ardvionoes from “elated companies 163,488 73,071 34,013
Cthar noncurrent liatuities 9,792 A A9L) (2,121
aurchase of Parent Campany shares held by a
subs.diary LG - [63,248] -
Movements in treaswy shares 16 - 21,020 111,9400)
Me: cash provided by financing activitias 1,682,204 500,732 233511
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
OM CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,584) i1 317 __1L.BEYJ
MET INCREASE [DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
ECIUIVALENTS o 276,325 {759,858} [28.149)
CASH AND CASH EQUHVALENTS AT BEGIMNING
OF YEAR
Cash and pash eguivalents 7 215,553 255,148 453,23
Rastricted cash & 1,188 r20.526 552,038
o 216,776 876,074 1,004,821
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EMD OF YEAR
Czsh and cash equivaisnts ) 118,157 213,503 256,146
Restricted cash 5 _ 382,904 1,i83 720,526
o P493.101 ¥216,776 RS fh,b 3

SEF COCmTEAnMAR Naies fo Consuhdpied Fironoi Srnecreniy




ALPHALAND FORPORATIUN AND SUBSIE:IHI_ARiES
NOTES TO CONSCLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corpgrate Matiers

Corporate Information
Alphaland Corporation fALPHA or Pareni Company) 18 a holding company incorparated and
registered with the Philippine Securities and Exchange Cemmission {3EC) on November 1%, 1990,
The principal business of ALPHA and its subsid:aries {coliectively referred to as the “Group”) is rea’
property developmant.

The registered office address of ALPFEA s Aiphaland Maxari Flace, 7732 Ayaia Ave. ext, cor. Wialugay
Street, Makati City,

The consolidated financiat statements as at December 31, 2018 and 217 and for 2ach of the three
years ended (ocember 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 wave approved and authorized for issuance by the
Fuecutive Cornmittee of the Board of Jirectors (BODY) on January 29, 2013,

ALPRA's Lagal Subsidiaries as at December 31, 2018 and 2017

Fereantage of

Place af Owrership
Comgany o ) incarparation Meiura of Busisess 2018 2017
alphaland Suu{hgaie Towed, Ing. [ASTI} Philippines faal property development G0 100
Alptaland Baiesir [sland Resert Corporatien
tARBIRL) Phisippings Real propesty cewve opment 100 g
Alphaland Makat: Place, inc. (AMEL e Phizpines RE#d propnety ceve opment 100 1K)

Alphaland Bape i Mountain og HoTies, Inc

{ABMSLHI Philippries feal propersy develcpment 100 100
Alunatand Balesin internatonal Gateday,

e (farrmesty Afzhaland Balesin

Gatewnsy, Inc.) (ARG Fhiliz:pines Real proparty devescpmand 100 10
Alphaland Recia maton Corporation (ARC) Rla%izines Real property deueioprmant 100 1ca
7358 Blue Hedings, tnc. 1Blue Holdings) ™ Plrulip-sines Helding fompany ilis] 150
Alpkaland Sowthgate Hestaurants, Inc (B4R}

tet Philipsaes Rpslanrint gperdlons 100 100
Alphaland intarrational, Ino. LAl Fhilippnes Helding carsnny 104 10
Alphalrnd Avkation, [No. Tt Frilippinas AVIAT GO 100 oG
Alpnaiand Aviat on - Pampanga, Inc. APl Prilippines SaTian 1090 100
aegle Wellnoss Center, inc. (AW Prabmpirws Wallress conter 140 100
Alphzland International, Inz. - BY] British Virgin

|stznds Helding company 100 1020
&cphaland tnternatonal, ing. - Sevehalles Cevrhelas HECInE Carngs ny 108 1030
superjace Enterprises limitéa FamE L2 Folomp campary 100 1aC
Aagle Drugstare Inc. (ADI) E ) Peitippres Fraimasy {411 G
¢amice Insurance Brokerage, lac (BN Paiippires Inturarce brokerage 100 a7
Alphaforce Sacurity Agendy, Inc. |A5A[1 ! B~ ppires STV 2EENy 2q B3
Fudsipre Mountain Heloings Ing [RMAS Y PRelippines Helding company 160 -
Ladgepale kaldings. dne {LHD 14 PRpgines Holding compary 100
Rt FapLio Ho'cing Estates [nc. (RIBHEN) L Philippines Hoiding compadry 100

iForward]
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Changes in Group Struciure during 2018 and 2017

Al was incorporated ond registerad with the Philippine SEC on [2ecember 22, 2017 prirmarly £
gngage i the businzss of retailing or who'esalitg of pharmaceuctical products, medicines,
fuodstuffs and groceries.

Rlue Holdings initiaily subscribed io 15,745,996 common shares of C1B1 representing 70% of its
outstanding shares in Movermber 2012, in October 2017, Blee Holdings purchased additional
6,00¢,000 common shares from an existing shareholder for 5.0 million resulting 1o 2n increase
ir ownership of CIBI ta 97%. th Cecember 2048 the remaining interest was obiained by 8lue
Holdings making C:BI ks whelly-owned subs.diary.

CIB{ was incarporated and registered with the Phelippine SEC on Novembar 6, 2012 primarily to
engage, conduct, carry on and maintain insurance business, to act as a broker, and 1o do ather
related act'vities.

ALPHA intially subscribed 1o 79,899 commen shares of ASAl reprosesting 40% of its outstanding
shares in arch 2013%, which was t1en accourted for as an associate. In Oclober 2017, ALPHA
purchased additionad 79,958 cocmmon shares fram an existing sharehelder for #21.2 million
increasing its awhership of ASAI 1o 80% [soe Mote 93

ASAl was incorparated and registered with the Philippine SEC on March 18, 2011 primarily to
engage in the business of providing security and investigation services to private institutions and
Fovernmen: organizations.

Top of the alpha was neorporated and registered with the Philippine SEC on May 22, 2018
primarily to gstablish, maintain and operate recraurants, coffee shops, refrestment parlors and
cocktaif lounge,

Aipha Sutes wat incorporated and registerad with the Philippine 3EC o June 11, 2018 prima~ily
to deal and engege in the real estate bus'ness in all its aspects; 10 held, develop, manage,
administer, s&il, convey, creamber, purchase, acquire, rent or otherwise deal inand dispose of,
for itselF or for cthars, all kinds of reat estate projects.



'EEEEREREY

BMHI EH! BBHEI and PH were incorporates and registered with the Philippine SEC primar y 1o
invest in, purchase, ar ptherwise acguire and own, hold, se:l, assign, fransfer, mortgage, pledge,
exchange or otherwise dispose, as may be permittcd by taw, of real ard personsl praperty of
every kind and description. These entities were incorporated in 2018,

Sienificant Qperating Subsidiaries

.

8571 was incorporated and registerad with the Philippine SEC on May 23, 2007 as Alphaland
Corporation. The Philippine 3EC approved the change o its corporate namez to “Alphaland
Development, Inc.” on Docember 28, 2009 and thes 1o “Alphaland Sousthgate Tawer, Inz.” on
Dctober 15, 2015

ASTHs primary purpnse is ta engage inreal property acquisition and develcpment. AST!s main
property is a 20-storey office tower building with a six-storey padicm shopping mall known as
Alphaland Southgate Tower {see Note 11}

ABIRC was incorpotated and registered with the Philipping SEC on May 26, 2010 primarily 10
invest in, purchase, or otherwise zoguire and own, hold, uae, s=ll, azsign, traasfer, morgage,
pledge, and exchunge or olhorwise dispese, as imay be germiited by e, of real and pessona
property of every kind and description,

ABIRC has investrmant in preferred shares of Alphaland Balesin Island Club, Inc. {ABICH
[see Mote 10

AMF| was incorporated and registered with the Philipgine SLC on March &, 1991 as Silvertown
Property Develooment Corporation. On February 26, 2010, the Fhilippine SEC approved the
change incosporate name 10 “Alphatand Makati Place, Inc”

AMPES primary purgase is to acguire by exchange of chares, purchase and lease a speeific
moperty described as three-storey building with basemen: of strong materials together w th the
warehouse, other land improvements and machinery and egquipment as well as the leasehold
rights on the tand, which is situated ap Avala Avenue cormer Malugay Street, Makati, Metro
hanila.

AMP: entered iate a 0Nt veature with the Boy Suouls of the Philippines [BSP) to develop the
hMaiugay Property inta @ first cluss commuoercial developmaont now known as Alphaland Makati
Place (see Mote 4} 1t 5 a mixed-use propersy developmient consisting of two [2) high end
residential towers and one {1} corporate towuer atop an upscale six-staray podium with a
shopping center and a City Clab, includirg a Boy Scout Convention Center.

AMPI hzs investment in preferred sheres of The City Club at alphaland Maketi Place, 'ne.
iTCCAMP {see Note 10).

ABMLHI was incarpoested and -egistercd wilh 1he Phiippine SEC an January 17, 2013 as
Alphaland Moldings Compony, Inc, On September 7, 2016, the Philizpine SEC approved the
change in corporate name te “Alphalznd Bagulo Mogntain Loe Hormes, g™



ABMLHI'S primary purpose is to deal and engage in the reai estate business :nall its aspects; ta
hold, develop, manage. administer, sell, convey, ercumber, purchase, acguire, rent, or
otnerwisa deal in and dispose af, fur itzelf or for others, 3l «inds of real scrate progects,
invoiving commercal, industrial, urban, residential or other kinds of rest property. im proved or
unimproved, with or to such persens and eniities and unders such terms and conditions as may
be perrnitted by law,

e, AAL and AAP| were incorporated and registered with the Philippine 5EC on July 31, 2012 and
Docermbar 5, 2016, respectively, primarily to engage in aviation dustry and its related
businessas, including Sut not limited to, the provision of hangarage and maeorage, parking and
landing operalions, aircraft maintenance, supply of parts, ciis, and lubricants and other related
businesses.

Mator Sources of Funds

Ciperations. Tae Group generates funds primarily from sgle of condominium units snd parking
spaces at Alphatand Makari Place, Baguio Meuntain Lodzes. and Balesin Private Viila; from maz'l and
leasing cperations of Alphsland 3outhgate Tower and alphaland Makatt Place Mall ang Corporate
Tower, and; from the operation of the serviced residences of The Alpha Subtes that commenced in
the first haif of 2018,

The Group also generates funds from serondary saie of membership shares of completed Chuk
projects, namely, Alphzland Baiesin Is'and Ciug and Tie City Club at alphaiand Makati Flace.

Horrgwangs, ALPHA, ABICI, ABIRC, AMPI znd ASTI has an Omnibus Lozn and Security Agreerrent
{GLSA) with BDO Unibank, inc. {3000 for a oan factlity of BB, 725.0 million far the purpose of:
ia] refinancing the Group's loans; (b) financing new and oa-going projects and (¢ providing
additional warking capital for the Group.

AAP and AA) both entered into an Amortized Cownmercial Loan [ACL} egreement with BOO Leasing
and Firanece, Inc. (BDOLFI) for a loan facility of 265.2 million and RID3.0 miilicn, respectivaly, for
the purpose of financing the acquisit.on of two ATRT2 Turboprop Alrcratt.

Cantract To Sell (€TS) Finorzing. ABMLHI ootained o C15 financ ng fac lity with BDO amounting 1o
£300.0 millien far the purpoze of refinancing the company's CTS receivables under the terms and
conditions of a3 Memarandum of Agreament (MOA) dated October 30, 2018 between BOC and
ABMLHI

Aggregase lean availments amounted to F782.7 mifion and #6,530.1 million in 2028 and 2917,
respechivery (see Note 150

Events after the Reporting Period

Assigrnment of GLSA with B00. ‘The iong-term |oan with BDO ander the OLSA dated Fetruary 15,
2017, amounting to R5,653.2 million inclusive of interest and adjustments as of lanoary 23, 2018,
was assigned effective on the same date by BDC to Philippine Bank of Communications - Trust and
Wea'th Mansgemen: Group pursuant to an Assignmoent Agreement dated Janaary 23, 2018 botween
the parties.



Pussibie Sole of Alphalond Southgate Tower, ASTYis currently in negotiatians with a third party for
the sale of Alphaland Southgate Tower. Howeva-, as aT lanuary 2% 2015, there is no defin tive
agreement regarding the sale. The sale is conditioned on obtaining reievant repulztery ciearanees.
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Sunﬂmaw of Significant Accuunti};g policies

Basis of Preparation and Statement of Compliance

The conselidated faancial statements of the Group have been prepared in compliance with
Philippine Einancial Reporting Standards [PFRS) issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting
standards Council and adopted by the SEC, includ ng SEC pronouncements. This financial reporting
framework includes PFRS, Philippine Acccunting Standards (PAS), and Philippine nterpretations
from international Financial Reporting interpretations Committee (IFRIC).

Weasurement Bases
The cansolidated fingncial statements are presanted in Phifipoine 2eso, the Group's functiongl
carrency. Ali amounts are rounded to the nearest thousands unless otherase stated.

The consolidated financial statements of the Groua have been prepared un g historical cost basis,
except far the foflowing:

s Equity securities designeted as fair walue throwgh other comprehensive income [FVOLs:
[torme-ly class:fied as avelabie-Tor-sale [AFS}financial assets];

¢ |nvestment properties which are measured at lair value; and

»  Aircrafts and serviced residences prosented under "Property ard cquipment” account which a%e
stated at revalued amount: and

Fistarical vost is generally based on the fair value af the consideration given in exchange of assels
and fair value of the considesatian received in exchange forincurring a liabilivy,

Zair value is the price that wouid be received 1o seli an asset or pad o transfer a liability in an
ordetly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group uses market gbsarvable datz to a possible extent when measuring the fair value of an
asset ar a liability, Fair values are categorsized into different lovels inoa Fair value higrarchy Sased on
inpLts used in the valuation technigues as faflows:

+ Level 1- Quoted [unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabititres,

v ievel 2 - Vaiuation technigues for whicn the fowest level input that is significant 12 the fair vaiue
measurement is diectly or indirectly observable.

s Level 3 - Yaluation technigues for whizn the lewest level inout that is significant to the fa'r value
measurement is uriobservabie,

If the inputs used to measure the far value of a0 gsset of & liabiiy might be categorized .0 differem
leveis of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair va ug rmeasurcment is categorized in its entirety in the
samme level of the fair value nierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire
measurament.



The Group recogrizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the regorting
per:od during which the change has gccurred.

Further information abeut the assumptions made in measuring fair vatues is included in Notes 10,
11,12 and 25,

Adoption of New and Amended PFRS

Tne accounting policies adopied are consisient Wwith those of the previous financial year, cucept for
the adoption of the fodowing new and amended PERS which the Group adopted effecive for annual
periods beginning or or after lannary 1, 2078

» PFRY 9, Finangiof Wstruments ~ This standard replaces PAS 30, Finondial Instruments:
Recognition and  Measwrement {and all the previous wvers:ons of PFRS 3L f1 contams
requirements for the tlassificaticr and measuiermen of fikanciat assets and Fnancial [Fabilities,
impairment, hedge accounting, recogrition anc derecegrition,

5 PFAS 9 reguires all recognized financial assets to pe siehsequantly mzasured at amortized
cost or fair value (through profit or loss or through other cumprehensive income [OC),
depending on the classification by reference to the business model within which these are
held ane its contractual cash flow charscteristics.

For financial liabilities, the amount of change in fair value of a financial liab lity designated
as fair value thiough grodit or oss (FVEL) tnat is attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liabitity is recognized in GCI {rather than i profit or loss), unless this creates an
accosunting mismatch,

-

5 For the impairment of financial assets, PFRS 9 introduces an “expected credit loss” model
based on the concept of providing for expected losses at incepton of a contrace
Racognition of a credit joss should no fenger wait for there o be chjective evidence of
impairment.

¢ For hedge accounting, PERSY introduczs 2 substantial overiaul allowing financial
statements o better reflect how risk management activities zre undertaken when hedg:ng
financial and nonfinancial Tisk exposures.

~  The derecognition provisions are caried cver almost unchangod from PAS 39.

A< ailowsd under transitasy provisions of 9FRS S, the Growp applicd the reqairements of 2FRS S
relrospectively but cpted nol 10 restate the comparative infarmation.

The Group has performed en assessment and determined the following impact of PFRS S onits
financial instruments:

Classification and Measurement. On the date of initial apelication. January 1, 2C15, the Group
made tha following reclzssifications:

lil  Trade and other receivables and other financial assets that wera classified as lpans and
receivahiss under #AS 35 are now classilied as financial assets at amaortized CosL. Tnese
financial astets are held o ccliect contractual cash flows and give rise to cash flows
representing solely payments of principal and interest.
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fii)  The Group’s investment in preferred shares of ABICH{I1sland Cluk) and TCCAMPI{City Club}

classified as AFS financial assets under PAS 34 will cantinue to be measured at fair value
under PFRS 9. These investments are intended to be disposed of gver tima to thitd parties.
As permitted by PFRS 9, the Group made an irrevocable designation to present in QCl the
changes in fair valle of thesa investments. Undike PAS 38, 1he accumulated gains or lossos
prosented in OCF related to these investments will not be wubseguentiy reclsssfied te prefit
crins;.

“he Croup has not designated any financial lizbilities as at FVPL There are no changes in
classificatian and measurement for Lhe Group's financial liabilities.

The application of the classification and meastrement requirements under PFRS 9 did not
materially affect the carrying amaunts of tne Grodp's finangial instruments as at January 1,
1B,

impoirment. The new impairment requirements do not resdlt to addit:onal provision for
impairment with respect 1o wade receivables and contract assets rom real estzte sales because
tne credit exposure arising from these financial assets was mitigated by the Group's policy that
Gitle transfer should be dene anly upon full paynent and the Group can take possession of the
cubiect property in case the buyer fails to pay tha autstanding belance.

+ga- brade receivables arising from other bosiness segments, the Group aophies the simplified
aporoach in measuring the expected credit losses. This approach does not irack changes in
credit risk, but instead recognize an allpwance for ‘mpairment lo3ses based on |fetime exprcted
ecredit Iosses.  This resulted in an increase of the allawance for impairment losses with a
corresponding dectine in retained earnings as at lanuary 1, 2018 by R18.0 million.

While cash and cash eguivalents are subject to the ‘mpa‘rment regquirements of 5FR3 @, the
resJlting impairment loss is not sipnificant arimarily necause the placements are with reputable
counterparty banks that possess good crecit -atings.

Ear other ‘inancial assets &1 amortized cost whicn mainly comprise related party transactons,
the PFRS 9 impairment regulrements do not result to significant expected eredit oss. In
performing the assessment, the Group tonsidered the available fiquid asscis of the related
parties and the l2tter of support from the stockhclders.

Hedging. The Group dogs not nave transactions that will requite the use of hedge accounding.

PFRS 15, Reverwe from Contro¢t with Customers — The new standard replaces FAS 11
Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue, and ralated interpretations. It establishes a single
comprehansive framework for revenue recogmtion to apply cansistently across transactions,
industries and capital markets, with a care principle {based on a five-step model to be applied 2o
ali contracts with customers), enhanzed disclosuras, 2nd new or improved puidance,

The “ollowing ase the related literatures issued subsequent to adeption of 2FRS 15:

o  Amendments ta PERS 15, Reverue from Contract with Customaers - Clarification 1o PRRS 15 -
The arrendments provide c.arifications on: [a) identifying performance ooligations,
{b} princinal versus agent consideratiors; and {c] licensing. The amendments aisc provide
some transition relef for modified contracts and completed tontracte.
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o Philippine Interpretations Committee {PIC) Q&A No. 2016-04, Applicotion of PFRS 15
Revenue From Controcts with Customers on Saig of Residentiol Properlies under
Fre-completion  Contracts — The interpreation  provides implementatic  guidance
specifically whether the sale of a reside ntial property unit under pre-completion stage by a
real estate developer that enters into a CTS with @ buyer —meets the criteria for revenue
fecognition over tima,

-~ PiC O&A No 2018-12, PFRS 15 implementation Issues Affecting the Real Estate industry —
The interpretation addresses some implemantation issues affecting reaf estate ndustry due
to changes brought about by the adoptien of PFRS 15,

SEC Mamarandam Circular No. 14, Series of 2018, PIC Q&A 2018-12 Implementation fssues
Affecting the Real Cstate tndustry — The Circular provides relef 1o the real estate industry by
deferring the application of the wrevisicns of the PIC O&A 2008-12 with respect ta the
accounting for significant finahoing component, Jrirstalied materials and tae exclision of
land in the calculation of percentage of completion, for a period of three years. This deferral
will oniy be applicable for real estate transactions, Effective lanuary 1, 2021, real astate
companies will adopt PiC Q8A 2018-12 and any subseguent amendments thareof
retrospretively or as the SEC will later prascrioe.

L]

The Group has adopted PFRS 15 using the cumulztive effect method which requites that the
cumulative effect of appiying the now stendard s recognized at the begianing of the year of
istitial appiicztion. Accordingly, the information presanted for 2017 and 2016 have not been
restated. Further, the disclosuere requirements in PFRS 1% have not generaily been appled 1o
comparative informaticn.

Prigr to adaption of PFRS 15 and its related issuanees, e Grouw s al-eadhy LSIngG *he percentage
of comgpletion methed in determining the revenue from real estate transactions.  1he Group
also availed of tne reiief provided by SEC Memorandum Circutar to. 14, Series of 2018, With
these, the application of PFRS 15 has 1o significant impact or the Groun's real estate
mransactions except for the recognition of contract assers with a corresponding decrease in
trade receivabies amounting ta B217 6 millon as al December 31, 2018 (see Note &k Had the
Graup opted to adept in full the guidance prov.dad in PIC O&A 2013-12, it i< anticipated that
there will be a decrease in the revenue from roal ostate sales due 1o a lower percentage of
complation.

FFRS 1% dia npt Fave a sienificant impact on the Group’s other revenue strézms.

Arrendmants to PERS 2, Share-based Pavment - Clossification and Meusurement of Share-based
Payment Tromsactions — The amendments clarify the effects of vesting and mon-vesting
conditions on the measurement of cash settled share-based payment transactions, the
accounting for share-based payment transactions with a net seitlement feature for withholding
rax obligations, and the effect of a modification to 17e terms and conditien of a share-based
payment 7hat changes the classification of the tranzaction from cash-settled to eguity settled.

Amendments to PAS 28, tavestments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Meosuring an Assgliole
or Joint Venture at fair Value — The amendments are part of the Anaual Improvements to
PFRS 2064 2016 Cycle and clarify that the election to measure at fair value through arofit or loss
an investment in an associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital
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organization, mutual fund, unir trust or other qualifying entity, is available for each inwvestment
in an associate ar joint venture onan investment-by-investment basis, upon initial recognition.

+  Amondments to PAS 20, fnvestment Praperty - Tronsfers of lnvestment Property — The
amerdments clardy that transfers to, or from, nvestrment property lincluding assets under
construction and development} should Le made when, and oaly when, there is evidence that a
change in use of a preperty has oocurred.

s Philippine Interpretation from IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Tronsactfans ond  Advance
Considerofion — The interpretation provides guidince clarifying that the exchange rate to use in
tramsactions that involve advance consideration pald ¢r received in a foreign currendy is the one
at the date of iritial recognition of the nen-monetary prapayment assel of defarred inccme
liakdity.

The adoption oF the foregeing new and amended PFRS did mot have any material effect on the
cansolidated financial stazemenis except for PERS 9 ard 15 a$ discussed in the foregoing. Additionzl
disclosures have been inc.uded in the notes to consclidated fnancial statenents, as applicable.

New and Amended PFRS in Issue But Not Yet EFfective

Relavant new and amended PFRS which ara nos yet effective Bor the yvear ended December 31, 2018
and have not been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements are sumemarized
Below,

Cffective for anaual periods peginning on or after January 1, 2019:

v PFa516, ieases — This standard repiaces PAS 17, Leases, and 13 refated imteraretations. The
most significant change introduced by the new standard is thar almast afl leases will be brought
onto lessees” stalement of fi1aazial nosiwion under a single model ‘except leases of iess than
12 manths and Teases of low-value assets], eliminating the distincton between aperating and
finance icases. Lessor accaunting, howewer, remains largely unchanged and the distinction
betwean gperating and finance lease ‘s retained.

s Amendmenis to PAS 28, Lona-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures = The amendmeant
clarifies that an entity should apply PFRS 9, includ™ng its impairment requirements, 1o long-term
interasts in an asiociate or joint venture that form part of the net investmant in the associate or
joint venture to which the equity mathod is not acplied.

o Amendments to PERS 9, Prepayments Fearures with Negotive Compensation = The amendment

provides a narrow-scope amendment t¢ PFRS 3 to 2nable companies to Mmeasure et amortized
cest some prepayabia financial ascets witt negative compensation.

Deterred effectivity -

¢  Amendment to PEFRS 10, Consofidoted Fnancal Stotements, and PAS 28, nvestments in

Associgtes ang Joimt Ventures - Sole or Tontripstion of Assets Between gn fMvestar and iy
Aszociote or Joint Yenture — The amendments address a cur-ent conflict between ihe two
standards znd clarify that a gain or loss should be recognized fulty when the transaction inuclves
a business, and partially if it involves assets that do not constiiute a business. The effective date
of the amendmerts, intially set for annia; periods beginning on or after January , 2018, was
deferred indefirtely in December 2015 hur earlier application is still permitted.



SEEFIEEERERRER

REERRERREEEEBREERE

=10 -

Under prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS is not
expected to have any material effect on the corsolidated ‘inancial statements of the Group.
additional disclosures will ba included in the consoiceted finenciat statements, as applicasie.

Basis of Consalidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accourts of the Parent Company ang its
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities controled by the Parent Compamy. Certrol is achioved when
Lhe Parent Company is cuposed, or has right, to varizble returns from its investment with the
invastee and it has tha ability to affect thoss returas throwgh s powers over the investee.

Subsidiarias are conselidated from the date of 2cquisition ar incorpoeretien, heing the dale un which
the Parent Company obtains control, and continue to be consalidated unt | the date such control
caaces, Assets, Yabikitics, income and expenses of o subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are induded in the consolidated tinancal statements from the date the Group gains canizol
until the date the Group ceases to controf the subsid-ary.

The financial statements of the subsidisries are prepared for the same Teporting perigd as the
Parent Company, using consistent accounting polizies. Al intre-greup batarces, transactions,
unreal zed gaing and losses resulting from intra-grouws wranssctions and dividends are elirninated in
full.

A change in the ownersaip interest of a subsid-ary, without a loss of control, is accounted fo- 25 an
equity transaciion.

Whan the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 't
nas power over the investee when the voting rights arce sufficient to yive it the practical atility 12
direct the relevant activitics of 1na investoe unilaterally, The Perart Carmpany cansiders all relevant
facts and circumstances [ assessing waether it has power cuer an investee, including:

s The size of the Parent Company's holding of voting rights relative ta the size and dispersion of
holdings ¢ the cther vote holders;

= The cantractual arrangement with the cther vate holders of the investee;
r  Righis arising from other conbractusl arraagerments; or
¢ The “arent Company's voting rights and potentia! vating rights,

The Parent Company re-assesses whethar or not it controls an inveslee if facts and circumstances
ncticate that there ate changes 1o eiements evidencing contrel,

MCl represents the portion of net resu'ts ane net zsaets not held by toe Paren: Company. These are
presented in the consolidated slatements o financial position within equity, apart from equity
attribulaale to equity holders of the parent and are separately disclosed in the cohsoiidated
statements of comprehensive income. NCI pertains to the equity interest in ASAl as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017 and CIBI 45 at December 31, 2017,

Losses within a subsidiary a-e attzibuted to tne NOVeven if thal resuits in a deficit palance.
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If te Parent Campany koses cantrol over a subsidiary, it

»  Derecognizes the assers and liabl:ies of the farmer subsidiacy from the consolidated
ststements of financial oosition;

+ Reccenizes any investment retained in she former subsidiary when control is [ost and
subseguanty accounts for it and for any amounts awed by or 10 the former subsidiary b
sccordance with relevant PERS. That retained interest is remessured and the remeasured value
is »egarded as the fair value on initial recogrition of a fingne:al asset in accerdance with PFRS 9
or, when approzriate, the st on isitizl recognition of an investment noar associate or joint
yenture; and

» Reccgnizes the galn or loss associated with the loss of controb attributable to the foarmer
controfling intarast,

Business Cormbinations and Goodwill - Business combinations are accounted for using the 3cquisition
method. The cost of an acqguisitian is measured as the aggregale e* the ronsideration transterred,
measured at acouisition date fair vatue and Tha amow of any NCI in the acquiree. For each
business combination, the acquirer measures the NCHin the scquires e ther at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiabie nel assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date Fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equily interest in the acquiree is rernrasured to fair value at the acyuisition date and
any resu'ling gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by Lthe acquirer is recognized at fair value at the
auguis tion date. :f the contingent consideration 15 o1 with n the scose of PFRS 9, it is measured in
accardance with the appropriate PERS. Cantitgent consideration ihat is class:fied as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accountec for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the axcess of 17e aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognized for MCI over the net identifiable assets acquired amd
labilities assumed. If tnis consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary accuired, the differance is recognized in profit or loss.

¥ the initial accounting far business cembinatian ¢an be determingd only pravisicnally by the end of
the period by which the cembination is effected. Adjustments to these provisional values as a result
of completing the initial accounting shali be made within 12 months from 1he acquisition date. The
carrying amount of an identifiable asset, liability or rontingent lizhility that is recognized as 3 result
of comgpleting the initial accounting shall be ~alputated as if its fair value at the zcguisition date had
been recognized from that date and goodwil or any gain recognized shalt be adjusted from the
acquisition daze by an amourt equal 1o the adjustment to the fair valuz at the zcquisition date of
the identifianle asset, lability or contingent liability being recognized or admsted,

After initial recogaition, goodwill is measared at cost less any acciamulated immpairment |osses, For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwil acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-gencrating units {CGEU) that are expectad to
benafit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assels or liabilities of the acqui-ees are
assigned to those units,
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Wwhere goodwil: forms part of a CEU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill assoc ated wish the operation cisposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the Zain os ioss on dispasa: of the operation. Goodwitll disposed of in
this circamstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the CGLU retained.

Financial Assets ang | jabilities

Dote of Becognitinn. The Grouvp recegnizes a financ'al asset or a financial 1a bility in the consalidated
staternents of fnancial position when 't becemes a party Lo the contractaal provisians of 2 financial
instrument.  In the case of a regular way purchase or sale of finanzial assets, recognition and
derecognition, 35 applicable is done using settiement date accounting,

Initial Recogaition. F nancial instruments are recognized initiaty at fair valua, which is the fair vatue
at the consideration giver [in case of an asset] or received [in case of a liabiity). The infal
measurement of financial instremenss, except for those designated at fair value through profit and
lass (FWPL), includes transaction Cost.

“Gay 1¥ Difference. \Where the transaction in a nor-active market is different from the fair value of
other absarvable cu-rent market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valiation
technique whose variables include only data from observeble market, the Group recognizes the
difference berween the transaction price and fair value {a “Day 1" difference] in profit or foss. 7
rases where there s no abservabie data on ingeption, the Group deems the transactions [rice as
the bast estimate of fair value and recognizes "Day 1" difference n profit or loss when the inputs
become poservable or when the instrumnent is derecognized. For each transaction, the Group
detarminges the appreprate melhod of recogrizing the “ay 17 difference.

Classificotion of Financiaf Instruments, The Group classifies its financial assets at inftial recognition
under the following categories: [a) financial assets at FVPL, (b} financiak assets a1 amortized CosT and,
(c) financiat assets at FVOC!, Finangial tishilities, on the other hand, are classified as either financia
l-ahilities at FYPL or other financial fiabilitiss at amorlized ¢ost. The classification of a fingaca
instrument largely depends on the Group's business mocel.

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group does not have fingncial assets ard lab:hties 21 FYPL
angt debt instruments measured at FVOCH

Fingrrcigh Assets ot Arnortized Cost. A financial asset shall be measured at amortized cost if both of
the following conditions are met:

o the financiai asset 15 held within a business model whose cojective s to hold finangial assets in
crdar to collect contractual cash flows; and

* the conlractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specfied gates to cash flows that are
sclely payments of pringipal and interest on the principal amount cwistanding.

After initial recognition, financial assets at amartized cost aze subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective imerest method, less allowance for impairment, # any. Amortized cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or prermiem on acquisiticn and fees that are an
inzagral part of the effective interast rate. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
finarcial assets are derecognired and through amortization process. Financial assets at amort 2ed
cost ate inciuded under current assets if regitzabiiity or co lectabilzy is within 12 months after the
sepotting period. Otherwise, thess are classified as noncurrant assets.
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included n this category are cash and cash equivaleats, trade and other receivables [exciuding
advances to officers and emplovees), advances to related companies, restricted cash {oresented
under “Other current assats” accoury), advanoes ta an assecisie and refundakble deposits {presented
under "Other noncurrent assets” account),

Fouity Securitees Desigrated as FYOC! {Storting Januaery 1, 20138). Equty securit:es which are not
neld for trading may be irrevocab 'y designated at initial recognition under the FWOCT category.

Fimancial @ssets at FVEC! are initially measu-ad at fair vaiue plus transackon ¢osts. Aftar indial
recognition, financial assets at FVOC are measured at fair value with unreslized gains or lasses
recognized in OC1 and are inziuded under “Other comprehensve income” account in the equity
section of the consolidated statements of financial position. These far value changes are reccgmezed
in equity and are nat reclassified to profit or i0ss in subsequent periods, On disposal o° these equity
secUrities, any cumulative valuation gains or losses will be reclassified te: retained carnings.

Classified under this catepory are the Graup's investment in shares of stock of tsland Club and City
Clab  In the prior Snancial year, these equity securities are classified as AFS financial assers. Fhe
acoounting po oy for AFS financial assets is set out below:

AFS Fingnciol Assets (Prior to Janvary 1, 2018 AFS financial assets are measured at fair value, The
changes in fair values are recognized in GOl and accumulated in equity until the investment is sald,
cullected, or otherwise disposed of or untif the investmant is determined to be impaired, st which
time the camulative gain or loss previcusiy reperled in equity 2re ing uded in profit or foss,

Finpacial Liakilities gf Arnortized Cost. Financial fiakbilities are categosized as financial liabiities o3
armoriized cost when the substance of the contractual arrengement results in the Group having an
obligation either to deliver cash or another financial asset to the halder, or to settie the obligation
other than by the exchange of a fiked amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number
of its own equity instrurnents,

These linancia- liabiities ara initially re cognized at fair vaiue less sny directly attriutable transaction
costs. AHer initial recognitior, these finangal :aileies are suosequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interesl melhod, Aesortized ¢ost s caiculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on the issue and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
Gains and loss?s are racogrized in profit or joss when the liakilities are derecognized or impaired or
through the amortization process.

This category includes trade and cther payables [excluding depasits from sale, unearned rent
incame and statutory payables), long-term cebt, customers’ deposits and advances from related
Companias.

Reclassification

For a financial asset raclassified out of the financial assets at FYOC! category to finangiai assets at
amortized cosy, amy gain or foss previously recognized in OCl, and any difference between the new
amartized cost and maturity amount, are amortized to profit or 1oss over the remaining life of the
ihvestmernt using the effective interest method. 1f the finarcia’ asset s subsequently imoaired, any
garn of loss that has been recognized in OCI s reclassified from 2auity to profit or loss.
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in the case of a financizl asset that does not have a fxed matar'ty, the gain or loss shall ke
recognized in profit or loss when the financial asset is sold aor disposed. |f the financial asset is
subseguently impairad, any pravious gain or l0ss that has baen recognized in OC| is reclassified from
enuity to profiz or loss,

tmpairment of Financia! Assets at Amortized Cost

The Group recards an allowance for “expected crodit loss.” Expoctod cred:t loss [ECL) is based on
the differance between the contracteal cash flows dog in accordanca with the contract and all the
cash MHows tha the Group expects e receive. Tae difference is then discounted at an approximation
to the asset’s original effective interest rate,

o

The Group has estabiished a provision matrix that is based on the industry’s histerical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forwsrd-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
envirpnmeant.

Derecognition af Financial Assets and Liabilitias

Finanzial Aszets, & f nancial asset {or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group
of sirmilar fimancial assets) is derecognized when:

s the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

+ the Group retains the righs to receive cazh fows from the asset, but has assumed an cbligation
to pay them in full without material delay to s third party under a “pass-through® arrangement;
ar

» the Group nas transferred its right to receive cash flows Trom the asser and eithers [2) has
transterred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (h] has neither transferred nor
retained substantrally all the risks and rewards o ihe asse®, but has transferred zantrol of the
asset.

When toe Group has transferred its right to sreceive cash flows from zn asset and has neither
ransfesrad nor retaned subsiantislly all the risks and rewsards of the asset neor transferred
control of the asset, the asset is recopnized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvernent
in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guzrantee gver the transferrad
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrving amount of the ssset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Greup could be required to repay.

Fingneicl Ligblfities. A financial tiability is derezognized when the ohi gation under tae liability is
dizchsrged, canceffed ar exnired, When an zxisling linancial liability is repiaced by another from
the sarme lender on substantially different terms, or the terms cf on cxisting liability are
substantiatly modified, such an exchange or medification is treated as 2 derscognition of the
original liabifity and the recognition of a new liabHity. The ditference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognized in profit or koss,
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Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities

Finzncial assets and liabilties are offset and the net emount is reported in the consolidated
starements of financial position i, and only if, there is @ currently enforceatyie jegal right to offset
the recognized amoeunts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, of to realize the assels
znd settle the Pabilities simultangoushy.  This iz not generaily the tase with rmaster netting
agreements, ard the related zesets and lizbilities are presenied gross in The consolidz yed

erprements of financial positon.

Classification of Financial Instrument Detween Liability and Equity
A financial instrument is classified as liability if it provides for @ contractuzl obligation 1o:

+ Detiver cash or another financial asset to another ertity:

» Ixchange firancial assats or faancia! labilities with another entity undar condingns that are
notentially unfavorable to the Groud; of

» Satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed armnount of cash ar another financial
assat for a fixed number of own equity shares,

If the Croup does nOT have an uncanditional right 1o avaid delivering cash or another “inanciz! asset
to sertle sts contractual philgation, the obligation racets the defqition of a finangial lighility.

Land and Development Costs and Parking Lots for Sale
Property scquired or being consiructed for sale in the rdinary CouUrse of businass, rather than 10 be
teld for rental or capital apprecistion, is held a3 inventory and is measured a1 the fower of cast and

net rasiizable value [NRY).

Cosls inglude:

s Costof the 'and;

e Constrection and dovelopment <053 and

e Bo-rowing costs, planning and design costs, sosts of site preparation, professional fees, proparty
transfer taxes, construction overheads and other related Costs.

MRV 15 the estimated selling price in the ardinary course of the business, based on market prices at
the reporting date, less estipnated specifically identifiable costs to com plete and ihe estimatec Costs
1o sl

Other Current Assgets

This acceunt cnnsists of the extess of input valug-added Lax [(WATY over output VAT, advances to
sontractors and suppliers, creditable withholding taxes [UWT), supplies, prepayments, deferred rent
and restricted cash.

VAT Revenues, expenses and assels are recogtized net of the amount of WAT, excepl:

«  where the tax incurred an @ gurchase of assets of seryices is not recoverable from the tzeation
suthatity, nowhich case the taxis - cognized as part of the cost of acquisiticn of the assgt o7 a5
gars of the expense (tem a3 applicabe; ard

v recenables and oavables that are stated with the amaount of tax included.
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The net amourst of tax recoverable from the raxation authority is included as part of "Other current
assets” account in the conspitdated statements of financial positinn,

Advances to Contructors and Suppliers. Advances to contractors and supphiers represent advance
payments Ort Services o be incurred in commaction with the Groua’s operations. These are charged
o expense or rapitzlized to projects in the cgnsolidated statements of fimancia! position, upan
ariuni receist of services or supplies, These are conzidered as nonf nancial instruments as these will
he applied against future billings from contractors and suppliers. Advence payments Lo contractors
and suppliets, refating to the portian of the project that is classified as investment proparty and
aduanre payments that will be applied against future billings beycnd 12 months from the reporiing
date, are prescnied as gart of “Other norcurrent assets” account in the consolidated statements of
financial position.

CIVT. CWT represents 1ae amount withheld by the Group’s custemess in relztion 1o ils ingome. CWT
can be utilized as payment for mtome taxts grovided that these are properly supported oy
certificates of creditable 19x withheld al source subject to the rules on Philippine income taxation.
OWT is stated at estimatad NRY.

Prepoyments. Prepayments aré expomses not yet nowrred Bul paid in advancg. Prepaymenis arc
apportioned over the pertiod covercd by the payrment and cnarged to the appropriaie account n
profit or loss when incurred.  Prepayments that are expected to he realized for no more tnar
12 manths after the reporting percd are classified as curreat asset. Otherwise, these are classifizd
as noneurrent asset.

Restricted Conh, Rustricted cash includes cash in banks under trust and to be used for interest and
principa’ loan payments, funds reserved for the purchase of Euro notes and environmental 25Crow
funds. This is classified as current asset if the pxpacted release is within 12 manths fram the
financial reporting date, Otherwise, thisis Ciasuifieo as g foncurtent asset.

Interests in loint Operations
& joint operation 15 2 joint arrangemeant whereby the parties that have joint centrol of the
arrangement have rights 1o the assets, and obiigations for the liahilities ~eiatng to the arrangemant.

The Group recognizes in relation to its interestin a icint eperation:

v s assers, including its snare of any assets hele jeintly;

« its lighilitias, including 'ts share of any liapilities incurred jintly;

s its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operatien,;
e s share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and

¢ ity pxpenses, including its share of any expenses ireurred jointly,

inyestment in an Associate
The Group’s nvestmernt in an associate is aceounted for ging the equity method. An assoriate is an
antity in which the Group has sigrificant inflLence

Under the eguity methed, investment in 2n assodiate iy carried in the consolinated statements of
financia! pasiticn 31 oSt p'us post acguisition ¢hnanges in the Group's share of net assets of the
associate.



TTU'U—U”UU'UU"U”UU'!UUUUUUU‘i’llllUllUlllJUlHlllllll

W17 -

The consolidated statements of comprenensive income reflact the share in the results of operations
of the associate. Where there has Leen a change recogn zed directly in the equity of the associals,
the Group recogrizes iis chare cf any changes and dschoses this, whern appiicable, in the
consotidated statements of changes in eguity. Unrealired gans and losses resulting from
1ransactions between the Group and tne associate ace efim:nated to tha extenl of the interest in the
assoclate,

the share in net income of the gseociate is shown as “Equily in net incorna (loss) of an associate”
scoount in the consolidated statements of com prehensive incomsa,

The tinancial statements of the sssociate are prepa red for tha same reporting per:od as the Groop.
Where necessacy, adjustiments are mada to bring the accountirg palicies i line with thase of the
Grolp.

Lpcn loss of significant influence ower an associate, the Group measunaes and recognizes any
remaning investment at s fair valug, Any difference betwesn the carrying ameunt of the asspciate
upor loss of significant influence and the fair vaiue of the remaining Investment and proceeds from
disposal & recognized in profit or loss,

Investment Properties
Ivestment properties compeise nf comptetad proparties and laad for future development hald Ly the

Group to earn rentals oF ior capital appredation, of both. Irvestment properties are measured initialhy
at cost, Including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the cost of replacing part of existing
investment properties al the time that cost is incurred and if the recognition criteria are met, and
excludes the costs uf day-to-day servicing of iqestment properties. subsequent 10 intial recognition,
inwestement properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market condtions 31 the report:ng date
4. determined by indepondent aparaisers. Ga.ns and losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment aroperties are inciuded in the profit or loss in tne: pesiod ir which they arise.

Tranefars are made 1o of from investment nroperty onky when there .53 change inuse. Fora transfer
from investment property 10 Owner gecupied property, the deerned cost for subsequent accounting i@
the fair value at the date of changc in use. |f owner occupled property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts far such property in accordance with the policy on properly and
equipment up to the date of chanpe i1 usa.

Imvestment promertes are derecognized wher githar they have been disposed of or wnan the
Inyesiment properties aeg parmancrtly withdrawn frarmn use and no further economic beneft is
gxpected fram its dispesal. Any gain ur lass on the relircment of disposal of an investment property is
recognized in profit or loss iy The vear of retirement or dizposal.

Froperty antd Equipment

Property and egquipment, except fand, serviced residences and gircrafts, are stated a2t cost less
acrumulated depreciation, amortzation and impairmert in value, if any. Land 15 stated at cost leus
any ‘mpairment in valuz.

The .nitiai cost of property and equipment consists of its purcnasz price, including impornt duties,
nonrefundable 1axes and any directly attriutable costs in bringing the asset to its WOrking condition
and locaticn for its intended wse. Such cost includas the cost of replacing part of such property and
egLioment when that cost is incurred If the recognition criveria are met.
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pxpangitures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operation, such as repaits
snd maintenance, are norma.ly charged to profit or loss in the periad when the costs are incurred. In
situations whore i can 0e clearly demonstratad that the expenditures hava resulted I an increase in
the future eccnomic benefits expered 1o e ota ned from the use of an item of property and
equipnent beyoncd its originally assecsed sta ndard of porfermance, the cxperdifures are capitalized as
additionai cost of praperty and equipment.

1n 2016, the Group adopted lhe reveluation mode: it measuring its aircrafts.  This change in
accounting policy was applied by the Group prospectively,  In 2018, che Group sdopted the
revaluation medsl in reasuring its serviced residences.

Unader the revaluation model, aircraft and serviced residences are initiaily recorded at tost and
cubsequently measured at fair value. v uatons are gerformed with sufficient regularity to ensure
rnat the fair value of 3 revalied assct dans net differ matorially from its camrying amount. Additions
subseguent to the 135t appraisal dale are stated at acquisition cost.

& revaluation increase is recorded initially in OC and accumulated 1o the revaiuation surplus
pglity. However, Tneg Increase is recagnized in arotit or joss 0 *he axient that it reverses a3
ropgluation decrease of Lie same asset privigushy recognized in profit or 105 A revaluation
decrease is recognized in profit o lesns, axcept 10 the cxient that it pffsets an existing surpius on the
came asset recognized in revatuation surplus in equity in which case the decrease s recognized in
QL

Wpon disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to the particuiar asset being sold is fransferred to
retained @arnings.

Each part of the propery and eguipment with o cost tiatis significant in celation 10 the total cost of
-he item is depreciztec separately.

Depreciation and amgrtization (s cornpLied on the straight-linc pasis over the estmated useful lives
of the depreciable assets. The depreciation and amortization periods for property and equipment,
nased on the above poficies, are as foliows:

fgset Typa MNumber of Years

Serviced resdentes ' 35

Airorans 1510 2%

BLiidings 20t &0

Transoortation equipment 2tas

Machinery, equipment 2nd too's 2to 1k

Office furniture and eguipenent 21a %

Leasehoic improvements 7 to 10 ar lease term, whichever s shorter

~he estimated useful lives an¢ depracation and smortizazion method are reviewed periodically 1o
ensure that the pariods and methed cf depraciation ard amortiz2ion s censisient with the expected
peltern of economic berefits fram items of property and cquipment.

An itemn of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal er when ng future economic
benefits are expected from s use. Any gain or Ioss 4rising on derecagnition of the asset {calculated as
the difference between the nat dispesal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset] is inciudes in
profit or lass in the year the asset is derpcagnized,
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Construction in progress, which includes cost of construction and other direct costs, is stated at cost
and is not depreciated unt| such time as the relevart assets are compieted and put into operational
Use. Assets uncer construction are reclassifiod to o specifiv category of property and equipment
when the constructior and other related activities necessary to prepars the assels for their inte noed
use are completed ardd the assels are availab-c for use.

Software

software is measured initially at cost. Software is recognized if it is probable that the future
economic benefits that are attributable to the asset wil flow to the enterprise znd the cosl of the
as¢e1 can be measured reliably.  After intigl recogrition, software is maasured at cost less
accumuiared amortization 2nd any impairment loss.

amartization of software is compated on 2 straight-line basis over g estimated useful life of
five years,

The amertization period and method are reviewed pericdically 1o ensure that these are conststent
with expected patiern of economic benefits from the intangible asseis.

Imgairment of Nonfinancial Assets

Noafinancial assets are reviewed for impaisment when events or changes in circumstances incicate
that the £arrying amount may not oe recoverable. The Group assesses at each reporting dzte whether
these (s an indication that an asset may be impaired. [ any such indication exists, or when annaak
inpairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable
amount. An 3ssat’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or CGU's fair value less costs to sefl
and its value in use and is determinad for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that zre largely independers of those from other assets or groups ef assets. wWhere the
rarrying amount of ar asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is cons.dered impaired and is
written down to its recoverabie gmount. In as5es5ing vaiue in use, Lhe estimated future cash floners are
discounted to their present walus using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current mar<at
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 1¢ the asser.

An assessment is made at each reportirg date as to whether there is any indicaticn that previously
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreasad. If such indication axists,
ihe recoverable amount is estimated. 4 previously recopnized impairmert ioss 15 reversed only if
there has becn 3 change in the estimates used te determine the asset’s recaverable amount since the
last impairment |oss was recoguized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased
to its recoverable amount. That increased ameunt cannot exceed the carrying amount that would
have been datermined, net of depreciation and amortization, had no impairment loss been recognized
for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in profit or foss unless the asset 5 carred at
revaiued amaunt, it which case the reversal is treatad as a revalugtion norezse. After such a reversy
the deprecizticn and amortzation sharge 13 adjusted in future pericds to alloeate the azset’s rey sed
carrying amaouni, less any residual va.ug, on 2 systemat ¢ basis ovar its remaining useful life.

Goodwill, The Group assesses whether there are any indicators that goodw:] is impaired at each
financial reporting date. Goodwill is tested for impairment annualy and when circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may be impaired. [mpairment is determined for goodwill by
assassing the recoverable ampunt of the CGU, 1o which the goodwitl relstes.

VWhere tha recoverable amaunt of the CGU is less than their carrying amount, an mpairment |Gy
is recognized. ‘mpairment losses reizting to goodwil! cannet be reversed in future periods.



lnvestment in un Associate.  After applcation of the eguity method, the Group determines
wherher it is necessary to reccgnize ar impaitment loss on the Croup's investment in its
associate. The Group determines at each fnancial repoiting date whether thers is any ohiective
evicence that the investrhent in an associate is impeired. If this i3 the case, the Group calouiates
the amount of impaitment as the difference botween the recoverable amoun of the associate
and its carrying value and recognizes the amount in profit or loss under the “Lguity in net income
{lpss) of an associale” account.

Capital Stock and Additionai Paid-in Capital
Capital stock is measured at par value for ali shares issued,  Proceeds andfor fair value of
consideretions received in excess of par value, if any, are recognized as additional paid-in capitak.

tncremental costs directly attributable 1o the issue of new capilal siock are recognized as a
deduction, net of Ltax, from the eguity.

Retained Earnings

Retained earnings represent the cumulative balance of the Gro up's results of operations,
reclassification adjustments on disposal of equity securities designated as FYOCI (formerly class fied
s AFS financial assets), arrortization of revaluation surplus, and net of dividend d' stnibution, i ary.

odl

Ccl comprises of items of income and expenses that are not recognized in profit ar lass for the year
in accordance with PERS. OCI of the Group pertains to unrealized valuation on equity securities
designated as FVOCI {formerly classified as AFS financial assets), revaiuation surplus and
remeasrement on rotirement liability,

Treasury Stock
Cwh equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury stock] are recngnived at cost and

deducted fram equity. No gain or loss |s reccgnized in the consclidated statements of
comprehensive income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancelfarion of the Group's own eguily
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consigeration, i reissued, 13
recegnized as additional paid-in capital. Voring rignts related to treasury shares are nullified for
Lhe Group and no dividends are ailocated to them.

Parent Comipany's Shares held by g Subsidiary

Parent’s snares which are held Yy a subsidiary are treated similar to treasury shares and
recognized and deducted from equity at cost. No gain or oss s recognized in the conselidated
ctatements of comprehensive income on the purchaze, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's
own equity instruments. Any differance between the carrying amount antd the consideratior is
recognized as additionat paid-in capital.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognizod 16 the extent that it is probabie that the economic benefits wifl flow to the
Greup and the revenue can be ralably measured. Rewvenue ‘s measured at the fair value of tne
consideration received, exciuding discounts and rebates.

Rovonue from contract with custemers is recognized when the performznce obligation in the
contract has heen satisfied, either at 3 point in time or over time Reveniue @5 recognized over time if
one of the follpwing criteria is met: (a) the custemer s multznacusly receives and consumes the
benafits as the Group porforms its obligations; (b} the Group's performaince ¢reatés 07 @nhances an
ascel that the customer controls as the asset is created or ¢nhanced; or (c) the Group's performance
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does not coeate an asset with an alternative pse o the Group and the Group has an enfurceabla
right to payment far performance complated to date. Otherw so, revenue is razagnized at a poIntan
time. The folitwing specific recognition critea “nust #!50 pe met before revenue is recognized.

Revenue from Sale of Condominiurm Unifs, Parking Lots, Sofe of Log Homes and Private Villos
{Starting Jonuary 1, 2018}, Revenue from sale of completed projects is accaunted for using the Tu
sccruat method at @ point in time when the custamer abtains centroi of the assets. When the
Group nas material cbligations to complete the project after the property is sold, revenue is
reccgnized over time using the perceniags of eompletion methog. Jrder this method, revenue iz
racognized as the refated ohligations are ‘ulfilled, neasured prircipally on the basis of the estimated
completion of a physical peruon of the cortzact Wk,

[he Group accounts for any cash recelved from bayers as “Contract labiiities” account it the
consolidated statements of financial position when the related performance obligation for which
paymant was made has not yet peen performed, Excess of collections over satisfied performance
obligation is also classified as contract liabilit:zs. Contract liabilities are redured by the amounts of
revEnue recopnized during the reperting petiod. Rece vables that are corditional upon performance
of other chbligations are recognized as “Contract assats” ipresented under “Trade and ather
rereivables” aceountt in the consolidated state ments of financial position.  Contract assets are
reclassified to trade rece.vebles upon completion of the parformance abligaticn,

For sale of condominium anits and preferred shares Lnder a singla contract 1o sell, the selling price
‘¢ allacated to each component. Callections received are applicd pro-rata based on the selling pricc
of the condominium unit, net of WAT ang interast, and the selling price ¢of the preferred share,

Reul Estate Sciles (Prior to January 1, 2018). Revenue from sales of complated projects 15 2eccunted
for using the full accrual methed. The porcontage of complet:on method 1s used to recognize
income from sales of projects where the Group has material ohligations uvnder the sales contracts to
complete the project after the progerty is cold. Uader this method, sates is recognized as the
related obligations are fulfilled, measured principally on the basis of the estimated completion of a
physical portion of the contratt work,  Costs that relate to the acquisition, development,
improvement 3nd construction of the roal estate projects are capitalized and are charged 1o
operations whan the related revenues are recoEnized.

The Group accounts for any cash received from buyers as deposits from sale of condaminium whits
when the eonsiruction is not beyond a preliminary stage. Constructon i3 not beyond a preliminary
stage ¥ engineering and desigh work, sxecution of construction contracts, site clearance and
preparation, excavation, and completion of tha building foundation are incompicte, Proceeds shal
be accounted for as deposits until the crteria for percentage of complation methad are met. Excess
of wollections over the recognized roceivables are inctuded in the “Trade and cther payables”
account 'n the consolidated statementt of financal pasition, W expecled to be appled within
12 months from the financiel reporting date. Otherwise, these are classifiec as noncur-ent lizhility
under "Other noncurrent liabilities” account inthe consalidated staternents of financial position.

Revanue on the sale of parking lots s recoghized using the full accruzl methed.
Beqt. Rent mccme fram operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis cver the term of the

lzase. Contingent reat inccme is recogmized when it arises. This also inclades commen utiiities,
carvices and maintenance charges, as weil 35 other invidental incorme in providing the service.
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Air Tronsport, fedical and Security Serwices. These are recognized when the rplated service has
been rendered.

Boom Kevenugs, Revenue s recognized when the room facilities are used and the related servicas
are rendered.

Goin on Sole of AFS Finencigd Assets. 5z n on saie of AFS financial assets are recognized JpCn
vransfer of risks and ~ewards to the buyer.

(aterest income.  Interesl income is recogrized as tne interesl accrues raking into account the
effactive yvield on the assets.

Other income. Income from other sources, which includes revenue from serviced residerces, i
recognized when garned during ine period.

Lost and Expense Recognition

Cost and expenses are decreases in ceonomic bengfits during the accounting period 1 the form of
outfiows or depletions of assels or incUrrenee of liabitities that result in decrease in eqguity, ather than
those relating to distributions to equily pa rricipaats.

Cost of Real Estate Sofo.  Cost of real estate sold is recognized consistent with the revenue
recngnition method applied. Lost of condominium units soid before the compietion of the project is
detarmined based on actual costs and project estimates of building contractoss and technical staft.

Contract casts includge alt direct matertals and labar costs and those direct costs related to coniract
performance. Expecied insses on contracts are recopniced immesiately when 1 is probabde that ine
total contraci costs will cxcead total conlract revenue. Changes in contract performance, cantract
conditions and estimated profitability, including those arising from contracl penzlty provisions, and
final contract settiements which may resUlt in revisions to estimated costs and gross margns are
recogrized in the year in which the changes are determined,

Cost of Services. Cost of sarvices i recognized as expense when services are renderad,

General and Admrinstrative Fxpenses. Genaral and adminstrative expenscs canstitute costs of
administering the business. These are ex pensed a3 incurred,

nterest Expense and Other Finonce Charges. Interest expense and other finance charges are
reccgnized az they acorue. This includes the amortization ot any discount of premium or other
differences batween the initiz! carrying amaunt of an nterest-bearing instrument and its amount at
maturity calculated in an effectve interest raie basis,

Employee Benefits

Shert-terrm Benefits, The Group recogaizes a lability net af amounts already paid and an expense
tor services rendered by employees during the accounting period. A liability is also recognized for
the smount expected 10 be paid under shot-termr casn bonts ar profit sharing plans if the Group
nas a prasent legal or constructive chligation to pay tis amount as a result of past service provided
by the emgioyes, and the ohligation can be estieatad rolably.
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Shart-term employee berefit liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed a5
the related service is provided.

Retirement Benefit Costs. The Group has an unlunded, non-contributory defined benetfit plan
covering all qualified employees.  Retirement aarefit costs are actuarially determined using the
projected unit credit method which reflects services rendered by employees te the date of valuation
a2nd incorparates assumplions conceraing employces’ srojected saiaries,

The GEOLP FODOgNizes seivice Costs, comprising of current service costs, past service costs, gains and
losses on costsilments and nonroutine sett'ements, and interest expense in profit or ‘085, Interestis
caiculated by appiving the discount rate to the retirement takility.

Past service costs are recognized in profit or loss 0n the earlier of the date of tae plan amendment
er curtailment, and the date that the Group recognizes restructurirg-reiated costs.

Remeasuremants commal sing actuarial gains and losses ang return on plan assets are reccgnized
imrmediasely in OC!in the period in whics they arise. Rerneasuremsals are not reclassified to profic
or 0ss5 in subsequent periods.

The dafined ratirement benefits obligation is the aggregete of the present value of the defined
benefit oblipatian and the fair value of plan assets qut of which the obligations are to be settled
directly. The present value of the retirement liability 15 determined by discounting the estimated
future cash outflows Jsing wmterest rate on gowernment bonds that have terms to maturity
aporoximating the 1erms of the related retirement bability,

Actuarial vaiuations are made with sufficient regularity so that the amounts recognived in the
consolidated financial statements do not differ materially from the amounts that would he
determined at the reporting date.

Qperating tease

Group as o lessee. Leases where the iessor retains substantial'y all tha risks and rewards of
agwnership are classiied as operating leases. Operating tease payments ara recopgnized in profit ar
loss on & straight-line hasis over the lease term.

Group us @ Lessor. Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
senefits of ownersaip of the asset are class:fiad as agerating leases. Initial direct costs incurred 0
negotiating an gperating lease are added T the carry.ng amount of tae leased asse; ang reccgnized
aver the lease term on the same bases as rent income. Cantingent rents arc recognized as revenue
in the persiod in which they are ea-ned.

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are capitalized i they are directly attributebie te the acquisition or canstruction cfa

qualifying asset. Capitalization of borrowing cosls commences when the actities to prepare the
asseT are in pregress and expenditures and Borowing costs are heing incurred. Bo-rowing costs area
capitalized until the assets are substantialiy “eady for their intended use. If the carrying amount of
the as¢et exceeds its pstimated recoverable amewnt, an impairment loss is recorded  All other
borrow ng cocts are expansed in the period they ocour.
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Foreign Currency Denaminated Transactiong

Trarsactions denominated in foreign currencies are initially recorded in Philippine Peso using the
exchange rate prevaiting at the date of transaction. Mcnelary assets and liabilities denominaied ir
foreign currencies are restated at the functional eurrency using the rate of exchange prevailing at
the reporting date.  Foreign exchange ditferences between the rme at transaction date and
certlament date of reporting date are credited to or chargest against arefit or 055, Nenmonetary
items thas are measured ir terms of histerizsl cost in foreign currency are transtated using the
exchange rate at the dates of initial transactions.

tncome Taxes

Current Tox. Currens tax assets and labil ties for the current and prior periods are measured at the
amount expectad to be recovered from or oaid 1o the tacation suthorities. The tax rate and the tax
taws used to compute the amount afe those that are enacted or substantively enacted ot the enc of
the reporting period,

Deferred Tox  Daferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
pericd between the tax bases of assets and lisbilities and their carrying amounts for financial
regarting pUrgoses.

Duferred Lax labilities are recognized for oll taxable temperary differences, intluding asset
revnluations, Deferred tax liability is not recognized when it arises from the initial recogrition of an
asset or ligbilily in a transaction that is not 2 business comb nation and, at the time of the
transaction, affacts neither the accounting profit of “oss nor taxable profit or lass. Deferred income
tax Habifities are not provided on nontaxable temparery differences associated with investmeants i
domestic subsidiaries, an associate and interests in joint venturas.

Defereed tax assets are recopnized for atl deduetible temperary ditferences, carryforward benefits of
unused tax cradits [excess of minimum corporate noome taxes o mMEIT over regular corporate
incomo taxes or RCIT) and urused tax [ossos (ret aperating loss carryover or NOLCO], to the extent
that it is probebie that sufficient future taxeble profic witl be avaiiable sganst waich the deductible
terporary differences and carryforward benefits of Lnused tax credirs and unused tax losses can he
utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced 1o the extent that it is no longer prohabie that sufficient future taxable profit will be
available to allow 2!l or part of the deferred tax assets to be utlized. Unrecognized defer-ed tax
asuets are re-assessed =t the cnd of each reperting pariod and are recogrized To the axtent that it
has become probable that sufficient future taxable prefit will allow the deferred tax gssel fo be
recoverad.

Deferred tax assets and liabitities are measured st the tax rate that are expecied to apply to the
period when the asset is realized or the liability s settied, based on tax rate and tax iaws that have
been eracted or substantively enacted at tne end of reporting perioa.

Deferred tax assets and lisbilies are offset if a fegzlly enfurceable right exists to offset the current

tsx assets against the current tax liabilities and the ceferred income taxes celate to the same taxabie
entity and the same taxation autharily,



Deferred tax relating 1o Items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside profit ar losg,
Deferred tas itams are reccgrized in relation to the undertying transaction either in QCT or directly in
EalUity.

Rejated Parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party nas the abilty, directiy or ndirectly, to control 1he
other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operat'ng
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related it they are subject to comman control er

rommon significant influence.

A retated party transaction is @ teansier of resources, services or onligations between a reporting
entity and a reiated party. regardless of whether a price is charged.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has & present obligstion (izgat of constructive} as a result
of a past every, it is probable that an outfiow of resources emondying pronomic banefite will be
required to settle the obligation, and a refiable estimate can be made of the amount of the

obligation.

Pravisions are made using the best estimates of the 2mount requirad to settle the obligation and
are d.ecounted o present value: wsing a pre-tax ~atd shat reflects cunent market assassments of the
time vaiue of maney and the risks spectic to the ol gation. Cranpes in estimates are reflected in
profit or loss in the period they arise.

Contingencies
Contingent lizhilities are not recognired in the conselidated financial statements.  These are

disclosed in the notes to consclidated fingnciat statements anless the possibility of an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefis is remote, Contingent assets are not recagnized in the
corsolidated financial statements but are gisclowed when an nflow of eccnomic bensafits is
probable.

Events after the Reporting Date

Post vear-end events that provide additional information about the Group's financial pasition at
reporting date {adjusting events] are reftected it the consolidated financial statements. Post
year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed n the notes to consnlidated financial
stalements waen material.

Signiﬁl,;ant ludgment, Accounting Estimates and Assumyptions

The sreparation of the consolidated finzncial statements in accordance with PFRS recuires
managemant 10 exercise judgment, make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts of assets,
lahiliies, income and expenses reported ‘n the consolidated financial statoments. The judgment,
estimates ang assumptions used in the consclidated fimancizl statements ave based upon
manzgement’s evaluation of refevant facts and circurmstances as of the date of the tonsolidated
fipancial smatempnts.  Whie managemem belisves that the assumptions are reasonablg and
appropriate, significant differences in the actual ewpenence or sighificant changes in ine
assurmptions may materially affect the estimated amounts. Actual results could differ from such

estimates.



Judgment

in the process of applying the Grouy's accounting pelicies, management has made the foilowing
judagmen:, zpar from thase involving estimations, which have the most significant effect an the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financal statements.

Recognizing Revenue from Reol Estate Sales Under PARS 15, The recognition of revenue at a peinl in
time requires certain judgment an when the customer obtain contrel gwer the promised goods and
services, In determining whether zontral has been transferred to the customer, the Group considers
the following indicators:

»  The Group has a presant right 10 payment for the asset.

*»  The custoraer has iegal tifle te the assel.

v The Group has trarsferred physicz! possession of the asset.

» The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownershiz of the asset.
»  The customer has accepted the asset.

For real estate sales recognized aver time, the Group recognizes revenue using percentage of
completion method. This methad raguires certain judgments baged on the buyer's commitment o1
the sale which may be ascertained through the significanze of the huyess inttial investment and
completion of deveinpment, The guyer’s commitment is evaluated hased on collections and credit
standi=g of the buyers. The percentage of competion of development is determined based on
engineer’s judgrnent and estimates on the physiczt portion of contract work done and that the
developrment is beyond the preliminary stage.

Feal estate sales recognized amounted to B1,346.% millicn, £1,366.G milion and 21,421.2 mition
in 2018, 2037 ard 2016, respectively (see Note 1%}

Determing  Functional Currengy. Based on the cecongnec substance of the underlying
circumstanges relevant o the Group, functional currency has been determined to be the
FPhilippine Pesa. The Philippine Pesa is the currency of the primary economic envirenment in
whica the Group operates.

Determining the Cigssification of Operating Lease Commiiments - The Groug as o Lesser, The Group
entered into 3 number of operating lease agreerrents as a lessor, As 7 lessor, the Group has
determined that it retains substantially all she rsks and rewards of ownership of the assets eing
ieased cut under pperating lease zgreements.

The Group recognized rent income amaunting ta ®1,173.7 miilion, B834.8 million and R696.0 miflion
in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note 1H).

Determining the Clossification of Dperating lease Commitments - The Group as o {esses. The
Group entered into various cencellable lesse agreements with s related companies covering
AWCEs branches, The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and cond:tinns
of the arrargement, that the lessor retaing ail the signficant nsks and berefits of ownarship of the
properties and has clazsified the lease as operating lease,

Ren: expense amounted 10 F23.2 iuflicn it 2016 {se€ Note 18},
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Determining the Classification of Fingncial instruments., The Group exercises iudgments in
classifying @ financial instrument on initial reiognition either as a financial asset, a financial
sizhility or an equsty instrument ‘n accordance witn the substance of the contractual arrangemend
z1d the defin‘tione of a finanzial assat, 5 financial ' ability o7 83 equity imstrument. ¥he subsiance
of 2 {'aancial instrument, rather than its legal ‘orm, governs its classifization in the consalidated
statermnents of financial position.

Determining fFoir Volue of Financial Instruments. PFRS raquires certzin financial assats and liabilities
1o be carried at fair value, which requires extersive use of arcounting estimates. While significant
components of fair value measurement were determ'ned using verifiable objective evidence, the
amount of changes in fair value woule differ if the Croup utilized ditferent yatuation methodologies.
Any changes In fair value o these financia’ assets wiorld affect profit and loss and eguity.

T fair value of the Group’s linancial assets and liabilities afe disc.osed in Naote 25

Cetermuning Foir Yolue of investments i Clubs” Preferred Shares. The Group establishes fair value
by us.Ng recent arm’s length market {ransactions belwagn knewledgeable, willng parties. Tha fair
value of investmaents w preferred shares of the Cubs s determined based on the current cash
seling price to thirg parties.

The carrying value of investmeris in preferrec <hares omounted to R31,036.% mitlior and
R30,064.3 milion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 10).

Determining Control, Joint Contred or Significont Influence over an investee Company. Lontrol is
presumed Lo oxist when an investor has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rizhts, to
variable returns from ts neolvement with the nvestee and has the abiity to affect thuse returns
thrauph it powsr over tha investee, On the other hand, jeint ¢ontrob is presumed to exist when the
investars con-ractually sgreed to share control of ar arrangerrant, which ex'sts only when decisions
about the re evant activities require the umanimous conseat of the parties sharing controf. The
Group has assessed it has control over its subsidiaries and joint sontrol in afl joint arrangements,

the Group has a 50% interest in Alphaland Heawy Equipment Corporation {AMEC]) as at
hecember 31, 2018 and 2017, The Group accodnts for these investrneris as associpte since
management has assessed that thare 15 ne joint controf between the parties.

Derermiming the Classification of Joint Arrangements. The jeint venturs apreement with BSP is
accounted fo- as a jeint operation since the parties that nave joint control of the arrangemenl, have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the Jiabiiities, relating to the grrangement,

Classifping Investment Properties und Owner-Occupled Properties. The Group determines whether a
sroperty gualifies as investment property. |1 making its judgment, the Group considars wherher the
property generates cash flows Jargely independent of the other assets heid by an eatity, Owner-
occupied properties genorate cash fows that are attr:butable not only to the property bur al=o to
the other assets gsed in the sroduction or supply process.

Some properties comprise a portion that is hetd to eam rentals for capital appreciation and anathar
portion that is held for use in the production or supply of gaeds or services or for administrative
purposes, If these portions cannet be sold separately, the property 15 accounted for as an
investneant property cnly if an insignificant portion is held far use in the supsly of goods of services
o~ for administrative purposes Judgment 15 applied in determining whether ancillary services arg so
sigmif:cant that o properry dees nol gaalify as iwestment property The Group considers €ach
prope:ty sesarately in making its judgment
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Determtining Transfers. Transfers between investmen: properties, land and development Costs and
property and eguipment of the Group are made afler determining that there is a change in use,
ev-denced by ending of owner-aecapation, carfmencamant of an operat ng case to another garty
or ending of construction or commencement of development with @ view to ale. These transfers
sre recorded using the carrying amaunts of the iwestment properties, iand and development £osts
and property and equipment at the date af change in use,

The carrying amounts of nenfinancial assets transfersad beiwecn investment properties, land and
development rosts and property and equipment are as foliows.:

in Thuusarjds}
_ MNaote 2018 2017
Transfer from land and development casts 1o
Praperty and cquipment 12 R2,115,863 F-
tmvestment properlies 11 - 2,425,353
Transfers from investiment properties to
Larnd and development cosls 7 653,310 327,319
Proporty and squigaent 13 2,244 19,471

Evglupting legal Contingencies.  There are sn-going litigations involving the Group which
management balieves would not have a material adverse impact on the Group's financiat condition
snd results of operations. The estimate of the probable costs for the rasplution of passible ciaims
have been developed in consuftation with egal counset handling the Group's detense in these
mattars and is based upon an aralysis of potesial results (see Nete 26h

Egtimates and Assumptions

The key assumptions concerning ihe fuiure and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
financial reporzing date, 1hat have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial vear are discussed below.

Recognizing Reverve and Cost. The Group's revenue and cost recognition policies requirc
management ta make use of estimares and assumpiios that may affect the reported amounts of
roven e and cost. Revenue and cost from sale of real eslate recognized based on the percentage of
completian are measured principally on the basis of the estmated completion of phytical
proportion of the contract work, and by reference 10 the actual costs neurred 1o date over the
estimated total costs of the aroject.

Ravenue fram AMPI's sale of condominium units and preferred shares, ABIRC's cale of private villa
anc land and ABMLHT's sale of log homes under = single contract to sell are aliscated to each
component usirg the resideal method.

The “air value of the praferred share is meysured at it current cast selling price 18 third parties 011 4
stand-alone Dasis and the tair valee of the condominium un? is the residual amount of the
transact’ on price.

Revenue recognized based on percentage of completion amounted to 81,3465 million,
R1,366.6 million and #1,421.2 million n 2018, 2017 and 2016, respuctively [see Note 19). Cost
recognized based on percentage of completicn arrounted 1o RES9.4 rmillion, #8834 3 million and
#1.084.5 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note 20].
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Assessing Frpected Credit Losses. The Group estimaliaes eipe ered crodit losses on trade receivables
snd contract assets USINg a provision matri that v based an days past due for groupngs of
caricds customer segments that have similar loss patieras. Depending on the diversity of its
debtor's Dase, the Group uses its hictarical credit loss experience adjusted for forward-lcoking
factors, as apprapriate,

Irpaicment  losses recognized on trade and other receivables amounted to 845 milkaon,
#71.9 railson and B34 1 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Group wrote-off trade
ang other receivables amourting tc BEY mitlon in 2016, The Group recognized 2 reversal of
alipwance for impairment losses amaunting 1o 81046 millgn in 2018 [see Note 6}

Alowance for tmpairment loss on trade and other receivables amcunted to 8297 milion
and #1118 million as st December 21, 2018 and 2017, respectively (see Note 6). Management
Boijaves that the allowance s sufficient (o cover recevoble balances which ae spacifically identified
ta be doubtful of collection.

The aggregate carry-ng amount al trade and other -eceivables and advances 10 an associate and
related companies amounted T R4,854.% miliion and #4,771.6 milion as at Decembar 31, 2018
angd 2017, respectively (see Notes §, 9 and 17}

Determining MRV of Land ond Developrnent Costs and Parking Lots for Sofe. The Group writes down
the carrying value of land and develcpment costs and parking iots for sale wheneyer the NRY
becomes lowes than cost due to changes in mzrket pricos or alher causes. The MEWY of projects
under construction is assessed with reference 1o market prce a1 reporiing date for similar
cormpleted property, less cstimated ¢osts fo complets the constraction and estimated casts 1o sell,
The casrying valug is reviewed regutarly for any decinz inwaue,

Tae carrying wvalue of land and development costs amounted to ® 2,808.0 million ard
3 806.6 miltion 38 ar December 31, 2018 and 2017, raspectively. Parking lots for sale amounted to
2272.1 rpillion and R135.8 million as at Jecember 31. 201B and 2017, respeciively (see Note 7).

Assessing Equity Securities Designated os YOO {Formerly Classified os AFS Finoncial Assets} far
imoairment. The Group assesses eguity secusitios designated 33 FYOZ) (formerly classified as
AES financial assets] as impaired when there Fas been a signaticant or prelanged decline in the fair
salue below its cost or whether other chjective evidence of impairment exists. The determination
of what is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. The Group treats ignificant’ generally
as 20% o~ rore of the criginal cost of investment, and ‘prolonged’ as period more than
12 months. In addition, the Group evaluates ather factors, including future cash flows and the
giscount factars for unguoted egquities.

The Group's equity securites designated a3 FVOC formerly classified as AFS financial assets]
amounted to B31,036.1 million and #30,064.3 milion as @t December 31, 2015 and 2017,
respectively {see Note 10].

Ectimoting Useful Lives of Property and Equipment. The Group estimates the useful tives of the
sroperty and equipment based on the perind over which these assets are expected to be available
for use. The estimated useful lives are reviewad poriodically and are updated f axpectations difter
frorm previaus estimates due tn physical wear and tzar, tecnnical or commersial absolescence and
lega! or other smits on the use of these assets. in add tion, estimation of the useful lives .¢ based
on collective assessment of industry practice, intanal rachaical evaluation and experience with
cimilar assete. It is possiole, howewver, that futare results of aperations could be materizlly
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affeciea by changes in estimates Broughi about ay changas in factars mentiched apave. The
amounts and timing of ~ecorded expenses for any periott would oe affected by charges in thesa
factors and circumstances,

There is no change in the estimated useful lives of depreciahle property ard equipment in 2C18,
3317 and 2016. The carrying value of property and egquipment amounted to £10,1744.8 million and
£1.832.3 miilion as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively [see Note 12).

Fstimating (mpairment of Nonfinanciol Assers. The Group 25525585 impairment on nonfinancial
assets whenever events of changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these
aesets apay not be recoverabie. The fa=tors that the Geolup considers important which could
trigger an impairment review include the follgwing:

+ Significant underperformance relanive to expected historical ar projectad future operating
results;

¢ Significant changes in fne mainee of use o] tne acguired 3ssets or the strategy for overall
husiness; and,

s Significant negative industry of pconomic trends.

Ln o smpairment joss 18 recognized whenever the carrying armount of an asset exceeds its estimated
recovarsble amount.

:n determining the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be generatad from
tha contipued use of the assets, the Groun 18 rpquircd tn make estimates and assumptions that
can materially affect the consolidated financial statements.

No imoairment loss on nonfinancia! assets was recognized in 2018, 2017 and 2016, The carrying
amounts of nenafinancial assets are as foilows:

{In Thay sands)

L ) Mol 2018 2017
Other current assets” & F1,806,510 R1,790,662
[mwestrment in an assockats g 11,326 11,326
Property and equipment 12 10,174,812 1,832,348
(her nohcurrent assets™™* 13 141,931 224,226

TExhading Festricied cost
o pchaoh NG AONCUTENT portion of Teads e iAEE 0N wlpndobie depoats

Determining Fair Value of Investment Properties. The Group engaged an ndependent appraiser 10
determine the fair value of its investment prope-ties The fair vaives of investment properties were
based on the vawstion performad in 2018, 2017 and 2016, The fair values of the land were
datermined using sales cemparison and land development approach. Sales comparison approath
i1volves the comparison of the land 1o those that are more oF lpss Ipcated within tne vicinity of the
appraised property and are subject of recent sales and offerings. If there is limited data withi the
ares, the independent aspraiser considess the expansion of the research on properties considered
-smparabie. Adjustments were made ta arrive 31 the market vaue by considering the kocation, size,
snape, Jtilsy, desizability and time elemant, Lsnd cevelopment approach 15 basically a discounting
process wherzin the present worth of the potestal valuz of the prope’ty as “raw” fand tor
subdivision purposes may be octimated. The fair va'ue of properties held for lease was determined
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using Incoma capita.ization approach which censiders inccme and expense data retating o the
property being valued and estimated it through cap'talization process, Capitalization relates
income, usually a net income figure, and a defined value type by converting 2n inceme amouent into
a value gstimate.

urthe- information about the assumat ons made in measuring fair valaes of investment properties
are disressedin Note 11

Gain or fair valoe changes which was recognized in the eonsolidated statements of comprehansive
income amgunted to B7,453.5 milion, B11,471 8 million and #10,067.1 rmillion in 2018, 2017 and
2016, respectively. Carrying values of invesiment properties amounted to #47,675.8 mitlicn and
B40,664.1 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively [see Note 11h

Oetecmining Foir Volue of Property and Equipmeni Measured ot ftevaiued Amount. The Group
engaged an independent apgraiser to determine the fair value of its sevwiced residences and
aircratis The fair value of the serviced residences was determined by an independent appsaiser
using ingorme capitatization approzch which considers incormne and expense data relating o the
property being valued and estimated it through capitalization process. Capitalization relates
income, usually a net incoma figure, and a defined value type by converting an income amount into
a value estimate. The fair value of aircraft was determined using the market ¢ata appraach. Market
data approach nwolves gathering of cost data from vriginal import commercial invoices as well as
romparable sources of similar aircraft,

Fusther information abouwt the assumptiors made in measuring fair values of serviced residences
and a'rerafts are discussed -n Note 12,

The revaluation surplus recognized in the equity section of the consolidated statements of fimancial
position amounted to #3,103.6 million and £752.9 million as at Decempber 31, 2018 and 2017,
raspectively, The azgregate carrying valae of sorviced residences and aircraft carried at fair value
armounted to 89,786.3 million and #1,534 7 millior as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respeclively
fsee Mote 127,

Determining Retirement Benefit Costs. Tne detzrmination of the Group’s chligation and cost far
retirement berefits is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by actuaries in
calgulating such amounts. Those assumptions are described in Note 21 1o the consolidared financial
statements.

Retirernent expensc amounted to #15.9 miliion, ¥6.4 millien and #7.5 million in 2018, 2017 3nd
2016, respectvely.  Retrement dability amounizd 10 8345 mellion and 8245 millian as at
Secember 31, 2018 and 2017, raspectively [see Notz Z1)

Assessing Realizabifity of Deferred Tox Assets. The Group reviews its deferred tax assets &t gach
reporting date and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probadle that
sufficient taxable profit will be aveilable 1o allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be
miired. There is no assurance that the Greup wili generate sufficient taxable profit to allow zll er
part of its deferred tax assets to be utilizad.
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Recognized deferred tax assets of the Greup amounted to ®6.7 million and B111.5 million a5 at
Decermber 31, 2018 and 2017, respectiveiy.  Unreceognized deferred tax assets amounted to
R306.0 mition and R217.2 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively [see Note 22].
Managemant balieves that it s not probable that sufficent taxabie income will be available to
al'lenw 2l these deferred tax assets (o be utilized,

toint Operation

On June 30, 2008, AMPl and BSP entered inte a loint Venture Agreement <o develop the Malugay
Property into a first cass commercial development to be known as Alphaland Makati Place
{the “Project’) whereby B5P shall contribute the Malugay Property while AMP| s7all centribute the
improvenents {the “Bevelosment Costs™) and 113 exclusive right [the “leaschoid Rights”} aver the
Malugay Propetty, as weil 25 1o grovide alt nacessary funds, equipment, materials, construction
warks, expertise and related undertakings for Lhe deve.opment of the Projert.

The Project consists of three high-end residential towers atop an upscale six-storey podium, the
pottom half of which is a shopping center and the top half a City Clul for uwban sports and leisure,
The Project also includes a Boy Scout Convention Center as provided ia the Joint Venture
Agrgement,

AMPI and BSP agreed to share 2t 85% and 15%, respectivaly, of the tctal pross floor area of
completed snc dissosable un'ts in the Project. The 85% share of AMPI shalt tnclude The City Club
anc the 18% share of BSP shall include the Boy Scout Convention Center. As provided in the Jaint
Venture Agreement, AMP| shall submit progress reports of the development works in the Project on
a regular brasis to B5SP.

On June 2, 2011, BSP scld the Malugay Propety tc AMPI for a total consideration of RECO.0 million.
The amount of cons:ideration paid to BSP was then contributec by BSP to the developrnent of the
project. The Leasehold Right was effectively terminated when AMPI| acquired the land from B3P in
june 2011, Despite the sale, the Joint Wenture remaired and the partngrs centinued the
85-15 Sharing Scheme. The parlners have amended the Joint Venture Agreement accordinghy.

The Group accounts for the joint vanture arrangement as a jeint operation,  As at Cecember 31,
2018 and 2017, the Group recopnized its share in the development costs of the Project {excluding

tha easte relatod 1o the City Club - saa Note 77 in the following accounts:

iIn Thousands )

_ Mote 2018 2017
Land and development costs and parking
lats for sale 7 R193,133 R2 856,792
Irvestment properties 11 12,220,473 11,763,279
#12,718,606 14,420,071

AT

Gr Sepiamoaer B, 2013, the Parties executed a Suppiemert to the Joint Venture Agreement. The
Supplement sxpressly ensmeratas the specific units in the Project that constituie the BSF Snare
with respect to the Podium, Tower 1, Tower 2 and Parking Slots. The Supplement further provides
that the B5P Share ir Tower 3 sha'f be determined in another Supplement.



-33.

Cash and Cash Eguivalents

L

This account consists of:

(Ir Thousands}

| . o 2018 2007
Cash o0 hand and in han<s #106,888 B205 382
&Drt-term platoments 3,269 10,211

) 2110,157 215,593

Cash in banks earn interest at prevaiting bank deposit rates,

short-term placements are mace for varying periods of up 10 three months, depending on the
immedizte cas’y regquiréments of the Grous and c3sn infterest ranging fram 1.05% to 1.5% in 2018,
2017 and 2016.

sourced of interast income recognized by the Group a7e as follows [soe Mote 19)

i'n Thousands}

Note _ 2018 _ 2017 2016

in-house financing 7 #13,280 &7 705 2,381

Trade and ather receivables h 1,298 5,368 0,480

Restricted cash g 951 513 414

Cash and cash equivalents ) £04 4173 1,345
R17,033 F17.764 R}9,635%

6, Trage and Dther Receivabies
This aceount consists of

{In Thousands}

Nate 2018 017

Trade recenables from: ) ' B
3ale of real estate R990,218 El,752,595
Lir Transport senvices 334,214 207 912
Sale of club shares 10 55,145 B1,b50
Tenants 18 88,075 33,855
Wonktrade £0,145 8,796
Contract assets 217,610 -
Cihgrs 58,245 20402
1,803,653 2,105,350
Less allowance for impairrment losses {29,725] i111,248)
#1,773,828 ) #1993 504

Recenables from sate of real estate and club sha~es nave terms ranging from one 10 threg years.
Noncurrent peruon of these receivairles are presered under "Other nencutrent assets” account in
the consolidated statements of financial gosition (see Mote 13). Amoriization of intarest on these
roceivahles zmounting to R2.0 milian, B5.4 milion and B9.5 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively (see Note 5)
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The Group emered int memorandum of agreement with BDG whereDy the Group assigns, with
recourse, its installment contract receivables from the sale of Baguio kng hormes covered by CTS.
The Group retains the balance of zusigned receivables and records the proceeds from these
assigaments as bank loans. As at Dacember 31, 201K, trade receivables and cantract a3sets assigned
=ra ated to #5288 milion and B39.2 mitlian, respactively {see Note 15,

Receivable from ar trarsport serv.ces are unsecured, noninterest-bearing ang arg dde and
demandabiz.

Receivables from tenanls are noninigrest-bearing and are peneraily on a 30-day tenm.
Contract ussets are reclassified to trade receivables upon co mpletion of the performance ubhigation.

Monteade receivables mamly pestain to receivablas from related companies, officers and empluyees.
Advances to related companias are unsecured, nonimterest-bearing and are due and dernandable
{see Meote 17). Advances tp officers and employeess sre nonintersst-bearing and are subject ta

liguidation.
(ther recejvabies mainly consist of 555 claims and other receivables.

Minwanee for impairnmaent ‘osses pertain o receivabies from severat lessees of ASTI and unit briers
of ARAPI 1hat are al least 90 davs past duc.

slovements of allowance for impairment josses are as feolinws:

{tn Thousands}

) 2018 HI17 2016
Baiance a: beeinning of yaar F111,B46 B59,905 RS RGY
Reversal of impairmenst lass {104,609} - -
Changes on initiel application of #FRS 3 17,993 - -
_Prouesion:« ~ 4,495 N 71,540 34,054
halance a: end of year ' T R29725 2111846 #39,506

Reversal of impairment loss in 2018 pertains 1o torteited sa'es of AMPI condominium unit, parking
lote and AFS financial assets with related costs amountng 1o # 71.5 million, B13.4 miltien
anvd RZ.8 milion, respectively {see Notes 7 and 103, As 2 result of the forfeiture, the Group
recognized loss on forfeited sales amounting to 1046 miliion {sea Note 7.

In addition 10 the above write-off of allowance for impairment losses, the Group wrate-off trade and
other receivables amounting to B6.9 milior in 2016 (see Note 20}
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7. Land and Development Costs and P":;\rking Lots for Sale

This acecunt consists of the fallowing:

tkn Theusands)

2018 2017

Lant and development casts:
Alphaland Bagdio sountaln Lodges R2,143,236 R1,050,767
Balesin Private Yitla 438,771 234,816
alphaland Makati Flace 225,988 2,521.042
Farking lots for sale _ 172,145 135,750
—_ ) | 93,080,140 B3,342,375

Alphaland Baguio Mountain Lodges
Movements in land and development €055 pertairing ta the alphalard Baguio Mountain Lodges

Project are as inllows:

in Thousands)

Mite 2018 2017
aslance at beginniﬁg of year ' R1,050,767 PHED,?-L‘.S
Transfers 11 653,310 720,311
Additions:

Deveioprreni (0sLs 615,277 788,563
Capitalized borrowing costs 25 122,644 49, 80%
Cost of real estate sold 20 (298,762} [(488,7.8
Balance st end of yeer ) RZ,143 236 ®1,050,767

The Alshaland Baguio Mountain Lodzes Project pertaing to 16.8 hactares 7 lang situated in Benguet
iat is currently being developed as Fonzemtal condominidim for sake,

In 2015, dug to management’s decision to develop the property as horizontal conido rieium far sale,
13,1 hectares of the Croperty, was reclassified from UInvestment properties” tg “Land and
develogment costs.” In 2018 and 2017, addifiona 7.7 hectares and 3.7 bectares, respectively, were
reclassified ko this account [see Note 111

b5 at Decemnber 33, 2018, capitalaed mepreciation expense ngluded A5 part of development costs
amounted ta 4.8 million (see Nowe 1270

0On Cctober 25, 20148, the Housing and Land Use pegulatory Board {HLURB] issued a license to sall
far Aiphaland Baguio Mountain Lodees project which is valid not ialer than QOcroher 2015, the
comaletion of the approved development alan

in Moverrber 2018, ABMLHG startec tooselt log homes under in-house financng arrangement at
37% down payemant, payeble monthly over a masimum of 5 years with interest rate at 0% per

anNnlem,

Ag at December 31, 2018, ABMEH! sold 27 log homies, Interest garned fror real estate sales under
m-house financing amounting to 8117 miliion (see Note 51,
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Balusin Private Villa
movernonte in lend and dewe apment cosls pe-tairing to the dalesin Private villa proiect are as
fntlonws:

{ln Thousands)

__Mote 2018 _oamr

Balance at beginning of year R234,B16 F-
AT ditions:

Development CoOsts 305,223 194,380

Cancellad sale 57,222 -

Capitalized borrowing cosis 5 23,313 5,242
Cost of real estats sold 20 (181,808) (71,814}
Translers 11 - 107,008
Balance at gnd of year R438,771 #234,2815

The Balesin Privata ¥ila pertains to 4.4 hactares of land sityated in Babesin [sland that is corrently
veing developed as properties for saie,

I 2007, due tw the commencoment of developmant on the property with a view lo sell, the
property was reclassified from Tlvestment properties” to “and and development ceste”
{sem Note 11

In 2058, the Group cancelled a sale with relateg <ost amounting to 857.2 miltion and a idss on
cance.dation amounting ta R92.8 milion was recognized ir the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income under “Oher gains (losses)” account

Alphzland Makati Place
Movenents in land and develepment cosis partaining to the afphaland Makati Mace project are as

follows:

fln Thaousands)

Note 2018 2017
Balance &t begnning of year #2,521,042 g4 803,547
Transfers 1o:
Property and eguipment 12 {2.115,863] -
nwestment properiies 11 - [2,425,353)
Cost of real estate sold 20 {330,734} {257,833}
Additions,
Forfeited sales & 171,543 -
Developrent costs - 388,754
__ Cepitalized borrowing Costs i3 - 11,927
Balance i end cf vea: L 9225,?83 _ £2,521.042

The A:phatand Makati Piace Project, which is a Jeint venture with B5P {see Note 4), is located on 3
cne-hectare ot along Avala Avenue Extension corner Malugay Street, Makali City. Alphaland Makati
Place ronsists of three resicential towers atcp a si-storey podium comprising of a shopping center
and the Ciry Ciub for sports and teisure (see Note 11). Towers 1 and 2 were compieted in 2016 while
Tower 3 was completed in 2007,
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Froject cost ¢lassified 85 land and developmens costs pertains "o the Group’s proportionats interest
‘n the three residential towers of Alohaland Sakati Place thet are iatended for sale. tn 2017, the
Group charped its intention to lease Towe- 3 ta third parties iastead of selling  as a cendominiurm
anit, Accardingly, £ost of Towar 2 was raclassified to “Investment properlies” (see Note 11

in May 2018, AMPI started its serviced res dences operation under “The Alpra Suiles.” A number of
condominiem units of AMP] were vtilized for its serviced residencas. Accordingly, the costs of these
units were transferred to “Proporty and equ:pment” account (526 Nate 12}

The Group started the pre-selling of condominivr urits in Qctober 2611 for Tower 1 and in
“Javember 2043 for Tower 2. The terms ana conditions of the CTS involve the sale of one
condaminiute tnit and cne City Cluk share, ie. a prefesrec share of TCCAMPI, in which ownership
of the condorminium unit and the City Club share are inseparahble. Under the CTS, the camponents
are soid under a single selling price with downpayment payabie upon signing of the CT5 and the
unpzid halance payable in monthly instaliments for a period of three years from date of CTS.
Dwrership of the City Club share will allow the buyer 1o enjoy the amaenitios and facilities of the City
Cluk,

The Housing and tand Use Regu.atcry Board issued *he permarent License to Sell [LT5) 1o AM#| for
rhe sale of cendomin:um units it Tower § of Alpha and Makati Place on October 9, 2012 and for the
sale of condaminium snits in Tower 2 on May 27, 2014,

As discussed in Note 4, on September 8, 2015, tae Parties axecuted a Supplement to the Joint
verture Agreement enumerating the specfic units in the Proiect that constitute the BSP Share with
regnect to the Fodium, Towor 1, Tower 2 and Parking Slats.

ANl received deeosts from the szle of real estata. As ar Becember 31, 2018 and 2017, the current
partion amcunting 1o #13.0 milion and #51.4 milion, respectively, were presented undes
“Trade and other payables” iccount {see Mete 141 and the noncurrent postion amounting to
R7.1 million as at Decemkber 31, 2018 angd 2017 were presented under "Other noncurrent liaitities”
acoount in the consclidated statements of tinanc-al positicn.

n 2018, the Group forfeted 3 sale with reiated cost amounting to R171.5 million and a Joss on
forfeiture amounting 1o #8104 6 millinn was recognized in lhe wonsoldaied staterments of
romarehensive iacome [see Naote &)

Farking Lots tor bale
Mowerents i parking ‘ots for sale are as follows:

LIn Thousands}

L e 2018 2017
Calance at beginning of \;ea;' o 8135 750 #131.725
Furchases 150,993 -
Cost of real estate sold 20 {28,050} {15,575]
Addit'ons due to forfeited sales B 13,847 -
Balance at and of year R R272,145 P135 750

In May 2016, APl started 1o sell condominium wmis and parking lots undes in-house financing
arrangement at 5% down payment, payakle monihly over a maxirum af 180 years with interest rate
at 8% per annurm.



a5zt Dp-amper 31, 2008, AP scla 208 S 225 condominium units and parking lots. respedtively.
imeargsr aarned from reai estale seips under in-nrouse fnancing amounting to #LE miilion,
#7.7 miiion and RE.G mionin 2028, 217 and 2046, raspectively (see Maote Rl

Gtirer Current Assets
This acrount consists of:

tin T%'!ousands}l

) Ncte ) 2018 2017
froul VAT R332,114 2941,752
advances to contractars znd suppliers 26 558,461 611,165
Restricted cash 1RZ,944 1,183
CWT 238,641 127,837
supplies 71,416 52,203
frepayments 52,832 28,326
Deferred rent . 43,046 23,314 _
' ____ R2,189,454 »1,791,845

Input VAT
input VAT arises from the acquisition ot land and payments to suppliers and contractors for the
acquisition of goods and develonment of the Group's projects,

Advances to Contractors and Supphiers
Advances to contraciors and suppliers represent advance payments o contractors for the
constriction and development of the Group’s projects and are recouped URanN eVery progress kiiling
payment depanding un the percentage of accomglishment, Advances to contractors and suppliers,
relating 1o the portion of the project that is classied as investmant property and to acuance
payments that will be applied sgainst future billings beyond 12 months from the reporting date.
yrrounting to PL.8 million and #1384 millinn as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, are
presented under "Other moncurfent sssets” acoount in the consolidated statements of financial
position {see Note 13).

Pregayments
prepayments include prepaid rent, insurance ard commissioning fees.

Restricted Cash
Details of restrictad cash are as {ollows:

(I Th_g_usands}

. 2018 2017
Deut service reserve accaunt [DSRA] 175,834 R—
Escrow - icenss to sell 2,517 -
EsCrow - environmental funds 1,153 1,183

R382,844 #1183




Escrow - license 1o sal| TEPrEsEnts cash gepesited with Sterling Bank

license to sall issued by HLURB to ABMLHI in relation to the
Mountain Lodges project (see MNote 7).

Escrow -

{PBCom), pursuant to the Environmental Compliance Certificare
rekabilitation of the Project-affectad aica thraughout the canstruction and maintenance of the
feland Coub. The funds sha)| pe replenished annually or whenever the amount goes below 509 of the

ini*ial deposit.

Under tha QLSA, AST! ANPI ABIREC {collcetively, the Borrowers) are re
the security of interpst and,/or principa) Fesaymnents 1o the lenders
deposit cash to tha R5RA eguivalent 1o the upcoming dnterest anmd/or principai fepayment
{see Note 15} As discussed in Kote 1, the OLSA witt The leniders was pr

emvironniental funds represent rash depasited with Phij

of Asia, Inc., pursuant to the
complation of Afphaland Baguio

pping Bank of Communications
ssued to ABIRC relating to the

quired to maintain a DSRA for
The Borrowers are required to

elerminated a2nd refinanced

through BDO to finance new prejects and working capital fequirements of the Group,

terest income sared from restricoed c2sh armaunted to LG million, RO.S miy

in 2018, 2017 and 2014, respectivily [see Mote 5;

nvestment in and Advances to an Associate

This account consists of

lion and BG4 million

_____[IiIhousands]_

Note 2018 2017
fvestment in an assoriate R11,326 211,326
Advances [o an asgaciate 17 1,023 1,823
~ ' - R12,339 R12349
Details of investment in an associate are as follpws,
(in Thousands) ~
20618 2027
Acquisition costs:
Balance at heginning of year R50,000 B53,000
Beclassification _ L L - [&,000}
~ Bam nee at end of year SOLO0G SU,UQD_
Arcumulated equity in ret foss,
calance at beginning of yoar {38,674) {38,043
Equity in net income during the year - 1,381
Reclassificarion - (20123
- _Balance at end of yea P {38¢6?4J [BE,EFL}-
R11,.326 F11,326

Irvestment in an associate com arises of a 50% interest iz AHEC whose pringipa: activity invalves sale

anc ledss of heavy eguipment 35 at December 31, 2918 and 7017
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AREC

On April 5, 203, the BOD of AHEC approved a resolution to sharter the corporate life of AHEC to
four years. As at Decemnber 31, 2018, AHEC's liquidaticn is still in progress. The remaining carrying
amaount represents the Group's share in the resigual nat assats of AMEC

ASA|

ALPHA initially suhseribed 1o 79,999 common sheres of ASA, representing £3% of its outstanding
shares in March 2011, which was then acesunted for as an Issoliate. In Oetober 2027 ALPHA
purchkasad additional 79,999 from zn existing sharenolder for R11.2 million increasing ALPHA's
owneship to 80%.

Condensed financial information of the assgriate prepared gn the historica' basis of ACEOUNting are
as foitows:

{In Thousands)

- 2018 iy
Current assets k35,532 kAR 512
Current lisbilities 23,888 Z3,B88
MNat equity 22,544 2¢,644

_ o 2018 2017+ 016
Reverue - - R £12 1142 B12,547
Costs and pxperises _ . - ) {7,266) f15_,.3?1] _
Het income [foss) _ R R2,776 (#2,824)

Mnctuding AEANIe b Octofier 200 7,

The Sroup has not incurred any contingent lizhiities n relation to ite investmeant in AHEC nor does

the associate itsplf bag any contingent fiakitities “or whish the Group is contingently liable 55 at
Decernber 31, 2028 and 2017

The Group has not entered nto ary capits! commitmants in relation to irg irvestmeant in AHEC and
did nat receive any dividends from the #ssogigte in 2018, 2017 and 2076

] Eqﬁiw S;curilies Designated a.f.vaDCl fFoH:rh,r Classified as AFS rinanriar.Assetsl

This #cecunt consists of:

{In Thousands)

2013 2617
Qhﬁﬁed Ciubs' ;ﬁ'refer-ed shares;
ARICH R25,379,585 R24,481,268
TCCAMPY . ___. 5,656,500 5,383,000
| — - _R31036085  $30,064,268
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The rolffarward anafysis of tne account are as follows:

ine Thousands)

_ . . Mote 2018 2017 _
Balance zt beginning of year P30,0p4,268 F30.352 222
Fair value adjustmants 1,084,338 58,146
Saie of equity securities designated as FYCO)

orrerky classified a5 AFS fnanc.ai

aszets) {218,711) {251,500
Additional subscriptions 103,400 A00
Additions due 16 forfaited sales & 2,790 -
Balance at end of year #31,036,085 RI0,004, 268
Cutrent 1065311 RO85,821
Nonguregnt 28,970.774 20,078,457
. R31,036,085 30,054,268

The preferred shares held by the Grous are not required to gain control of the
intended to be dispesed of over times to third partizs, The sreferred sha
HEMC ong nominee per share to become a member and svail of the amenties and facilities of tha
Cubs, untess as otherwise reguired by applicable laws. They are aof ertitled ta vote and be voted
for 10 all meetings of the sha-eholders of the Clubs  The preferred shares have preference aver tha

Issuer’s conwnan shares ir: the distribution of ascets in 25 of dissclution and iiquidation,

The cost of the Group's investments in the preferred shares of ABIC| and TCCAMPI includes the cash

comsideration and the costifcurred and to complets the Clubs’ facifities,

2. ABICI

On Febrisary 10, 2011, ALFHA, ARIRC and AB.Cl e ered
the development and constructicn of a resort «ub {the "Islana Club®)
will develop and construct the Island Club with ALPHA extending
completior: ot the Island Club and its amenities in exchange for the ABICI shares. ABIC| fgress
that the excess of the constrction costs over the parvalue of the shares issited by ABICI shall e
treated 3s additional paid-in capital. Furthermore, it was clarified that the ownershio of the

iNtu & Developnent Agreement [DA) far
. 'tis agreed that ABIRC
eny financirg reguired for the

Islznd Club, its facifitizs and amenities will be transfarred to ASICI as cast is incurred.

On February 24, 2011, the Pnitippine SEC BREravas ABICTs Registration Statement an the |sland
Club Offer Shares for the vrimary offering of 37 of its Ciass “B"
uffering of its 3,519 Class "B preferred shares 1Ofter Shares or Tranche 1), In 2313, the SEC
approved ABHCI s Ameandad Regisiration Statament 1o increas
per share to R3,000,000 per share. ABICI fited in 2012 & Second Amended Registration
Statement o further increase its offoy price o B5.000,000, which is

the SEC 33 at Decermnbor 31, 2018,

' ABLZ, ABIRC subsciioed to additicnal Class “B° prefarred shares of ABICl tolating 3,090 shares,
As 2 cansideration for the adv.tional acguisitions of ABIC| preferred shares, ABIRC entered into a
supplemental DA with ABIC! in June 2012 increg wrg its abligatior to complete the Island Club's
facilities. By virtue of these additional subscriptioss, ABIRC transferred invesrment properties to

ABIClamounting to £453.3 million.

pre‘erred shares and secondary
e its offer arice from £2,000.000

stifl subiect for approval by

Clubs ard are
rgholders are enritied tn
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On November 12, 2012, the shareheldars oF ABIC! approved an amendment to the ABICI s
sharcholder structure whereby the additional 3,090 shares with par valye of RIOD were split
into 6,160 shares ([rancha 2} with a par valire ¥ B50 per share, Ais a resJlt, ABRL's subseription
to the above 3,090 shares was ecruerted ta 6,180 shares, On January 31 2013, the stock split
was approved by the 300

On faruary 5, 2017, the SEC approved Lhe ingrease in authorized capital stock of ABICI from
E21 million divided inta 14,000 camman shares with par walue B100 per share, and
10,090 Class "3" preferred shares divided further intg 3,910 Class "B-1” preferred shares with
par vatue of R100 a share and 6,180 Class “B-2" preferred shares with parvalue of 850 a share to
B30 mitlion divided inta 20,003 commean thares with par value of #1800 per share, and 15,660
Class "'B" preferred shares divided further into 2.000 Claws “3-1" preferrad shares with par value
af P00 per share, 12,007 Class “B-2" areferred shares with par valie of RS0 per share, and
1,000 Ciass "B-3" preferred shares with par vaive of 8230 per share,

Orn May 31, 2017, ABIRC subscribed to addtional 2,000 Class "B-27 preferred shares and
1,000 Class “B-3" {Tranche 3} preferred snares ot a sebscription price of P100 per share and
#200 per share, respectively, ur ap aggregate armount of BG4 million.

ImApnil 2013, ABICI andd ABIRC executnd a _ette” Agreement wharein tha parties agreed that the
difference between the budget under the Supplemerdsry OA and the actaal construction costs
incurred will be treated as advences Lo ABICI  Advanecos to ABIC! rofated to this agreement
amounted to F1,575.5 million as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 (see Nate 17} In 2015, ABIC
already financed its own corstruction in the fsland Club,

ABICIs Tranche 1 and Tranche 2 preferred shares entitle the holder for 14 and 7 free villa night
stay in the [sland Club, respeciivedy.

The fair values of unscld shares as at Dccamber 31, 2018 and 2017 are as "aliows;

;s 2017
Number of Nurmbar of
__ Shares Amount” Shares Amgunt*
Tranche 1 711 P3,199,500 754 3,016,000
Tranche 2 11,966 22,179,885 12,000 21,465,068
Trarche 3 1,000 200 1.000 200
- ) R25,379,585 P24,481,268

"ARTOLAES 07 Thousards.

TCCAMPY

In October 2018, AST:, AMPI and TCCAMPI entered inta a DA for the development and
constraction of a City Club in &iphalane Malat Place. it is agreed that ASTH andior AMPI will
devnlop and construct the City Club w'th AMEP exteading sny tinancing required for fts
completion end amenities i cxchange far the TOCAMPT stares.

On December 8, 2010, the 3FC approved TCCAMP's registration of an aggregate of
5,000 preferred shares, with issue price of FLOO per share, comprising of 530 shares to be
oifered by way of primary offering and 4,500 shares by way of sacandary offering,
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In December 2010, ASTI, AMPI znd TCCAMPI 2ntered itg a Supplemental DA to clarify that
under the DA, 4 is ABPI who has the prirasy naligation 1o develop and construct the City Cluh.
Mareceor, it was clarified that, in consideration for the Cizy Club’s construction, TCCAMP| agrees
1z convert ary anc alf advances provided by A57Hand AMPE to adaitianal paic-in eapital as cost
ig incurred. Furthermare, it was clarified “kat the ownership of the City Club, its facitities and
amenities will be transferred to TCCAMP as cost is incurrad,

The City Club was fully completed in January 20014

AMPI's AFS financiat assets are marked to market using the fair value of F1.5 miltion per share as
ai December 31, 2018 and 2C1i7. There are 3,771 and 3722 onseld shares as at December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively. As at Cezernher 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value uf unsold zhares
amaunied to R5,656.5 milich ard P5,583 0 million, raspectively.

Unres|ized Valuation Gain on AFS Fin ancis! Assets
The Group's AFS financial assets is marked to market using the fair value equivalent to the cash
seiling price of a recent sale to the public for the unquoted preferred shares,

Movements in the unreatized zain o AFS financiz! asscts, ner of refated tax effect. are as follaws:

Jn Tiousandst

. ) 2018 7
Balance at beginning of year £23,432,497 23,574,600
Effect ot change in tax rate {1,301,805) -
Lirrealized valuation gain 021,637 52,331
Reclessification adjust mens 160,701} [194,434)
Balance at end of year ' _ o R22,831,678 . R23,432,487

On Decemnber 19, 2017, a new tax reform law, Tax Reform for acceleration and Inchusion (TRAIN],
was approved which provides amandmerts to several provisicns of Natonal internal Revenye Code
of 1537 {NIRC of 1997; This wiil te effective beginning January 1, 2018, Copital gains tax [CGT)
from salz of shares of stock not traded in local stock exchange is amended from 5% an the first
RO.1 mithon and 10% in excess thereof besad on MIRC of 1857 tq a flat rate of 153 on TRAIN,

On various dates in 2018, AMPI and ABIRC soid 3% and 51 shares, respectively, with fair values
aggregating B2 18.7 m:llicn at reszactive dates of disaosal in TESEDNSS 1O rpuidity requirements. The
chmulathie net gain o1 disposdi amounting to 21E9.1 milion, gross of tax effect, was Firectly
reclassified to retained earnings in 2018. Gain on sale of AFS financial assets amouni’ng 1o
2123.2 million and P198.5 miltion in 2017 and 2016, raspectively, were prasented ‘n profic or joss.

Receivalile arising from the saie of ATS financial zsse-s amounted 1o #6% 7 millian and #89.2 millian
as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively isee Notes 5 and 13, No dividends were
recegnized in 2008, 201/ and 2016,

As at Decemer 31, 2018 and 2017, deposits received from buyers of club shares FMoUALing to
FIEO.3 million and B225.2 mllion, rescectively, wore presented under “Trade and other mayables”
account in the consalidated statements of financial pesiticn [see Note 13].
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-1 Investment Properties
floverrents in this account are as fellgws:

{In Thousands)

_ Note 2018 2017

Ralance at beginning of yaar ) R40,564,073 27,297,259
Fair value change 7,453,515 11,471,819
Acditlons:

Capital expengituras 177,096 12,4834

Purchases 31,681 20,825

Capitalized borrowing costs i3 - 4,212
Transfers fram {{a);

tand and development cost 7 (633,310) 2,098,034

Properly and aguipmert 1z (2,234} [19,471)
Rectission oft

Dizposal 5,000 -

Sale - {216,279)
Disposais . _ - {5,000}
Balance at end of vear ) R47, 675,812 R40 664,073

Investments carried at fair valua consist of the following:

_[r thousangds)

: 2018 017
Alphaland Southgate Tower R11,463,356  R10.114.716
Alptaland Balesin 1sland Property 9,566,450 8,355,753
Aipheiand Makati Piace:
Tower 3 8,672,092 £,214,8498
Podium 3,548,381 3,548 381
Fatnangunan Property 5,286,260 1,772,458
Eaguio Propoerty 4,744,557 4,443,152
Silang Properly 4,380,012 4,200,011
Atimonan Property A 14,704 14,704
#47,675,812 E30,664,073

Alphaland Southgate Tower
In Jasneary 2008, AST] acquired from South Ching Resources, Inc, and the Puyat family two parcels of

iand measurirg a total of 9,497 syuare meters, more o7 ‘ess, at the cosner of EDSA and Ching Roces
Avenuz in Makati City togather with the exicting imprevements thereon, The Proserty is now a Tully
developed and operationa’ 20-storey office tower buiding with a &-starey podium kncwn as
Alphaland Southgate Tower. it was declareg an Infarmation Technoingy Zong on January 12, 2009
by the Philippine Economic Zone Authosity, gursuant to Presidential Proclamation M. 1692 daled
Cecermber 22, 2005.

Rentincome from Alphaland Southgata Tower includirg commaon utilives, services and mairtenance
charges amounted to BY79.8 milion, B740.3 million 2nd P624.6 miion in 2018, 2017 and 20016,
respectively, Direct costs relzend to rer: ncome amounted to PINE 7 m:llipn, B179.2 million and
B111.3 miflion in 2818, 2017 3ng 201%, respective v, which mainly comprised of utifities and

tomntisiay oLl [nee Hote 183
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11, Inwestment Pruperties- -

Moverments in this ACCOUnt are as Lollows:

S4d -

. Ao Thousands)
B - o Note 2018 2017
Balarce at beginring of yosr ' o RA40.664,073 P27,257 289
Fair value charge 7,453 5156 11,471,819
aderit.ons:
Capftsl expenditures 177,098 12,634
Purchases 31,681 20,825
Capiralized borrowing costs 15 - 4,212
Transfers from fio):
Land and developmznt cost 7 (653,310) 2,098,034
Froperty and equipment L2 {2,224} {19,471)
Resgission of;
Lisposal 5,000 -
Sale - {216,279!
Disposals o o - {5,000
Balance at eng of year - P47,675,812 P40664,073

fnvestments carried at fair value cansist of the followirg:

(in Thousands)

2017
Alghaland Southgate Towsr R11,463,356 k10,114,716
Alphaland Balesin I3lang Froperey 8,566,450 E,355,753
Alehaiond Makati Place:
Towar 3 8,672,082 8,214,898
FPadium 3,548,321 3,548, 28]
PaNangUnan Prg perty 5,286,260 1,772,454
Saguio Property 4,744,557 £,443 157
Sitang Property 4,380,012 4,200011
.ﬂ.rin_m_n_mo,nerw 14,704 14,704
- R47,675,812 £40.664.073

Alphaiand Southgate Tower

in January 2008, AST acquired from Sauth Ching Resources, Inc and the Puyart famity
land Measuring a total of §,497 fquare meters, mare or (258 at the cornes of EDsA

two parcels of
and Chine Aoces

AVERUP in Wiakat: City together with the eXistirg improvements therean, The progerty is now g fully

deveispaa and vperational 20-storev office lower bailding with a g
Aiphalana Soutkpate Tower It was geLlarea zn Mfarmatien Tecknalo
by the Philippine Economic Zone AUth:oriy, pursiant to

December 22, 2068,

Rent incame frorm Alphatand Southgate Tower

=sterey podium known as
BY Z0ne on fanuary 12, 2000
Presidential Proclamation Mo, 1652 dated

inciuding comman utilities, services gnd maintenahce

charges amounted Lo F7P79.8 milion, #7203 Miflion and 86248 millon in 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. MHrect costs relared o rent intome amaourted 1y BISB.7 m:llian, R179.1 million arpg

1113 miilior in 2018, 2017 an 201a, respectively, which mainly eomprise

SO IS ary costs {see Mote 18]

d of wtilities and



L

The praperty cureently sscures the ong-term losn facility of AL#MA under OLSA with BDO
{sec Note 15]. The same property was used to secure the leng-term debt of ASTI which was settied
in 3017,

As discussed tn Note 1, ASTI is currently in negctiations with a taird party for the sale of Alshaland
Snythgata Tower, Howewver, 3s at january 20 2016, there is ne definitive agreement regarding the
s3ie, The sale is conditioned on obiaining relevant regstulory chearances.

Alphaland Balesin Isiand Property

ARRC acquired approximately 354 hectares of fzng in Salesin 1sland, Polifle, Quezon. Additional
12 neciares were alsa accuired via land-for-share swaps with existing Balesin Island fandowners.
This Lrings the total land owrershig to 406 hertzres. Of this toral, approximately 88 hectares in
2017 and 2016 were committed fo- transfer to &30 [3ee Mote 100, The transfer of centificates of
title is currently being processed.

Certain lots and improvements in Balesin Island cusrently secure the long-term loan faciity of ALPHA
uafer QLSA with 800, The same iors secure the loans payable chtainad by ABIRC on May 21, 2013
and Marzh 23, 2012 whicn were settles in 2017 (see MNote 15].

In 2017, ABIRC started the development of cerlain portions of is land far sale. Arcordingly, these
postinns wera reclassified to "Land and developmert costs” accournl [see Mote T

Alphaland Makati Place

This reprasents the Padium and Tower 3 2t the alphaland Makati Piace. The Podium is eurrently
speratea as @ mall ang s for ledse 1o Uiisd paotes see Notes 4 and 71 dn 2017, the Group
reclassifiad Tower 2 froon “Land and deveiopmert costs” to “tavestment property” account due 16
change ir intention over the property from sondominium units for sale to a property held for
‘wasing, The change in maragement’s intenticn was evidenced by actual change in the use of
nroperty [see Note 7).

Rent income earned from Alpkaland Ma<ati Place amounted 10 P393.2 milkon, #34.5 mitlicn and
2714 millian in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respective’y. Direct costs refated to rent income amountead to
242 5 million, #13.7 midion and 2333 willian in 2018, 2017 and 2015, resgedtively, which mainty
comprised of utifities and commissary costs (sea Notge 18],

Tne proserty currently secures the long-term loan facility of ALPMA under OL3A with BRO
{see Mote 18], The property, including the project cost classified as fand and dewelopment costs
{see Mote 7], used to seture the long-term debt abtiined by AMPI which was settbed in 2017 {see
Mote 15

Patnanungan Property

in 2018 s4d 2015, the Group acquired parcels of land aggregat.ng appreximately 385 .6 hectares and
325.3 hectares of land, respectively, in Patranungan, Quezon. This brings the total land ownership
10 711.0 hectares, more or dess, which is reserdcd for future deveiopment,

in Secember 3017, the Growp so'd 2.0 hectares to Red Sun Capital Heldings Corporstion for
£8 0 mitlion, resulting to a gain amourting to 2.1 million in 2018, the contract to sel! was rescindod
resLiting to 3 165 amounting to 821 million,

try Becember 2018, the Group acqaired 42.2 hectares with a carrying amount of 8317 million. This
brings the totat land awnership to 753.2 hectares.
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Bapuio Property

Tnis consists of parcels of land and relzted transaction costs acguired by the Group (through a
whollv-owned subsidiary] from ~arious setlers in July 2015, The benefiziai owner of the entire
property s BVQ, the majority shareholderand Cheirman of ALPHA.

Trese parcels of land, measuring approximately 734 hectares as of the end of 2015, of rolling
teFrains are situzted in Mogon, Berguet, st ten minutes from Baguio Cioy by land, &0 likewise
transfe-red to the Group rights to ancther 2.9 hectares of land <o comolete the tetal area at
7G.3 hectares. The Group is daveloping the sroperty into the Alphaland Baguio Mauntain Lodges,

The feir value of the property hased on an independert aporaiser’s report dated October 22, 2018,
Mervernber 16, 2017 and December 2, 2018 is ar 89,000 per square meter or 2 total of B4.7 Lillion,
B7,353 per square rreter or a total of R44 bilion and R5,900 per square meter or a total of
F3.6 billion, respectively.

The Group zcquired the oroperty in 20315 at s zonal walue, or & teta. acquisition cost of
B10E.0 millicn, which is sebstantially below the app-aises walue. 45 a consideration to RVOC for
hawing sald the property at its zonal value, RO shall have a 15% interest, to be finalized upon
conclusion of the project, without need of any further investment or equily infusion. The Group will
shouider alt development costs raguired for the praject.

In 2816, due to maragerent's decisicn 1o develsp 112 groperty as a korizontal condominium for
sale, 131 hectare of the property was reclassified to land ard development costs. adgditional
7.7 nectares and 3.7 hectares were soclassificd o land ang develapment costs in 2018 and 2017,
respectiveiy [seo Mete 7).

ln 2017, the Group started the development for the initial phase of the project and the Group also
acquired additional :and, reeasuring .2 nectares The ol iand area of the property approximates
77.5 hectares as at December 31, 2018 and 2017,

Silang Praperty
ASTI's three parcels of land in Siiang, Cavite, medsuring a 1otal of 300,000 sguare meters, mors or

less, is reserved for future development. Tha property currently secures the long-term loan facilty
of ALPHA undar QLSA with BOO {see Mote 15).

Atimonan Property
ABIRC's land in Atimonran, Quezon Province, measuring a teta' of 21,005 sgusre meters, more or
l2ss, 5 resarved for future development,

The fair value of the investment sroperties as at Jecember 31, 2016 is hased on vaiuations
performed by accredited indeperdent appraisers.  As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
management evaluated that the carrying value of the investment property approximates the fair
value as at raporting date since there were no significant changes ir the condition of this property
and econcmic environmant hebwesn those dates,

PAGCOR City Property

i December 2015, the Group (tircugh 3 who eownad subsidiary) acguired PAGCOR City Praperty
at its zoral value of #SO.000 per scuare meler orog totad of R198.9 million.  However, on
January 11, 2017, the garties agre=d to rescing the purchase whereby the Group returngd and
deliverad to the Seller the tizles to, and all gther rights over the property.  Inoturn, the Seller
returned the full Purchase Price of the Freperty and other costs to the Group.
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The sescription of the valuation techniues used and key inputs to feir valuaticn are as follows:

Srabulizad net cperating

irgarne e R Capitelization rgte
2018 207 2018 2017
Alphaland Southgate Tower R576,16% HE4Z, 479 5.00% 5.39%
Alphatand Makarti Flace:
Towar 3% 508,911 458,026 5.00% C00%
Podium 67,968 7,968 2,00% 2.90%

e thoLSE s,
+hiter issifpe froom N oag ceg development cosls " ocpead i 207

The sighificant unchservable inputs used in the f2ir value measurement catzgorized within Level 3 of
the fair value hierarchy of the entity’s portfotios of investment properties are:

e Stomiized NOI- calculation wsed 1o identify performance of an iavestment praperty thal
produces stable income.

e Copitalizotion rote: rate used to estimate the potential retura of the ny2siment property.

Inzeme capitalization approach is a cemparat ve approach, which considers income and expense
datz relating to the progerty being valued and estimated it through a capitalization process,
Cagitalization relates income and a defined vajue type by cenverting an income amaunt inte 3 value
ostlmate.  This process may cons.der direct relationships (knewn as capialization rates), vigld or
discount rates (reflacting measures of return on nvestmenty, or both.

Sensitivity Anafysis, Generally, an increase (decresse) in stabilized NO1 will result in an increase
[decrease] to the fairvalue of iavestment property. Anincrease [decrease} in the capitalization rate
witl resuft in @ decrease [increased to the fair valua of 20 investrnent property. The capital-zation
rate magnifies the effect of 3 change in stabilizad NOIL with a lower capitazation rate resulting in a
greater impact of a change in stabilized NG| than a higher capita‘ization rate.

Market Data Approach
Kange
Tlass of

Fraject Soppery Significant Unobuersatie nouts y 2013 2037
ﬂ‘\'ﬁha!&ﬁd Balesin —and Price Duer s(pug-2 mELar RL,500-R2 615 RA50-R 70D
slang VaiLe ad:usome ris ffor development] 189%-233% 190%-272%
AEmanan Lard Srice per Wguara metnr Wi, 200-R3,600 R1 200-F2 600
Wal.@ ad Jsiments 40%-30% A¥- B0%

HEINANUngEan _and FrCR WEr S0 9 mheter R1,000 Fa00-RAL0
Weli@ ad usTme 0% S%-35%

The signi‘icant unabsarvabie inputs to rarvallation are as foliows:

Price per sauare meter: estimated valug prevailing in the real estate marker dependirg on the
location, araa, shape and timsa elemnent,
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Value aaiustments: adjustments are made to tring the corparative values in appreximation to the
investment properties tak ng inta accouat external factors (market rorditions, campetitiveness,
seomamic condition/demand/growidh, time elementi and internal factors flacation, sizefshape/
errain and developmaent),

In valuing the land using sales comparisor approach, records of recant sales and offerings of similar
and are analyzed and comparisons were made for such factors as size, charasteristic of the lor,
jovation, quality and prospective use.

Sensitivity Anclvsis. The follow ng faclors were contidered in datermining the market value of the
subject property:

+ property location and neighborhaod data

+ present use of the groperly is either cormrmercial/residentia!/agricuitural

v guantitative market va ue adiustments basad on axternal and internal factors

»  highest and best use [rommercial and residential buitding/resort and its aliied development;]

Significant increase (decrease}in price per sqlare meter would resdlt in 2 significantly higher {lower]

fair value measurament, Significa®t infrease (decrease) in value adjustnients would resutt ina
lower [higherp fair value measurament.

{and Deveiopment Approach

December 31, 2018

significant Unobservable Input Baguio Silang
Period of land developr et and seiimg'prugra m 5 years 5 -G years
adrrinistzative/market-ng cost 7% of gross sales 12% of gross sales
intorest rate selected for discounting 1456 12%
Cevetoper’s profix 0% of development cost  20% of devalopment cost
Proposed setling price R45,000 - #55,000 #13,000 - 26,460
Calc . lated ne af subdisision let 320 lots 175 - 486 lots
Land value/annual ingrement of tand val.e 25% 10%-20%

Jecembe 31, 2017

Sigr.i* cant Unebservable Input . Baguia ) Silang
Parcd of iand dovelopmient ang selting pragrarn 5 wadrs & -&vypars
Administrat ve/markating cost 7% of pross sales 12% of gross sabes
Interest rate sefected for ciscountirg 14% 12%
Deyvelaner’s profit Z0% of deversament cout 20% of development cost
Propased selling price ®A0 000 - ®50,000 B18.000- 826,400
Caxwatesd no, ol subdivision ict 320 o1 175 - 485 0t
Lend value/annual increment of lind vale 25% 10%6-20%

Using the lamd development approach, the proparties are treated as mixed-used subdiision
development and the gross sales that may be expected from the propesed saleable lots are then
estimated in accordance with the prevailing prices of comparable development subdivision lots
within the immediate vicimty, Overhead and saies sxpenses, and develuper’s arofit, Lhe residual
salps income is then attributed t9 the “raw” and va'ue.
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The valuation process consisis ¢f the following:

Pregaration af a subwd~asicn study in sccordéorce with the highest and beit use concept
{i.e. residential subdivision development] of the iand;

« Fstablishment of total revends or proceeds of sales of subdivision fuls cn the basis of what
ready-to-build sites in similar subdivisions are sefing;

s Determination af deveicpment cosis corsisting of clearing and grading, survey, tilting services,
constiuction of daccess raads, rosdways, curbs and gutlars, Sewerage and drainage system,
water supply and clectrical distribution, rp-répping and sugervigian and other contingency
items considering current prices for constrection materials, labor, eontractar’s profit and

gverhead expenses,

« Istimation of overhead and szles expenses suth as broker's commissions, promotion and
advertisement, administrative and collecticn, taxes and miscellaneous expenses.

sensitivity Anafysis. Sigaificant inc-ease {decreess) i land value, proposed selling price a2nd
calculated ne. of lats wouwd result in 2 signif:cantly gher {lower) fair valtie measurement.
Significant increase {decrzase} in administrative and marketing costs and developer's profit would
resuit Im a lower {highes} fair valuge measurernant,
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n May 2018, the Group reclassifiec a rumber ot condominium units of AMPI fram “Land and
develnpment cosis” to “Propeny and equipmer:” account due ta change in intention over the
proparty from condominium urnits for sale to & arcperty operated as serviced residences. The
change in management's inteqtion was evidenced by an actual chargs in use of the property
isee Note 7).

Fair Value Mezsurgment

In 2618, the Group adopted the revaluation model for the measuremert of its serviced residences.
The fair value of the Group's serviced residences &5 defermined by &0 indegendent appraiser on
Octabar 19, 2018 usng lhe income Casilaiization Appreach amounted to 82290 miflion.
The difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the serviced residences
amounting to F4,245.0 million was recoprized as revaluation ircrease. The fair vaiue measurement
for serviced residences has been categorized as Llevel 3 [significent unchservatile inputs},

In 22318, the Group adepted the revaiLation model fur the subseguent measwrament of s arcrafts.
The fair walue of the Group’s aircrafts ac deotermined by an independent apprabser on
Dreember 12, 203E and MNowembuer 7, 2017 using Market Data Approach ameounied to
B, dd 6.1 miition and B8535 milian, respectively. The difference batween the {ai- value and the
carrying amount of the aircrafts amounting to L2002 million and PO.5 million was recognized as
revalLation ingrease in 2018 and 2017, respectively  The fair value measurement for the Group's
aircraft has been categorized as Ltevel 3 (significant unoabsarvable inputs),

The revaluation surplus recagaized in the equity section of the corsolidated statemeants of firancral
positicn amounted to B2 103.0 millon and BTS S mllon 25 at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respactively.

Tne carrying amount of propesty and egquipment sreasured at revalued amount had they been
recognized at cast are as follows:

fin Thausands)

o 2018 2017

Serviced residences ) 'h'*_#—_'m—ﬁiﬁéifﬁia \ F—
Arerafts ) 474,581 1,424 611
R R4.527,114 91,474,611

income Capitalization Approach
As at December 31, 2018, the stabilized NO! and capitalization rate used for the fair valuation of
sefviced residences amounted to B4171.4 million and &.08¢, respectively.

The significant unobservaizle inputs used in Lhe fair value measerement categorized within Level 3 of
the fair vaiue hierarchy of the entity's serv.ced residences are;

v Stebifized NOIL cakouiation used to identify performance of a property that produces stable
incame.
»  Caoitglizotion rgte: tate used to estimate the potantial return of the praperty.
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mcome capitalization approach is a comparative approach, wih ch cansiders income and expense
duta relating to the property being valued and estimatec it through @ capitalization process,
Caprtahization relates income and a definec value type by comverting an income amount into a value
estimate. This process may consider direct relationships (krown as capitalizstion rates), yield or
discount rates {reflecring measures of return on investment}, ar sath.

Sensitivity Anolysis. Generally, an increase (decrezse; in stabilice NOI wiil result in an increase
{decrease) to tne fa'r veiue of serviced residences. Anincrease idecrease) ir the capitalization rate
will rasult in @ decrease (increase) to the fair value of serviced residences. The capitalization rate
magnifies the effect of a change in slabiticed NO with & lower capitalization rate resulting in a
greater impact of a change in stabilized NOI then a higher capitalization rat.

Warket Drata Approach

In detarrrining the fair value of zirorafts, cost data were gathered from original import commercial
ipvoices and as well as the comparsble sources of simlar machinery and equipment and used of
prices and ather retevant information generated by market transaction invohing similar agsset. The
fair value was determined by reference to the replacement cost transiated at the current foreign

exchange rate.

Sensitivity Anolysis. Significant increase (decreasej in replacemant cost and exchange rate woulc
result in a signilicantly higher {lower) fair value measurement,

Further inforrmation abo.ut Lhe assumpiiors made n measuring fair values is included in Note 25,
Depreciation and amartizatian is recognized under the tofowing aucounts:

[In Thausands)

_ . rote 2018 2017 2016
Property and equipme R295.781 R122.483 121,737
R‘.:?:'\_u;re 13 1“,125 . =3 12 ?_

[=
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13. Other Noncutrent Assets

This account consists of:

{In Thousands)

) Mote 2018 2017
Input VAT E95,321 EE0 454
Refundable daposts 36,229 48,258
Frepayments 15,761 -
Reccivables from caie of:
Ciub shares 10 7,556 7,556
Aeal pstate &) 4,868 41 532
Software - net 3,747 77
Advances to contractors ana supphiers -
aet of current portion 2 1,769 138,352
Others i 25,333 25,332
B190,584 p321,572

Refundable deposits include killing and meter deposits 1o Manila Electric Company {Meralca),
These are refundable upon termination of service of Meralco,

The movements in software are as fo'lows:

{In Thousands)

L MNote . s 2017
o -
Batance at beginning of year E8,040 #g2,040
Additions 5,796 -
palance at end of yeat - _ 13,836 8040
Accumulated Amortization
Balance at beginnirg cf year 7.963 7,879
Arnotization 13 2,126 84
Balance at end of vear ' S 10,085 7,983

Net Carrying Amount PE,M? E77
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i4. Trade and Other Pavables
This arcaunt consists of:

{In Thousands)

Nele_ 20148 2057
Taade ) R1,777,061 R1,030,804
Nontrade 560,247 -
Fetention payabls 26 408,037 407,514
Deposits from sale of:
Freferred shares 0 380,252 235,165
Heal estate 7 13,008 91,416
Arcrued Bxpenses:
Interest 188,291 15,376
Consiruction costs 186,773 873,676
Qthers 18,495 16,369
Unearnad incame 105,065 93,256
Others 257,836 36,007
- #3,885,062 R2,B08,583

Trade payables are noninterest-bearing ang are due igr payment within 30 to 120 days.

mMontrade payables are noninterest-bearing and zre due and demandable.  These pertain to
purchases of assets.

Aocried eXpensas mairny pesIn 1o accruals for development costs and peneral and administrative
expenses. Other payables consist of povernment payables. Accrued espenses and olher payvables
are generally settfed within one year.

Unearned inceme pestains te unearned rental.

1% Long-term Deht
Mresentedd bhebow are thie details of 1this acoaur:

[In Thousands)

2018 £017
Aorre eees Current  Moncurrent Total furrent  Nend.rent Total
RiPHG P1,053 655 F4.d67.365 PS,5Z1,020 EQ7 338D =5 22Y 3RS PR MO1.374
BAR] 48,755 118,973 167,738 A5, 2T 167 742 2-3.01z
Al 55,310 74,531 130,141 h7913 178 31G 182,234
Bk He b, 232 313,600 380,032

Bl,223962 R4,974.969 REIBEAI3L  E1 071574 RS52L,046 0 RES9G,020
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ALPHA

Sl LoEn ong Security Agraement with 810

Om Tebruary 15, 2017, ALPHA entered into an GLSA with BDO for a loan facility of #5,500.0 rrlien ta
refinance the existing loans and to finance new proiects and working capital requirements of the
Group. The loan has a term of sever years, payible in 25 quarterdy principal amartirations
cammancing one vear after inivial drawdown date. This loan facility was sussequentty increased to
R6,726.0 million in the last quarter of 2017, Loan drawdowns apgregated F400.0 millian and
#6 2860 million in 2018 and 2017, ALPHA had undrawn horrowing facility available amounting to
2400 million as at Decernher 31, 2018,

interest. which is based an the sum of the Fixed Tranche Interest Raie and the Floating Tranche
iInteresl Rate, is pavable guarterly. Fixed Tranche interest Rate is the sum of the prevailing
sever-year PDST-R2 rate plus 2.75% spread per arnum. Floating “ranche Interest Rate is the higher
of the sum of the prevailing three-maonth PRST-R2 rate plus 2.75% spread por annum or the sum of
the prevailing deposit facilivy rate adepted by the Bangko sentral ng Pilipinas for deposit facilihies
with a tenm of 28 daye plus 1.25% spreay per anaum.

sfiactive interest frates of the long-term debt range fram 5.0% to 9.1% and 4.3% to 8.1% per annum
in 2018 and 2017, respectively, interest expense recognized in the consofidated statements of
carmprehensive income amountsd Lo #2923 million and £268.2 million in 2018 and 2017.

The GLSA with BDO is secured by: 1) real estate margage over the loks and improvements in Balesin
Island, properties in Alpkalznd Sovuthgate Tower, &lphaland Makatl Piace and Silang Property with
an aggregate amount of #39,600.0 mition and 2384240 mulsor g3 at Decemver 31, 2018 and 2017,
respective y (see Naotes 11 a-wd 12); by Continaing Surety Agreement with ALPHA, ABICI, ABIRC, ARNEL
and AST), and ¢ Share Martgags in Alphaland Property Manzgement Corparation, ABIRC and ABICL,

The long-term foan with BOO under Lhe GLSA dated Februsry 15, 2017, with outstanding amounting
to BS,653 2 millian inclisive of interes: and adjustments as of January 23, 2019, was assigned
effective on the sams date by BDO tu Philippine Sank of Communications - Trust and Wealth
Management Group pursuant to an Assigrmert Agreement datad January 23, 2019 belween the
ageties

The scheduled maturities of ALPHA's outstanding loans as &t December 31, 2018 2re as follows
{irs thousands):

2018 p1,065,725
=024 1,065,725
221 and oawards o 3,463,609
o o T k505,080
Less deferred finzneing cost 74,039}
R5,521,020
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Tha details of the igans refinanced in 2017 through the OLSA with BDO are as follows
(in thousands):

Carrpang Amount on the

Date of Refinancing Interest

Barsawvet Eank ) Purpose of the Lean finglosive of interest] Rates
£5TI PRComM Refirantilg caisting O3 5A with BDO U oaak z0d

for financing of genurgl coreors e Bisinass 22477166 1.7% 10 5.6%
LF1RT LAk Patially refirancing the e lagifyy ard partaily

fLndieg the gaperal expendiuces and orhar

pereal cormarate axpenset of ASIRT 1020806 5.O%
aiMALIN FH3 Faraally finznginy thy gunstriectns ans

davatppmany of Alpaaiznd 3agaic Mounlain

1 paapas Froeer 121,335 5.8%
b CBP, LEP, BOC Fartialty financing 1he develnpmernt, construstion

ang dayBank and aperasun of the Phase | 37 Alphatang
hizkati Flace 3nL2¥0 S0 1o BLO%
W, 551 577

The ref.narced luans a-e secu-ed by (a) Alphziand boutagate Tower,; (L) real estate morigage over
lats in Balesin tsland; 'c} continuing su-etyship agrezmeant with ALPHA; (d} deed of pledge covering
1,000 ABICH preferred shares held by ABIRT; () corporate guaréntee of ASTY, [f] groperties tocated in
Parziague City: {g) Aphaland Makati Place; and (h} Silang property. Total carrying vatue of the
collaleral amounted to B83,0132.5 million as at December 31, 2016,

‘nterest expense pertaining to the refinanced loans amounted to B&5.9 million and BZ23.3 millicn in
2017 and 201, respectively.

Logn Facility with Polom

On February 11, 2016, 8LPHA entered intp an OLSA with PBCom for a loan facility of #480.0 million
far the purpose of financing the genersl corperate purpose of ALPHA. On February 11, 2016 and
May 11, 2016, ALPHA rmade the first and second drawdown amounting to #4000 million and

RR0.0 rriilion, respectively.

The loan has a term of seven vears from initiaf drawdown date, inclusive of a grace period of gne
year teckoned from the initial drawdown date, payzble in 24 guarterky principal amartizations after
the lapse of the grace period. Interast, whicn is bBased on flcating rate of the higher of the
three-month Benchmark Rate plus spread of 3% per annurn and BSP Overnight Borrowing Rate plus
spread of 1.25% per annum, is payable guarterly.

The dnan was fully settred in 2017,
Capitalized interast and other finsnzing costs 00 the logns are as fallews:

{in Thousands)

. Mote 2018 20.7 2016
Lard and development costs 7 R145,957 #B7,037 #6440
Iwestment properties N - 4238 -

#145,957 BT 1,244 F36,440




The rate used to determine the amaunt of barrowing cost eligible for capitalization was 6.5% and
7.1%, 2 at December 31, 2018 and 2087, resgectivety.

AAPI

On Febiruary 3, 2017, AP entersd into an ACL agreement with GDOLF| for a lsan facilivy of
£245.0 million far the purpose of financing the acguistion of an ATRZ Turboprop Alrerafr,
MSN 578, AAP| made its initial grawdown amcunting ta P205.7 million on February 14, 2017 at a
fieed intorest rate of 708 per annum.

On Oceober 5, 2017, the loan facility was increased 1o B265.2 miflion to accommadate the financing
of 2 repiacemant engine for the seid aircraft.  AAPl made ity second drawdown amoaunting te
R35.4 million on Novernber 16, 2017 at a ' wed interest rate of § 0% per annum.

Interest expense recagnized in the consolidated statements of 2omprehensive income amaunled (o
215.4 million and P12 8 million in 2018 2nd 2017, The principal ard interest of the loan is payable
within 60 months from the date of initial e rrowing

The ACL is secured by the: [al deed cf chattel mortgage over the subject sircralt with a carrying
amour: of B374.4 milion 25 at Decernber 31, 2018; and {b) continuing surety of ALPHA, AAl AST
and ABIRC.

The schoduled maturities of AAPEs cutstanding loars as at December 31, 2018 are as follows
{in thousands):

20119 #45.023
2026 52,746
2021 and chwards 66,535
' o - 168,364
Less deferred financing cust (R2H}
. B167,738

AAl

an March 4, 2015, AAl entered into an ACL agreemert with BDOLA for a loan facility of
B279.0 mill.on for the purpose of financing the acouisition of ATR7E Turbcorop Aircraft, MSN 666.
On March 4, 20106, A8l made Bts drawdown 2 nounting te #2668 million.

Loan interast rate is the prevailing market rate on actual booking date up to january 1, 2017. A
subsequent agreement changed the fixed interest rate into a fioating intecest rate that is repriced
guarterly pased an the sum of the prevaiing threg-month PDST-RZ rate and 2.75% per annum
effective January 2, 2017 The princigai and interzst of the loan s payable within five years from the
date of initial borrowing. Monifly amortization amZurts 1o #5.3 milion.

Interest rate of the long-term fent ranges fron 5.22% to 7.04% in 2018 and 5.06% to 7.25% per
arnum in 2017 and 2016, Interest expease recognized in the consoiidasted statements of
comprehensive income smounted ko #10.2 million, #13.C miliios and 815.4 anillion fn 20018, 2017 and
2016, respectively.

The ACL is secured by the fo lowing: {a] deed of chattel mortgage over the subject airgraft with a
carsying amount of R449.3 milliar as at December 31, 2038 arg i%) continuing surety of AST| and
aB AL,



The scveduled maturities of AATs cutstanding leans as at December 31, 2018 are as lollows
*rrnnuzands)

2019 R55,556
2020 59 457
2021 and anwargds _ ) 15,503
o 130,566

Less deferred financing cost f425)
#130 141

Pursuant to the terms of the loan agreements, the Group is restricted from gerforming certain
carpgrate acts without written consent from the creditor bank and is required to comply with
certain financial covenants,

The agreements also contait cross default provisicns triggered by failure of the Group to comply
Witk any term, obigation ar coverani contairgd in any Inan agraemeant,

ABMLHI
On November 16, 2018, ABKLH. entered inta 2 memerandem of agreement with BDO Unibark, Inc.
lor o CT8 receivable purchasze facility of B500.0 millinn to refinance the existing CTS receivablas.

The notes payible represents lability from e assigred recaivables with recourse of ABMUAHI which
bears an effective rate of 7% and has a tarm of 5 years payable n equal monthly amortization
inclusive of principal 2nd interest, Intarest axpense recognized in the consohdated statements of
caemprehensive incoe amousted to #1 .1 mildon in 2028,

Summasrized below are the detai's of the notes payakle:

Availments R382,737
Fayiments L {2,705)
#380,032

As at December 31, 20318 trade receivahles and coqtract assets assigred smounted to
B528.5 raillion and #39.2 million, respectively lsee Kote &),

Interest expense and other fingnce charges recognized in the conselidated statements of
compratiensive income are as follows:

‘In Thousands)

e 2018 2017 2016
Long-term debt RF320,038 $£333 248 ®#291 4188
f'mance charges 1307 20,718 -
{thers - 3,261 3,261

R321,345  R365,7:7  R2J4,749
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15. Equity

Capital Stock

The composition of ALPHA's capital stock consisting of all cormon shares 2«2 as follows:

2018 L m
ML mber o Murmber of
Shares Aroont” Siares g™

authosped - ®C1 Parvaide ang BL 2ar o

Vaiue i 2(.'{_18 and 2017, raspertivaly EU,{J'L'I_I;I_,_E!_]_D_,JEJQEJM 5,000,000 5,000,500, D00 BS, 000 000
ssued
Reginning of year 2,654 707,417 ®2,655,707 2.B%4 M)F AT #2,655,707
Addizons 186,466,424 LEG 467 - -
[{*ect of stocd spit 25,570,564,569 - =
End of year 28,411,738,410 2,842,174 QBSR4 FOT LIV £,09%, 07
Parent Campany’s shares held by a

subzidiary

Baginring of year [1.383,427,478) {16,881,220)  (1,375,210,975! 15,817,572
I'ffect afF skock salt (E2.450,887,311) - - -
B Lons - - (4,214, 6010 {F:3,2448]
Encofyear {13,833,274,790) {16,881,220) _ {1,383,427475; f16.88:,220)
Treasiry
Boginrisg of yeur {473,500) (1,214} [1,533.90%, {:i.714)
Frieet of stack spht (3,815.100) - - -
REILEL e o= - 1,100,000 21000
Farl A gons 13,239,000} 11214 1123.500! 12044
e 14573,224,620 }270,855,038

i TROLS AN DS,

The total number of sharenolders, which includes PCO Neminee Corporation, is B8 and 57 as at
Decemnber 3%, 2018 and 2017, respectively,

Parent Company’s Shares Held by a Subsidiary

On June 5, 2014, Alphaland Ho'dings (Singezors) e Limited [AH] and Masrickstar Corporation
AT on ane Rand, and another groun affilatos with RYO including ALPHA and 45T (collectively, the
“BVG Group”) enterec inta a MOA to settie a shareholder dispute. Pursuant 1o the MOA, ALPHA,
rhrough its 100%-owned subsidiary, AST! acquired the shares of stock of ALPHA owned by AH, MC
and Lredit Suisse [Singapore) Lemited (Credit Seisse), another shareholder, and received
R2.500.0 million in cash in exchange for assets and liahilities mainly comprising of 100% ownership
of sdphaiand Makati Tower, Ing. [AWTD; 120% owrership of Alphaiand Marina Corgoration (AMC)
inciuding AMUC's investmert it preferred shares of Alphsland Manaa Club, Inc (AMCI) 50%
ownership of ABCC, the jont venture company formed by ASTE and a proup led by .M. Wences!ag
& Assooiates, Inc. [OMWALL ithe Wenceslan CGroup or YWwGY), and 60% intesest in the
wningeraorated joint veature between the Graup and Akesn Resorts Corperation and the additional
parceks of land acquired by the Group with total area of approximately 10.81 hectares,

Ot Qeotober 17, 2014, these assets owned by the Group were transforred to Bedfordbury
Bevelepment Sorporation (BDC), 2 newly incorporatad company owned by AH and MC AH, M and
BOC will pe coliectively referred 1o as tne "AH Group”
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The Grouo's joint venture with W4 is subject 1o litigation because of WGE's actians in Causing & tdelay
in 4571 and AMC's construction and devalopment ¢f 1na Marira Club Project. With BDC's takeaver
of ARC and ANMCL, BDC assurmed the respensipility of nandling the litigation with WG,

Pursuant to the implementation of the MOA discussed above, ASTI acquired shares of stock of
ALFPHA owned by AH, MC and Credit Suisse amountiag to B16,818.0 mitlion.

tm 2007, ASTE acquired additivnat shares of stock of ALPRA owned by a minority shareholder
amourting to 863.2 mill:on,

Stock Split

Or fanuary 19, 2018, ALPHA fited & 10-for-1 stock split with the SEC. On December 10, 20185, the
SL( approved the application for the stock split, whereby its capital stock would be divided into
P50.0 billion commor shares with a par value B0.10 each share. The stock spiit has ne dilutive effect
on the propartionzie percentage gwnership of the snare halders,

The resulting sharehelder strocture of A.PHA, after the wransactions mentioned above, net of
treast -y shares and sharas held by 3 subsidiary, 1285 foliowes:

Shareholders Numoer of Shares

RV O Capital Ventures Cerporation
Boerstar Corporation

Red Epoch Group Lid,

Fine Land Limited

Acurastar Corporation

Loustar Corporation

Powerventures, Inc.

Gilasyhouse, Inc

Crystal Wenturas, tnc.

Towermili Capita! Ventures Corporation
Gemsplace Resqurces, Inc,

summer Wird Capital Ventures Corporation
Moble Care Management Coraaration
Mega Access Capital Veniures, Ire.
Globalcentric Corporation

Earthlight, inc.

Regentstar Ho'dings Corporation
Citadel Investmoents Limited

Darak Arcuili

Redcrest Acldings Corporation

riajcr Holdings Corporat:on

Osher minarity

8,426,567,460
1,677.884,30)
9£1,134,130
/50,040,000
250,626,350
222,570,370
219,5014,500
150,304,900
188,796,760
188,454,140
187,512,630
167,169,730
145 918, 476
100,825,370
100,473,660
100,247,230
100,238,190
100,000,000
160,000,000
98 566,520
an, 118,520
26,312,930

14,573.224.620

Retzined Earnings

Accemulbated eguity in nat ircome of 21 associzte and subsidiaries ot available for divigend
daclaration amounted ta R15,5314 miiion and #24,879.4 millian &s at Becember 31, 2018 and
3017, vespectively, Significant componerts of the retained 2arnings pertain o cumulative gain on
fair value changes of investmens properties. Further, the Group's exisling loans with various banks
srohibit the declaration and paymer: of dividends,
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The Group, dn its regular conduct of Lusiness, has transactions with its velated companies. The
fallowing Tables summarize the transaciions with the relawed companies and outstanding balance
arising from these transactions.

[In TROUSaMOS)

_* 2018 R 2017
Purchasas Roental Purchases Rantal
Assaciche -
A %Al B- - B34,073 k195
Aelated conlpanies uader comuran key
manggerent - a- RE2,412 #a55

1o Thausands]

2018 ALY
Matore af amount of Qutstanding Mmount af Cutstanding
. “____Trlansn:_t:n'r_u_s__ ___Transactions Zakances Tramfactions Bakancas
Tradz and otber receivables
Trate
Reloted comminies baser Al transpare
o gn kew mancgernent BRI k184,348 R3I17 380 RZ374% 1S4, 76)
el ontate
53lB5 202,087 301 762 175263 138,053
_ 519,142 o maEn
kantrade
Relwbed commponiies wader Covitai
SETUOA KO) IRONDaeInenT sxpondilures,
deblsewieng 215,400 55,276 - -
CTontract assels
Regted compomes under JLESTR Crth 3]
M TOR ke matagement saier  2BAO2S 150,265 £52,651 351,356
' W810,653 R6&d 175
Trade and ather payables
Trade
AEln ey CormtGnies whoer Argantian of
COSTNRDn ke madagerniene =1 alM R A B2,215,117 BG4, 301 F u-
Purcraser 24,659 1,143 22,412 52
Associate -
ALB Sezuriby s&0viges - ~ 18,474
RBEAR 44 RS2
O . LI .
Advances e
Aispriote -
Reimibryement
LS vl erpenuga P F1,023 P R1,523
Reopnd compenivs unt sy Roimoursement
Lamman key inanagemeat of expenses L. FE47128  P3,119,379 2368 325 w2777, 08
Advancas from
Bejoted componies under Purchase of
comnan kay monogerrent Fsaets andf

TR ra T gt
mojwe_f_peqse: F143 468 R2a5,258 17,00 FA1, 704
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Cifras transactions of the Group with its re'ated companies are as tollows!

v As discussed in Naote 11, RO is te beneficial owner of the investment g operties (e Baguio
Prepertyi acguired by Lhe Growp during 2025

»  !n 2016, the Group entered intn lease agreements with TCCAMPI and ARICI for the rental space
of &WCL In lanuary 2017, ABIC and TCCAM24 rescinded the lease agreement and started 1o
gssume *ne rental Jharpes at ne ¢ost to AWC. Rent expense amounted to Re3.2 millien in 2016

[cae hote 18]

o inApril 2003, ABIC| and the ABIRC executed a Letter Agreemenrt wherein the parties agreed that
the differance between the budget under the Suppementary DA and the aciual canstruction
costs incurrad will be treated as advancas ta ABICI. Advances to ABICL related 1o this agreement
amounting 1o #1,575.5 million as at Decermber 31, 2018 and 2017 is due and demandabte

{see Notre 10].

s On August B, 2012, ALPHA, ASTI and ABIC. executed 2 Letter Agreement wherehy ASTI as the
develsprrent arm of the Alphaland Group and on behalf of ALPEA, undertakes to perform
ALPHA’s obligations under the D& (as supslenented) entered into by ALPHA with ABIRC and
ABiC over Lthe istand Club, specifically to provide a subsidy ta the fsland Club's operations during
ARBICHs canstruction period.

Dutstanding balznces as of yvear-end 3re urserur2d, nen nterest-bearing and settlement poours in
r3sh e equity. The Group hss not mace any provision for impairment lossas ralating to the

amounts owed by related companies.

Comgensation of Key Management Persanne|

The details of compensation of ey management personnel, which inelude its senior vice presidents,
I3 .

fallow

(In Thousands)

e 2018 017 2016
Shert-term employes berefits B92 254 ﬁ'BS,SEB P36,326
Pcst-emnployrsent benefits 29,478 28,638 5,687

F121,732 ¥112,508 k45,013

Ltock Optior: Plan

fin Muvemnber 27, 2017 and December 19, 2016, the Stock Option Plan Committes awarded stock
aptions 1o key officers and employees of the Group  The Stock Optich Plan was approved by the
BOD of ALPHA on june 5, 2015, and by stockhoers representing moze than 2/3 of the outstanding
capital stock of ALPHA during the annual meeting held on Decesmber 3, 2014, The Slock Option Plan
s <till sukject for approval by the SEC as o1 December 31, 2018 and wiil not be effective until

Approves.




15 Operating Lease Commitments

Operating Lease - Group as a Lessor
AST! end AMP entered into various operating lease agreemenrts as a bessor covering mall and office

snaces at Alphaland Scuthgote Tower and Alphatand Makati Place lor 3 period of one to ten years
and two to ten vears, respectively, which mav fe renewed or extended under such new or
additianal terms or conditions apreed by the pasties. Upon ineeption of the lease agreements,
-enants are required to pay certain amaounts of de2osits. Commencement of the lease term started
upen comphetion of construction of f1e mall and tower in November 2013 and November 2017,

respectiveby.

Tenanis likewise pay either a fixeds montkly rent, which is calculated with reference to a fived sum
per square mater of area leased, or pay rent on A percentage rental basis, which comprises 3 basic
menthly amount and a percentage of gross sales or a erindmum et amount, whichever is higher,
Tap lerms of the lease agreements also provide for an increase in the reat generally at the ratz of
G% to 10% starting on the second year and annually thereafter for AST] and 5% to 7% escalation

H

rate starting on the third yvear of the lease term for AMPIL

Rent income and common utilitied, services and maintenance charges from Alphaland Southgate
Tower and Alphaland Makati Place aggregated 1o L1737 million, PE34.8 million and #686.0 million
in 20218, 2017 and 2016, respectively {see Mote 111, Direct costs related to rent income aggregated
to B229.2 mitlion, 81928 mihcn and R121.6 mition in 2018, 2017 angd 2016, respectively, which
mainby comprised of utlities ard comrmissany costs {see Mole D1

Ag At Decomber 31, 2008, the estimated minimwm fisture rental recrivabtes under the lease
apraarments are as follows {in thousands):

{(in Thousands)

018 2017
wihin one year #834,358 ¥106,464
Lfrer one year but not mora than five years - 2,114,798 368 768

o #2,949,156 RA75,132

a5 at December 33, 2078 and 2017, the Group’s rezeivable from tenants amounting to #88.1 million
sna R34.0 milion, respectively, were presented under “Trade and other receivables” account in the
consolidated statements of financial position {see Note €1.

The Group's customers’ deposils o lease contracts are as “ollows:

[in Thodsards)

2818 2017

Current R3,592 73,504
honcurrent o o 6,11 97,605
S R269,703 R171,109

Customers’ deposits on lease coatracts are generally equivalers to six months rental and refundatde
zt the end of the lease term. Current pertion pertains o cne yesr cperaiing lesse agreements while
noncLrrent portion pertains 1o twa to five years’ operating [2ass agresments.
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The Group recognizes the customers’ deposils at far value. The fair value of the deposit is
deterined based on the prevailing market rate of interest for a similar loan, The excess of the
principal amount of the deposit over its fair value is accounted for as deferred lease income and
amortized on a straight-line Basis.  The defesred iease income amounted to BO.1 millicn and
B0 4 millisn as at Decerrber 31, 2018 and 2017 sospectively, and is included under “COther
noncurre it Hakilities® account in the corsolidated statements of finangial position. interest on the
d=posit is accodanted for using the effective interesr rale pathod.

aside from cusiomers deposits paid by tenants, advance rentals generally gquJlvalent 1o two months
rental are also pafd and included in the initial illing to terants, which shall be applied 1o the
menthly renta at the end of the |gase term. Advanie renta: amounted to B21.0 million and
R17.7 million as at December 2t, 2018 and 2017, respectvely, and is included wnder
“tier noncusrent liakbilitkes® account in the consolidated siatermnents of finanazial position,

Dperating Lease - Group as a Lassee

AWC has entered Imo a comimercial lease for tha rental space of welinass centars for an indefinite
period until such agreement is terminated. AWCI has determired, based on an evaluation of the
terms and conditions ot the arrangemens, that the tessor retains zll the significant risks and rewards
of owrership of the properties and thus, accounts for the contract as an operating lease,
In lanuary 2017, the parties agreed to rescind the agreement an the commercial lease, AWCI
recognized rent expense amounting to #23 2 million:n 2016 [see Mote 17E

. Revenues

This account consists of:

fIn Thousands)

) Mote 2018 2017 2016
Rert 18 1,173,732 ¥834,780 R596,046
Eeal estate sales of:
Tewers 1 and 2 499,934 156,834 1,417,181
Leg homes 467,334 212,000 -
Srivate Vlla 331,250 7dig, R0 -
Parking slots 48,006 41,176 4,054
A Lransport services 226,042 200483 174,774
Medizal servicas 35,567 20,042 13,188
Rosm revenues 26,514 - -
Serurity services 18,715 15,459 -
imerask income t 17,033 T 19,635
Grhers 33,690 27,343 10,870

R2,877 812 RZ,483427 ®2.335748

tthers cansisl mainly of comenission income and income from restau-ant coerations.



Cost and expenses are classificd in the consolidaied statemants of comprehensive income as
follows.

{In ThaJsansds)

. Note 2018 2617 2015
Cast of real eslate sold.
Land and development ca3t 7 £5831,304 WAL, 265 ®1,073,69%
Parking lots for sale T 28,050 15,975 21,166
""" ¥359,354 F334,340 ¥1,094,857
Cast of services;
Transperiaticr P305.511 Figl 215 R157 (34
Litililies 133413 192,708 123, 633
Lepreciation end gmaortization 12 739,125 - .
Ardical services 23,345 5, r9d 1207
Cthers 5,195 - -
o P646,589  R3bl 468 R2B5,584
General ard administrative:
salaries and ermployees’ bonefits F253.314 R2149,847 REY 3B
Taxery and licenses 164 594 59,110 a0,001
ilities and rert 180,724 139,372 87,353
Sarvice ang professional fees 114,02% £2.394 a5,455
Travel ang (Fansportation 82,401 B2,0a4 27,515
fepairs and mairtenance 73,785 35,226 28,522
Salies and marketing 52,644 5,895 34,416
iNSurante 45,359 33,087 €,043
Depreciation and artortization 12 45,645 44,355 23076
Representation 37,985 18,761 10,434
Supplies 12,963 14,073 6,406
Compaunicalion 10,86k 7AEE 4,243
Danatian - 1141582 -
YWite-off of trade and other
receivahles ] - - 0,850
Mhers 187,195 44,218 27815
F1,237,330 §574,784 B5258,056

Transacrtation expense under "Cest of services” awgounrt ncludes geprecist'on amounting to
P172.3 million, B75.2 mikion ang B38.8 milicn in 3018, 2017 ard 2016, respectively (see Note 12).

in December 2017, ASTI donstec to Atened de Manita, Inc. [At=neo), a non-stock, non-profit
edurationat institution, varicus real and personal property in suppor: of the mission of Aténeo 1o be
an educatioral institution with the highest level of professional competence and service in order to
arovide the best possinle guality of formation and education to its stodents,
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i. Retirement Liablilty

The Group has #n unfunded definad benefit plan cavering all its regular employees, Benefits are
computed using an amount eguivatent to one-half montk's salary for every year of service, with
six months or mare of service considered as one year. The retirement liability is determined wsing
the grojected unit credst method,

The following tables summarize the components of ratirement experse recogrized in the
ronselidated statements of comprehensive income ard retirement liability recognized in the
eamsalidated statements of financial position based on the fatest actuarial wvaluation as at
Cecernber 31, 2017

{15 Thousands)

2018 2017 2016

Retirement bencfit cost: N
Current service cost R18,137 R10,548 ko, 284
IMersst cost 1,784 2,173 1,195
Past service COst - curtai:ment . - {5,2596) —
B R19,931 $5,425 R7 454

{In Thousands)

2018 2017
Present value of defined benefit ohligation:

galance at bagmning of year #2451 #31416
Current service Cost 18,264 10,547
Interest cost 1,754 2,173
Rerreasurement gain - (22,504)
Additicns during the year - 9,114
238t service cost - cartailment - {6,234
Salance at end of vear o T T paasnd 24,451

The accumulated remeasdrement gain on retirenent liability, net of deferred income tax,
recegnized in the equity section of the conselidatec statements of financial positicn amounted to
#45 2 million as at Decamber 31, 2018 and 2017,

Pringcipal actuarial assumptions usoz to determine retiremert kenefit ohligations are as follows:

2018 2017
Disctsunt rage 5.70% 57044
Salary increase rate 5.00% 5.00%



The sensitivity analys s below Fas been determined based on reasunably possibie changes of each
significant 2ssumption on the presant value of the defined benefit obligat'on as of the end of the
reporting period, assuming all other assumptions were hetd constant:

(In Theusands)
Increase (Decrease]

. s e, -..u—q..-.....-.zalg 2DJT
Disveunt rate: -
increase by 14.0% 10 15.5% (RIBE} R3,545
Decrease by 11.5% to 12.5% 1,173 {2,506)
Salary increase rate;
Increase by 12 9% o0 14.4% 1,604 3,270
Decrease by 20.8% t0 11.9% {1,414} i2,743]

Shown below is the maturity anatysis of the undiscounted benefil payments as at year ended;

fIn Thousands)

2018 27
2015 F345 R34S
2020 1,863 1,863
20.02 3,804 3,804
202 2,605 2,805
d023 to 2037 28,310 28,310

The avecrage duration of the defired benefit oblgation at the end af the seriod is 12.8 years to
140 years in 2O18 and 2017,

22 Intome Taxas

The pravision for current income tax rapresents MCIT far ALPHA, ABRILHI and ABIRC in 2018,
ALPHA, ASTand ABIRC in 2017 and ABIRC in 2016 and RCIT for other companies within the Group.

For inceme tax purposes, full recognition is applied when more than 25% of the selling price of
cofiomin:um units had heen collected in the year of sale, Ctherwise, the installment method is
applied.
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{Ir Thousands)
2018 2017
Deferred 1ax [labilities:
Gainon fa:r value charge of investment groperties R12Z,845 181 k10,662,606
Unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial assets 4,039,705 2,603,611
Revaluation surpius 1,316,947 32,506
accumulated depregiation far tax purposes 190,837 145,254
Capitalized borrowing costs 92,8681 55,085
Exress of ook basis aver tax baslis of accounting for
real estate transactions 50,233 55,117
Excess rent income under opemting [Base Computed
ana strzight-line basis 11,852 B, 795
Lirrealiren foreign exchange pain 191 T
o 18,547,811 | 13,563,014
Deferred tax assets:
MCT 3,734 1,843
R=tirement liabiliby 2,931 1,747
HOLCOD - 75,512
Miowanece for impairmant lnsses - 31,383
6,665 111,485
"""" R18,541,246 713,451,529

The following deferred tax assets were not recognized as it is net probabie that sufficient laxabde
profit will be available to allow the herefit of the net defarred tax asseis to be atilized in the future:

fIn Thousands!

_ 2018 2017

NOLCO T " R240,485 176,707
Uearned income 31,550 29,577
FACIT 18,930 3,751
Aliowance for impairment loss an receivabiles 3,923 217
Retiremens liability 7,036 4,666
Jarealized foreign exchange losses 3 353
8306,927 #217 225

=

The details of NQLCO, whicn can be claimed a5 deduction from future taxable income, within three

years from the year the MOLCO was incurred, is shown below (in thousands),

Beginnirg fppliedy Ending Valid

Year incurred Bzlance Incurred Frpired Balancc Lntit

2318 E 31947 &- 237.347 02:

M LA2L2E] - 12029511 4295770 2020

2010 101,240 - {101,547 - 2019

2015 41076 N - £41,07¢€1 - 2018
~ BT75.637 R371.947 [E345,967) EED1,617




THe details of MCET whicnh cah be claimed as Seduction from incnmea tax due are as follows:

Beginning Ending valid

Near Incarred Balance ingrred Applied Balance Ll

e I St orer 3031

07 5,34 - - 5,041 2320

2016 207 - 257 <310

2015 356 - 1358) - 4018
RE, 504 BIG,425 (®33E) F22,604

The reconciliation of income tax cormputed at statutory tax rate Lo provision For income tax shown in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income are as follows:

(i Thoisands)

2018 2017 2016
Income tax computed gt statutory fax rate ®2,130,080 E3,471,421 B3,063,206
Appliad and expired KOLCG 103,790 25,790 16,530
Change i1 unrecognized deferred tax assels 85,702 {118,254) 15,205
Expired MCT 356 - -
Additions to fredurtions in) incor e rax
resuiting from:
Monde ductibie experies and others 64,156 51,767 72,053
Interest incomes subjected to final tax {527] [3,807] [529)
Ingoma subjecied ko LGT - (36,546) {32,554
Other: - - (a1}

R2,437,557  F3,402371  ¥3,133,862

1 Total Comprehensive Income Par Share and Book Value Per Share Computation
Total comprehensive income per share is computed as follows:

2018 2017 2016

fa; Total comprehensive incoime attributable
to equity hoiders of the farent Company
(In thousands) R3,726,791 F8.054. /68 R7,/02,670
{07 Weighted average numter of shares
] Guist:_i_{!_t_:i_ir_]g L‘e.-ru_{_e the olfect of stork sphil 1,364,089,250 1272004230 1,274 374,554

Basic/dilutad earnings per share [a/k) R6.398 i 428 26,044

Book value parshare is computed as follows:

2018 2017
(&) Total equity {in thousands) R70,070,135 RE0,415,514
{b} Total number of chares ovLtstarding at
end of yaar befare the effact of
srack znlit 1,457,322,362 1,270,856,038
Book '-.*ali:;e:pvz_gd.rl sha _r_eli;_a”;_'bj I RAB.OKL #47 5390

The informat on presented above are intended as agdditicnal information for mansgement reporting
pUIpeses anly,
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4 Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Grodp’s pringipal finzncial instruments comarise of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
receivables {excludirg edvances to officers and amployess), advances to related companies,
restricted cash [presested under "Other current aszets” account], refundable deposits {presented
uncer “Oher rgRcurcent assets” account, advances 1o an 2ssociate, equity sscurities dasignated as
EvOC| farmerly classified as AFS financial assets), wwade and otaer payables (excluding deposits from
sale, unearneq rent income and statuiory payables), long-term debt, customers’ deposits and
advances from related companies. The main purpose of these financial ins:ruments is to provide
funds for the Group’s operaticns.

The BOD has overai. responsisility for the pstablishiment and oversizht of the Group's risk
marazement lramework, The Graup's rsk managament policies are established to identify and
manage the Group’s exposure to tingndial risks, to sct appropriale transaction limigs and controis,
and 1o moniter and assess riske and compliance to internal rontrol poficies,  Risk managemenlt
policies and structure are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market cenditions and the

Group’'s activit es,

The Group has exposure o credil risk, irterest rete tisk and liquidity risk from the use of its financisl
instruments. The Group's exposure ta foreign urrercy rigs s minimal as it does not normatly enter
it bransactions in currencies otber thaa s functiznal carrency. The BGD raviews and approves
the policies for managing each of thess risks.

Credijt Risk

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that
ail customers wheo wish to trade on credit terms are sisbject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, recevabie balances ara manitorec cn arn angoing basis with tha result that the Group
axpastre to bad debts is not significant, For trarsactions rhat are not denorimatad in the functional
currency of the Parant Company, the Group docs rot offer credi* terms witnout the specific
approval of the Chief finance Gfficer

with respect to credit risk arising fram the other financial assets, the Grous's £xposure to credit risk
arises fram default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equak to the carrying amount of
these instruments,

Since the Group trades with receprized third parties aro related partics, therg is no regquirement for
collaterzl. Thera are ne other concentraiions of credit risk within the Grosn.

Cregit Quotity of Fingnciad Assers. Tne credit qual ty of financial assets i3 managed by the Group
Lsing internat credit ratings such as high grade and standzre grade.

Hgh Grade - pertains to depasits or placements 10 counterparties with good credit rating or bank
stancing. For receivables, this covers accounts of puod paying customers, with good credit standing
and arz net expected by the Group te default in settiing its gbiigations, thus credit risk 2xposure is
minima:.  This normally nciudes arge prime finarcial instivutions, cormpanies and goverrment
ageniies.

standard Gracie - other financial assets not belonging to high quaiity financial assets are ingluded in
this credit rating.



The tahle bulow shows the credit quality of the Group's financia: a55ets as at year end:

{In Thousands]

Decenber 31, 7013

HNeither Paut Due nor fepaired Pask Oue but Pazt Gue
_Jorm migh Grade  Standard Grade ’ Total nit lmpaired and Impalred
Finantial Atsets at o
Amortized Cost
Cash and fash
eguwalans® R1O7,E1G r1a7 81c B RLO7,E1E — A=~
Irade and cther
rerRivallest” 1,511,208 1,435,305 368,517 1,774,223 726G 29,715
ACv 20485 10 AN 35500858
grd rirlated
COEAnies 3020402 3,120,402 - 31:04602 - -
Reyresled catin 362,004 342,944 - 62,994 - -
Befurcable deoamts ) 56,229 I 2d? - A JE2XE - -
] 5,451,549 5,052,697 $6K,917 5,421,614 7260 13,315
Flrangiat Assets ak
FyOCE
Unguoted Cluby'
prefer-ad shites 11,836,685 31,036,085 - 31,036,085 - -
#36,433 649 P3E,058, 782 T oeeR917 P10 457,699 7,260 19,725

e Lo g cesh on Baad omouniing fo B2 6]

S ENCAR S BT [ IR SO PO () T TG e en TR s i DO e O3 i g 1 B BEL gno R12 AR reageet vale,

1l In@asinds,;

= ecember 23, 2017
- Mritker Pl Dwi nor tmpared Past Due by Past Bue
_ Tavet saph Grade  Standard Geade Toal not iTipaited  and Wpaired
Lazns and RE{mEI:;I;;I -
Tavh end cash
ekt P14, 6% #14,200 - 2213705 R- F-
Trade g oibee
rare Lab s A Ldh LAt Lol 2z ES9,300 LEaT 030 26,266 111,544
E R TS LR L L
s celaten
CAMESRIDE 1778071 drrEOr - Lridl - -
Rgstricled cacn 1,183 i 183 - 1155 - -
Refirndable dupasls an, 258 45 3CE - <8, 258 = -
5,187,419 2,330,000 659,102 4,5, 507 36,268 111,844
&FS Francisl Ansets
Lrquoted Cbs’
__preferred snires 10,054 568 30,054,258 - noeazea - -
pA% iRl UL S 14,554 273 KRS, 408 . R315 0R3GYT WEG, 266 #111,5846

.:,;;u;:.- vask o hangd@mountag fo mL GRS

el g odvos fed Jafiie o aon e

s s e 1 3 et ont e f Frose osea s el pmasntig fo FE S ond POl OFF, respertived
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The foitowing are the aging analysas of linancral assets 25 at year end;

I Thigagenanids )

T Cpcember 3 B
T Pastfug 34t Not Impalied fast Due
Meither Past Duag 1-32 31-60 £1-90  Mope than And
Tuksl rer Impaired Cavs Days Gays 20 Pavs Impairad
Financial Asgate &t Arnprtlzed
(411
Casr ard sk equivslacts” k107,616 k10 Bla - P P B B--
Trada g ol regetvabipy ™" 1,811,208 1,774, 05% 7,160 - - - 15,725
RFvEn i s Lo dn aksadiste and
Leess Famnaa e, 3,230,407 31,12¢,122 - -— - - -
B I 352 401 ikiu4a4 - - - - -
kretadah e depasits G, 7224 30,789 . - - A -
5 A5E, 394 R Y T Z 23735
Flmangial Avsete ay PO
Unguaotes Jubs’ prafarred
ShATas 3 [h3E RS 1,465 311 - - - MAThITA -
RILAIAGEY  PeAAGDIS  RRA0 _§- #29.570,774 275 72¢

fEwehydong 025 o Poed omouniing (o 97 761,
Far e g advE o s da ooy an 3 orip et o 2w ot s acieet ei i o) nde v mivandes St o heeg 13 @4 RS s BTF S, fnyectieed,

PaThausands:
Joceber o1, 2

- Fegt Jog dof Mps Imnarag - tast tue
melne #onl Due - 1167 g1 5] Mpes thls And
__________ Tl nor 5y div el Doy Lays Dizys S0 Gays Impared
Loons and Receivabiles
A EE fash equivaignts® kilaigh L L B-- P Bes F: R-
Tk oo attor receivablest 3145 543 PR ER ) 11582 8344 &07E g2,k 311,286
Sy BE g anioiale end
ceoated omeas ok STFROM ARt - - - " -
s 1 ganh 3 IE3 L] - - - - -
L : JE 258 43,255 - - - - -
o £ 18700 o, 382 30017 HE 1078 £3,2E3 11-.RE
EFS Financia! Asseals
craudied © by peeferrea
hAES 30 E)3EE 39,054,765 - - - -
R T R35.258 GEY F25 053 575 F1 362 2,311 (D W1,787  F111%0%

Flge e L G et Qergheing 13 }'],3"3.“-
g CaAWTRCES W0 AffiERrS GAS cetpbpees 50 s g AoNCret Barhoa 0 G 9F rpcp wbeiey g 1 1o BE, PR oog B4 URE, rerpoctively

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate ris4 arises from tha possibility that changes ninterest rates will affect future cash flows
or the fair values of “nancial instruments. “he Group’s exposure 1o inleres! rate risk relates
primaaily Lo ity financial instrumeaents with floating roerest and/or Sized interesi rates, Fixed rate
financial Instruments are subject to fair valee interest rate risk while floating rate financial
instruments are subject to cash flow intercst rate risk.  Re-pricing of floating rate financial
instruments i$ done every three to six months. Interes: on fixed rate financial instruments is fxed
wntil maturity 6f the instrument. The details of financial instruments that are exposed to interest

r

rate risk are disclosed in Mote 25

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes m marsat interest rates relates primarily to the Group's
long-t2rm debt subject to floating interost rates as discussed in Mote 15,

The other finanzial insteuments of the Group are rovinterest-bearing and, therefare, eot subject to
interest rate risk,
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The falowing table demonstrates the seasitivity of the Group's profit before tex ¢ue to a reasonably
possitle charnge it interest rates in the next reporting period with ail ather vanables held corstant,
The-e is na other impact on the Group’s eguity other than those already affecting profit and loss,

Effect on ncome

. Increase/Decrease in Interest Rate before Tax Effect on Equity
Decamber 31, 2018 +1.0% {P11,735) (R8, 215}
=1.0% 11,735 8,215
December 31, 2017 +1,0% I12.565) i3, 796)
—1.0% 12,565 8,798
Decermber 31, 2015 +2.0% '20,349H) {18,479}
-1.0% 26,398 18,419

Liguidity Risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be abie to settle or meet its chligations on time.
fianagement is responsible for liguidity, funding, as weil as settlemant management. In addition,
‘iguidity and funding risks, related processes and pelicies are cyverseen by management. The Group
manages its liguidity risk based on business needs, tax, captal or regulatory considerations, if
applicable, through rumerous sources of finznee in ardar to maintatn flexibility.

The Group also mmaintains a balance between continuity of funding ang flexibility. The policy of the
Groug is to first exhaust lines availate frormi alfifiated companies before local bank lines are availed.
Tha Group seeks 1o manage its Lguid funds thiough cash planning on # weokly basis. The Group
aees nistosical figures and experiences and forecasts from its collections and disbursements. As part
cf frs ligiidity risk management, the Groap regularly evaluates s progected and actual cash flows. 1t
also comtinuausly assesses conditions in the financial markets for opporundsties to pursue fund
raising activities. Also, the Group onby piaces funds in the monay market which are exceeding the
Groug requirements, Flacements are strictly made based on cash planning assumptions and covers
aniy a short period of time.

The tabies Below summarize the maturity profife of <he Group’s financial liazbilities based on
endiscounted cash flows:

1 A Theusands:
December 31, 2023

Wiara tran 90

s Bemand 1-30 Days 31-ED0 Days B30 Daye Bays Tatal
Finantla Listikities
Trade ani athgr
payables® R8T, 7d& P2,793,752 RiZ,330 P- P #3,303,828
Leitg-aims dubl - 448 8,198 278,977 5,082,048 E274,021
fustomens' deppsiv 3,502 - - - 166,111 263,703
Advanices iomorelz el
CEMmainig 245,252 - - - - - 245,252
P?_’.E!cS‘JIJ B2 EOT 200 Ki0BIE F!’?4,93T_ . F5, 105 209 10,057 804

Slerwsteg Ceasnds Froee S LAGAeeED cgn IR Sng SIRILAIrY J0VSE.S5 SINAus RS 06 WA 25
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in Thausanss:

Cuececber 35, 2008

Pore 113 = S5

o Damanl =30 Dol 2 1=h] Days al -0 Days Clays Toknl

finangial Sabitties
“rado and olher

revablfas” R2 2T ENE FL4281 - [ F33,084 BZ,339,021
Lovg-tarm gl - - - 357,819 6,128 262 £ EE3111
Zealacrers” drposits - - 2B LG 167,386 171,10%
aiszaces Fram related

remeanizy L Ees T * - e BL 206

e k2353420 Fa 23] 2477 FINEs5S PG.545,973 #8,275,500
el -:_ SEITRIPE T AR NS DTN LR G W T IR Sy SIS O I‘:.'_'-.’-I Fa-ﬁrr' éﬁﬁ'_- o

Capital Management

Tha primary objective of the Group's capital management is W ensure that the Group has sufficient
funds in order 1o support its business, pay exisling cbligations and maximize shareholder value. The
GroLp manages its capilal structure and makes adjustmeants ta it, in light of changes in econnmic
cerditions. T manage or adjust the cap-tal struclare, the Group may obtan additional acvances
from stockholders, adjust the eetuen sapital to stoc<hoiders or -ssue ew shdres. Mo changes were
made inthe abjectives, policies or processes in 2018 angd 2017, The Group mositars capital using
the monthly cashk position regort and Siancial statementy. The Parent Company 13 not subject to
externzlly imposed capital requizements. Certain sabsidiarizs, howewver, are required to maintain a
deht to enuity ratio as provided in the loan agreements,

The components of the Group’s capital are as follows:

v Thousands)

. 20i8 017
Layarl:
Capitat stack ®2,892,174 #2 655,707
Additional paid-in capital 12,769,730 10,740,079
’ 15,611,504 13,395,786
Layer il
Fetained earnings - operatirg :ncome 8,255,826 10,757,447
Parent Company's shares heid by & subsidiary (16,881,220} {16,881,220]
Treasury shares {1,214) (1,214)
{&,626,608) {6,124,937)
Layer Bl
Unrealized valuation gain an AFS financial assets 22,801,678 23,432.897
Revaluation surplus 3,303,638 15,850
Accurnuiated remeasurement gain on retirernent
ckligation 45,330 45,350
retained earnings - gain an fair vaiue chanpe of
iTvestiment properties 36,277,781 28 824 264
Fetained earnings - gain on bargain aurciase 761,887 761,887
63,080,334 53,139,848
Total capital ®70,065,630 B60,410,647




LR

«  Layarliscomposac of the Group's contributed capitat;

» layer Il is composed af income from operations, escess of acquisit.on price over acqu ree
interest and treasury shares; and

= layer N is composed of income from fair value changes of investment properties, gain on
trargain purchase and unrealized valuation gain on AFS financial assets.

35, Fair Value Measurements
The fcilowing table provides the fair value hizrarchy of assets and labilities measared at fair value:

{In Theusands)
Decenber 51, 2018 L
Fair valve measurement Lying

"funted prices sigmificant Slgnificant
in phaurrvable unshservabilo
arliva markets inputs inputs
uale  Carrying Vs lue Fair vafue fLevel i) Level 2} fLavel 3]
Measuted at Fair Value
SiTArTLY AT
EC.ity sacuities S sEnatod
5 FYOCHformerly
ciassifid a5 AFS finandi af Rr31,036,035 R31,036,085
T azats] G Pem ¥31,036,035 B
Mon-firancial Asset -
VESTMENY ProgeeTies il 42,675,812 47675 8.2 - 47,615,812
Yo e reardens ey 12 £, 149 852 % L 352 - - B 143 R5
Airerattg 12 1,636,434 1,635,359 - - 1,636,455
Fair walues are Dischasrd
Finaneal &wset -
Loadts ant recoivablies »
Mondurrert trade
rave ey 13 17,424 12414 - - 12424
Foanie Lianility -
Costomeny' Ceposits 1z 269,703 IHG T3 - - 165,703
e Thaousaeds)
Deeomibe 31, 2027
Fair value megsure Ten uiing
Sigaifirart Signifizant
Caated grides n oatereable ur.chservakle
dckive markets irguts nputs
MNaote Carrying Waiae Fair Value . iLeveel 1] tlevel 20 el 3]
Measured at Fair Vaive T -
birgne al Aspety -
ety fecuhies des gnater
Fa TWCT (Tormeely
soselied 55 AFS fmarcial
RRE E LG BI0D64. 265 FE0,054,458 E— B0 064,168 F-
reon-finarcial Aseet -
st progerTics ]z A0 B G S 4,654,373 - - LY 04 ]
Aireates 1 1,434,714 1,534,740 - - 1534710

Fair Values arg Disclased
Fisanal Assel -
w234s ard receivable;
NArTLITEST irade
Fecaivabley i3 +5,0034 49 028 - - 49,084
Fitancia. tiability -
Customars' dopasits Y 175,169 177,954 - - 177,454
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:5, Commitments and Cantingencies

Commitments
The Group entered into wariobs construction contracts for the development of its projects
isee Mote 3). Total advances to contractars amounted 1o BSG2.2 million and R745.5 miilion as a1

Decemier 31, 2018 and 2017, resoectively lsee Notes 8 and 23}
Tne significant construction contracts that gave rise to the advarces are as follows:

iin Thousands}
Subsidiary 2018 2017 Naturq"
Ciwil, structural masonry works
and sunply and instaliation of materials
AR R280,925 8192422 for Alphaland Makat) Place
Supgly ol labor, naterials, equipment
and & | ~elated construction works for
Alpha'and Baguio Mountain Lodges

ABNILEY 151,716 204,812 Project

Retention Payable

Retantion payable is based upan specifically ientified construction cankracts that stipulate the right
of the Group to retain o porton of the progress billings of contractors, Depenaing an the terms of
the contracl, sl reterior payable shail be released Lo contractors upcn 100% completion and
accoptance of works normally withio one year sfter campletion. Total retention payable amaunted
to B40%.0 millior and RACT 5 milion 25 at Jecember 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively [see Note 14},

significant cortract with retention clause arises from the civil, structural and masonry works for
Tawers 1o 3 and the construction of the Podium, Tota! retentiun payobile recognized by AMP| a5 at
Cecember 31 2018 and 2017 relaled to such contract amounted o P325.0 million, and
2351 4 million, respectively.

Contingencias

As 2 result of the disputs setween the Group and with the WG [see Mote 18], the cases have been
fi'ed against each other. However, the agreement signed by the major sharzhelders of ALPHA, as
discussed in Note 1, incledes the trarsfer of the Group’s interest in ABCC, AMC and AMC includirg
the assumption ty BDC of the respangibility of handling all litigation and/or satting s} disputes with
the WG

Deficiensy VAT Assesseenit for AST and AMEPL The Bureau of inlernal Revenue (BIR) issued a Final
Decision on Disputed Assessment [FDDAL 1o ASTI ang AMPI on Jiene 20, 2016 covering the taxab ¢
year 2014 amounting to #8309 millior  A511 and AMPl {led their respective motions for
recansideration, which wers subsequently denied by the BIR. ASTI and AMP! elevatad the cases to
the Court of Tax Appeals (CTa), Tha decision is still pending with the CTA.

(ther tegal Cases. Thare are Certain fawsuits and ciaims fiied by third partics against the Group
wehicd are either perding decision by the proger jucicial bodies or under nagotiatian, the cutcome
of which are presercly undeterminable. In the gpinga of the Group's management, the ultimate
digposition of these cases, dispLries and awsessaments wil- not have a material adverse efect on the
firancial position or results of operationg of the Group.
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The Group's noncasn activities are presented below:

(I “housands)

Mote 018 2017 2016
Teansfars from lanc and develapment [os0s 1o 7
Frogesty and equipment £2,115.503 - R—
Invesinent properties - 2125353 -
Transfers from investment properties 1o 11
Land and developrment costs 633,310 327.315 392,383
Froperty and equipment 2,244 149,471 -
Foafatted salas:
Land and develaprment costy 7 171,543 - -
Parking lots for sale 7 13,847 - -
AFS Binanciar assets G 2.7¢n - -
Tancellad sale -
Land and cevelopment costs 7 57,222 - -
The reconeliation of the Sroup’s liabilizies arising from financing activities is presented helow:
i Thauwsands)
Non-gash
2017 Cash Flows Flows 2018
nng-rerm dabt EE 506,620 {RA11,116) ®13.427 R§, 198,931
Aorrued interest 15,376 (296,078 468,993 188,291
Advances from related parties 41,764 163,438 - 245,252
Dther noncurrent lizbilities 20118 9,792 - 29,910
_________ ®G,713,878 {R533,014) R452.420 R, 662,384
- {In Thousands]
Mon-cash
e 2018 Cash Flows Flows 2017
Larg-term dent ®G 522,357 ?1,211,515 {R137,252) B6,596,620
Aecrued intarast 43,082 (605, 245] 574,229 15,276
Advances from related parties 3,893 73,070 - Bl,764
Qiher noncurren Habil lies B9,809 [69,6".3_1!._"_ o - 20,}_1%
R5,6G7.951 #508,950 B436,977 RO, 713,878




